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The annual report and accounts for the year ending 31 March 2020 have been prepared 
as directed by NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSEI) in accordance with section 232 
(Schedule 15, Paragraph 3) of the National Health Service Act 2006. The directions issued by 
NHS England require clinical commissioning groups to comply with the requirements laid out 
in the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). The 
Manual for Accounts complies with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting 
Manual, which the Department of Health Group Accounts are required to comply with.

Due to the current coronavirus pandemic, the requirements for the contents of annual 
reports been revised nationally; this means there may be some omissions against previous 
and future such publications. However, as we began to draft our report before the pandemic 
began, we have followed the structure outlined in previous DHSC templates, including the 
three core sections:

• Performance report - including an overview, performance analysis and performance 
measures

• Accountability report - including the members report, corporate governance report, 
annual governance statement, remuneration and staff report

• Annual Accounts.

A note about abbreviations
Throughout this report, we use a number of abbreviations. 
These are always explained in full the first time they appear, 
but the most common ones are:

• CCG - Clinical commissioning group

• LTHT - Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

• LCH - Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust

• LCC - Leeds City Council

• LCP - Local care partnership

• LYPFT - Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

• NHSEI - NHS England and NHS Improvement (now a single organisation)

• WYH HCP - West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership 
(also referred to as West Yorkshire and Harrogate Integrated Care System / ICS)

• YAS - Yorkshire Ambulance Service

About our annual report



3

Our annual report has been pulled together 
at an extraordinary time for people, not just 
in Leeds or this country but across the world 
as we deal with the coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic. At the time of writing in early April, 
sadly we’ve already seen over 10,000 people lose 
their lives due to COVID-19 in this country, and 
that figure will rise.

Our annual report is a document that shows how 
we have performed and how we have used your 
money as taxpayers to deliver the best possible 
care for local people. This year this feels less 
pertinent than in other years - yet we do want to 
recognise that you still have every right to hold 
us to account. Therefore we have completed 
this as fully as possible but some data may not 
be as accurate as we’d like as colleagues have 
been redeployed to help support the Leeds effort 
against COVID-19.

As a result our foreword this year is not about 
celebrating what the CCG and its partners have 
achieved this year. It’s a moment to pause and 
reflect as we are aware that people reading this 
in a few months’ time may well have had to say 
goodbye to people close to them.

We’re mindful of this and want to say that every 
reported death is one life too many that’s been 
cut short. Furthermore we know that we have 
lost many of our own health and care colleagues 
to COVID-19 on our shores and beyond. We’ll 
forever remember their ultimate sacrifice and 
willingness to put themselves on the frontline.

We know that there have been anxieties and 
concerns raised about personal protective 
equipment (PPE) and staff testing; no doubt there 
will be a time to review our national actions and 
lessons to be learned. These are lessons that will 
be learned globally, nationally, regionally and 
locally.

Right now though, we ask that people recognise 
the efforts that people have made to stand tall 
and show that we are in this together. Naturally 
we’ll talk about our NHS heroes but we’re also 
mindful of all those other key workers who have 
put so much on the line to help every single one 
of us. Again, we’ve seen a number make the 
ultimate sacrifice.

The city has come together, as would be 
expected, to support our patients in different 
care settings and rapidly develop new ways of 
working to ensure we can provide safe care 
while following social distancing guidance where 
needed. But this extends beyond patients and on 
to how we’ve supported people in the city, such 
as through our 8,000 volunteers who signed up 
to the community care volunteer programme. 
We’ve continued to deliver other essential public 
services that all have an impact on health and 
wellbeing, so our bins are collected, housing 
support is provided and people needing welfare 
support can get it.

The one thing we’re really proud of is that Leeds 
has demonstrated that it’s a compassionate city 
and why we really are stronger together. That’s 
why we’ll get through this with our usual grit, 
determination and sense of solidarity.

Thank you.

Gordon and Tim

Gordon Sinclair, Clinical Chair, NHS Leeds CCG

Tim Ryley, Chief Executive, NHS Leeds CCG

Chair and chief executive’s foreword
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1.1 Purpose of overview section

1.1.1 Purpose of overview section

Welcome to the 2019-20 annual report for NHS 
Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The 
overview section of this report highlights our 
approach and achievements during the year 
ended 31 March 2020. It gives a snapshot of who 
we are, what we do, the challenges we have 
faced and what we have done as a result.

1.1.2 Statement from the chief executive

It goes without saying that the past few months 
have been the most challenging we have ever 
faced in health and care - and in every other 
sector. The coronavirus pandemic has inevitably 
impacted our performance and will do for a 
considerable time in the future.

Even before the pandemic, the health system in 
Leeds was facing the same pressures experienced 
by the NHS every year. Although winter was 
less challenging than in previous years, the 
pressure remains constant throughout the year. 
The number of people attending A&E at Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) has again 
increased this year, with significant operational 
challenges in December. Although fewer patients 
waited more than four hours to be seen, 
treated or discharged compared to last year, 
the nationally expected performance standard 
continues to go unmet. However, despite this, 
LTHT’s performance remained above the national 
average.

As people become older and require higher levels 
of support to leave hospital, capacity shortages 
in community-based support have contributed 
to bed occupancy rates and length of stay in 
hospital increasing. System-wide initiatives to 
reduce delayed transfers of care are taking effect, 
but we recognise there is still more to do to 
improve upon patient experience and outcomes 
delivered.

We know how important access to timely 
and effective cancer services is for patient 
experience and outcomes. Unfortunately, the 
recent pressures on the local health and social 
care system, combined with more people 
presenting with cancer symptoms have affected 
our performance for cancer referral times. The 
impact of COVID-19 and the key message to stay 
at home has provoked a decline in the number of 
two-week wait urgent referrals from primary care 
to hospital, but where cancer is diagnosed and 
a decision to treat has been made, performance 
has been positive most of the year.

We’re also performing above the national average 
in dementia diagnosis, which is helping improve 
people’s ability to access treatment, care and 
support. And while the number of people waiting 
less than six weeks to receive psychological 
therapies had significantly reduced since 2018-19, 
we recognise there’s still more to do to reach the 
expected standard. To improve service capacity 
to resolve this, we have commissioned the Leeds 
Mental Wellbeing Service, which you can read 
more about in section 1.2.8.

The CCG is marked annually against a nationally 
agreed set of standards that are referred to as the 
Improvement and Assessment Framework. In July 
2019, we were assessed as outstanding by NHS 
England and NHS Improvement (NHSEI), after 
just a year of operating as a single organisation. 
A number of areas were highlighted as examples 
of how we have played a significant part in 
improvements seen in the local healthcare 
system. In addition, we were recognised for 
our commitment to working on an integrated 
care system, commonly referred to as the 
West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 
Partnership.

1. Performance report - overview
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Other areas of positive feedback included:

• Good progress made on system flow, so that 
patients are seen in the right place, by the 
right professional at the right time and, where 
appropriate, discharged to an appropriate 
service for ongoing care

• The open, trusting and collaborative culture 
among all health and care partners

• A number of improvements to local services 
including ensuring all registered patients can 
now access GP appointments on evenings and 
weekends

• An integrated diabetes programme, which 
has successfully received national funding, is 
supporting a number of initiatives including 
proactive foot care for patients to reduce the 
risk of amputations

• Continuing to secure financial balance and 
meeting cost saving targets

This was good news not just for our staff and 
our member GP practices, but also for patients 
and the wider public in Leeds and our partners 
in the city. The outstanding rating reflects the 
hard work of all those working in health and care 
in the city as we look to make the best possible 
use of our resources to get value for money for 
taxpayers.

Although we have missed some targets this year, 
our overall performance has once again been 
strong, and for this, I’d like to thank all our staff, 
member practices and partner organisations, 
including the local authority, providers and third 
sector. The coronavirus pandemic means that the 
NHS, like every other health system around the 
world, is in unchartered waters, but I know that 
in Leeds, we will work together to face the future 
head on.

Tim Ryley

Chief Executive 
NHS Leeds CCG
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1.1.3 The nature and purpose of our 
organisation

NHS Leeds CCG (CCG) has successfully completed 
its second year of operation as a statutory body, 
following the merger of the three previous CCGs 
in the city. Our commissioning activities are in line 
with the statutory responsibilities outlined in our 
constitution.

The CCG is made up of 96 member GP practices 
(as at 31 March 2020) covering the whole of the 
city of Leeds, with a registered population of 
around 866,000 people.

Our vision is for Leeds to be “a healthy and 
caring city for all ages, where people who are the 
poorest improve their health the fastest.”

The CCG operates from single premises which 
it leases through NHS Property Services, and is 
co-located with a number of local businesses 
within WIRA Business Park at WIRA House,  
West Park Ring Road, Leeds, LS16 6EB.

We commission a range of services for adults and 
children including community health services, 
planned care, acute services, NHS continuing 
care, mental health and learning disability 
services.

We co-commission GP primary care services with 
NHSEI. We do not commission other primary 
care services such as dental care, pharmacy 
or optometry (opticians) which is done by 
NHSEI through their local area team, more 
commonly referred to as NHSEI North East and 
Yorkshire. NHSEI also has the responsibility for 
commissioning specialised services such as kidney 
care.

The following healthcare providers / areas of 
spending cover 84% of the CCG’s commissioning 
budget:

Provider YTD Actual 
£m

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 445

Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust 28

Harrogate & District Foundation Trust 29

Bradford Teaching Foundation Trust 5

Nuffield 10

Spire 11

Yorkshire Clinic 3

Yorkshire Ambulance Services NHS Trust 33

PTS/111 and WYUC 16

Leeds & York Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust

107

Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust 104

Prescribing recharges from the 
Prescription Pricing Authority

120

Primary care co-commissioning 118

Better Care Fund (Leeds City Council) 32

Funded nursing care 8

Mental health learning disabilities 29

Main areas of commissioned spend 1,097

Other smaller contracts 204

Total net commissioning spend 
(programme budget)

1,302

A full list of contracts with providers is available 
on request. There have been no significant 
changes to services contracted by the CCG during 
2019-20.

1.1.4 Our business model

The CCG is responsible for the strategic planning, 
procurement (contracting), monitoring and 
evaluation of the performance of a prescribed set 
of services that are delivered by a range of NHS, 
independent and third sector health and care 
providers in order to meet the needs of our local 
population.

These providers offer a range of hospital 
treatments, rehabilitation services, urgent and 
emergency care, community health services, 
mental health and learning disability services.

Each year the CCG undertakes a planning process 
that provides the key mechanism for ensuring 
we continue to meet our population’s needs 
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within the resources available to us. This planning 
process is now undertaken within a wider West 
Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care System 
approach to planning. The following outlines our 
approach to the planning process:

A. Development of local planning priorities 
framework - our Governing Body review:

• Priorities identified through working with 
wider Leeds and West Yorkshire health and 
care system

• Our performance against a set of nationally 
set NHS standards as set out in the 
NHS Planning Guidance (including NHS 
Constitution standards)

• The health needs of our population 
identified through the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) and as set out within the 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy

• Priorities for health and services as identified 
by our clinicians, patients and the public.

B. Review of the impact of existing transformation 
and service change programmes: the CCG 
and partners have a number of ongoing 
programmes of work. Each year we review 
whether these and other initiatives are helping 
to deliver our priorities and to ensure that they 
will continue to do so. If we feel this is not 
the case, we outline any actions or changes 
required. These transformation plans include 
those developed within the West Yorkshire and 
Harrogate Health and Care Partnership and the 
Leeds Plan.

C. Investment planning: developing investment 
proposals that support the CCG’s and citywide 
priorities.

D. Agree investment profile: prioritising 
investments to ensure we target resources on 
areas that will have the greatest impact on 
delivering our priorities.

E. Sign off: the Governing Body formally signs 
off our plans on the basis that they will deliver 
both our service and financial objectives.

This process allows us to agree our service 
development and investment programme for the 
coming year.

In January 2019 the NHS published its Long Term 
Plan. The publication of the plan signalled the 
increases in investment that the NHS and the CCG 
can expect to receive over the next five years. The 
Long Term Plan has provided an opportunity for 
the CCG to review its commissioning plans with a 
greater focus on the longer term.

We had developed and submitted draft plans for 
2020-21 that fit within the context of our longer 
term plans for delivering the CCG’s strategy. 
However, it is now recognised nationally that 
due to the impact of coronavirus on all NHS 
services, these plans will need to be refreshed. 
As such NHSEI have paused the planning process 
for 2020-21 until further notice. We will revisit 
our plans as soon as the position in respect to 
coronavirus becomes stable and allows for robust 
planning to take place.

1.1.5 Our strategy

We continue to pursue ambitious plans so that 
we can help improve the health of our local 
communities; our priorities reflect those of the 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-
2021, the Leeds Plan and the West Yorkshire 
and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership. Our 
collective ambition is that “Leeds will be a healthy 
and caring city for all ages, where people who 
are the poorest improve their health the fastest.”

To deliver this ambition we will focus resources 
to:

• Deliver better outcomes for people’s health 
and well-being

• Reduce health inequalities across our city

We will also work with our partners and the 
people of Leeds to:

• Focus more on preventing ill health and other 
situations that impact on health

• Increase people’s confidence to manage their 
own health and well-being

• Deliver more joined up care for the population 
of Leeds

• Create the conditions for health and care needs 
to be addressed around local neighbourhoods
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We want specifically to:

• Reduce avoidable years of life lost (when a 
person dies prematurely from a condition that 
could be avoided)

•  Increase the number of people supported to 
manage their own health

• Avoid people with a serious mental illness 
dying early

• Reduce unnecessary time patients spend in 
hospital

• Reduce numbers of preventable hospital 
admissions

• Reduce repeat emergency visits to hospital

Throughout our annual report you’ll see examples 
of how we are doing this.

1.1.6 Financial performance during 2019-20

The financial duties of a CCG are set out by 
NHSEI and can be found in the annual accounts 
(note 20). The CCG has delivered against all of 
these duties.

For the 2019-20 financial year, the CCG continues 
to contain annual expenditure within its in-year 
resource allocation.

COVID-19

The CCG’s increased marginal costs in relation 
to responding to the direct impact of COVID-19 
pandemic was minor (£34k) in 2019-20 as the 
main impact of this expenditure will fall into 
the 2020-21 financial year. These 2019-20 costs 
have been reimbursed via NHSEI and therefore 
have not impacted on the CCG financial position 
directly.

COVID-19 related costs for the majority of 
our healthcare providers are being reclaimed 
directly by them and this has therefore again not 
impacted on CCG finances in 2019-20.

Moving into 2020-21 the CCG and our providers 
will continue to reclaim the direct COVID-19 
related costs from Government/NHS England 
resources and we are not therefore expecting 
an impact on our associated financial positions. 
However it is expected that the ongoing financial 
impact of meeting future demand in relation to 

COVID-19 relating healthcare and the knock on 
impact on non COVID-19 healthcare provision will 
be significant.

Better Payment Practice Code

The Better Payment Practice Code requires that 
all NHS organisations aim to pay all valid invoices 
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt 
of a valid invoice, whichever is later. We know 
how important it is, particularly in the current 
economic climate, that we pay suppliers of goods 
and services promptly.

Better Payment Practice Code - 
measure of compliance 2019-20

Number £000s

Non-NHS Creditors

Total bills paid in the year 18,157 352,895

Total bills paid within target 17,942 351,827

Percentage of bills paid within 
target

98.82% 99.70%

NHS Creditors

Total bills paid in the year 4,750 868,152

Total bills paid within target 4,713 866,022

Percentage of bills paid within 
target

99.22% 99.75%

PTS/111 and WYUC 16

Leeds & York Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust

107

Leeds Community Healthcare 
NHS Trust

104

Prescribing recharges from the 
Prescription Pricing Authority

120

Primary care co-commissioning 118

Better Care Fund (Leeds City 
Council)

32

Funded nursing care 8

Mental health learning 
disabilities

29

Main areas of commissioned 
spend

1,097

Other smaller contracts 204

Total net commissioning spend 
(programme budget)

1,302
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Better Payment Practice Code- COVID-19

The public sector must pay suppliers within 
30 days under the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. For 2019-20 as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic, contracting authorities are required to 
look at accelerating these terms to maintain cash 
flow and protect jobs (Cabinet Action Note PPN 
02/20, March 2020).

CCG running costs

The running cost envelope for NHS Leeds CCG 
for 2019-20 financial year was £18.2 million. 
The total actual spend was £13.4 million. The 
underspend of £4.8 million being transferred to 
commissioning expenditure.

Better Care Fund

The CCG has entered into a partnership 
arrangement with Leeds City Council in relation 
to the Better Care Fund (BCF). A partnership 
agreement between the two organisations 
describes the commissioning arrangements for a 
range of health and social care services.

The two funds are hosted by either Leeds 
City Council or the CCG. The BCF partnership 
agreement is based on the national template 
developed by NHS England and Bevan Brittan. 
All funds are overseen by a joint BCF Partnership 
Board. A summary follows:

Contributions

NHS Leeds 
CCG

Leeds City 
Council

Total

£000 £000 £000

Fund 1
CCG Hosted 
s75 Agreements

24,716 - 24,716

Fund 2
Council Hosted 
s75 Agreements

23,023 9,765 32,788

Total 47,739 9,765 57,504

Expenditure

NHS Leeds 
CCG

Leeds City 
Council

Total

£000 £000 £000

Fund 1
CCG Hosted 
s75 Agreements

24,716 - 24,716

Fund 2
Council Hosted 
s75 Agreements

23,023 9,765 32,788

Total 47,739 9,765 57,504

1.1.7 Financial outlook

NHS Leeds CCG will have a notified allocation of 
£1.3bn for the 2020-21 financial year. The in-year 
growth received amounts to 3.6%. A balanced 
expenditure plan had been set on the basis that 
the local health system would make appropriate 
progress in line with the NHS long term plan 
priorities. However this is now significantly 
challenged as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and further guidance on the national revision of 
2020-21 plans and beyond is awaited from NHSEI.

The CCG simultaneously operates on the Leeds 
and West Yorkshire footprints, both of which 
are amongst the largest in the country, with 
risks and opportunities that are commensurate 
with this magnitude. It is therefore even more 
important that the CCG continues to fully engage 
at a strategic level with Leeds City Council, NHSEI 
Specialised Commissioning and West Yorkshire 
partner organisations to develop a joined up 
approach to commissioning health care services 
for the population of Leeds.

1.1.8 Key issues and risks

The governing body assurance framework - 
GBAF - is the key mechanism for identifying and 
ensuring the management of risks affecting the 
achievement of our strategic objectives. It draws 
together the high level risks from a variety of 
sources and enables the governing body to focus 
on making sure that the impact of these risks 
is minimised through appropriate management 
action. The GBAF is supported by a risk register 
that provides a local record of all potential or 
actual organisational risks. More details are in the 
annual governance report.

As at 9 March 2020, the key risks faced by the 
CCG were:

• Not meeting legislative responsibilities in 
relation to community deprivation of liberty for 
fully funded continuing healthcare cases, due 
to assessor capacity and availability of Court of 
Protection time;
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• Not maintaining a sustainable primary care 
workforce due to difficulties recruiting GPs and 
practice nurses;

• Information security maturity, including, risk 
to cyber security impacting on availability of 
systems and data;

• Capability to manage demand and discharge 
volumes during times of high demand;

• The perception of key stakeholders that 
the CCG Shaping Our Future programme is 
focussed only on the CCG and excludes key 
partners.

All identified risks have details of key controls, 
how assurance will be given, gaps in controls 
and assurance, target risk level, action plans to 
address gaps and the risk owner.

1.1.9 Emergency preparedness

We certify that NHS Leeds CCG has business 
continuity plans in place to comply with NHS 
England’s emergency preparedness requirements. 
We submit an annual emergency preparedness 
self-assessment to NHS England. In addition, as 
commissioners we require that all our providers 
have in place robust emergency preparedness, 
business continuity and major incident plans. 
These are reported to the contracts management 
board for our main providers.

The CCG also engages with other partners 
and supports the local authority emergency 
preparedness and resilience planning in Leeds. 
We also attend the West Yorkshire Urgent and 
Emergency care programme Board and engage 
with West Yorkshire wide urgent care projects as 
required.

COVID-19

Comprehensive business continuity planning has 
enabled the CCG to continue to deliver its defined 
critical activities and functions whilst all but a 
very small number of staff work from home, and 
whilst the CCG has supported and often driven 
swift and significant system change.

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Leeds 
health and care system governance has changed 
to a citywide incident command structure to:

• Coordinate the health and care response

• Ensure the city follows national guidance

• Minimise the effect of the outbreak on the 
health and wellbeing of the city.

NHS Leeds CCG has a pivotal role in the support 
and coordination of this structure. The structure 
is led by Leeds City Wide Gold Command, chaired 
by the Chief Executive Officer of Leeds City 
Council with membership that includes West 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service, West Yorkshire 
Police, the Director of Public Health, NHS Leeds 
CCG and Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust. All 
meetings are virtual.

Reporting directly to this City Wide Gold 
Command s a coordinating structure for health 
and care, administered by the CCG, as outlined 
below.

Health and care incident structure

Leeds Health and Social Care Gold 
Command. This is the strategic level and is 
chaired by the CCG’s chief executive. Membership 
is chief executives from health and care 
organisations across the city.

Leeds Health and Social Care Silver 
Command. This is the tactical level responsible 
for managing immediate pressures and risks 
across system. It is chaired by the head of 
unplanned care from the CCG in office hours, 
with the ability to stand up this meeting out of 
office hours as necessary. Membership is chief 
operating officers / executive directors from 
health and care organisations in Leeds.

In addition to the response structure, there is 
a City Wide Silver Communications Group 
with membership from all organisations to 
ensure co-ordinated and consistent messages are 
relayed to staff, the public and the and city wide 
planning group. There is also a forward looking 
City Wide Silver Planning Group that provides 
system-wide situation reports, intelligence and 
modelling.
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Leeds Health and Social Care Bronze Command. 
This operational level meeting, chaired by 
the CCG Unplanned Care Team, focuses on 
operational pressures, issues and risks, and any 
asks that health and care organisations might 
have of partners.

City Bronze Task Groups (planning and 
delivery)

A number of groups have been established to 
address the various issues and pressures faced 
by health and care in its response to the COVID 
19 outbreak. These include PPE, workforce 
redeployment, primary care, IT, end of life and 
frailty. Each group completes a risk/action/issue/
decision (RAID) log for cascade to the rest of the 
incident structure to ensure flow of information.

To support the incident response structure above 
is the Leeds CCG COVID-19 Incident Control 
Centre (ICC) that meets daily with membership 
from key CCG teams including communications, 
quality and safety, unplanned care, primary care 
and planned care.

1.1.10 Performance summary

CCGs are accountable for how they spend public 
money. Reflecting upon our overall performance 
over the year, we are meeting or exceeding 
national targets in some areas, for example 
cancer and dementia diagnoses. However, 
increased demand for NHS services has presented 
a significant challenge - and the coronavirus 
pandemic will pose the most serious challenge 
that the NHS has ever experienced. Although 
we had planned to meet all national planning 
standards and commitments in 2019-20, this has 
not been possible for some of our commissioned 
services. In the performance analysis that follows, 
you’ll see steps we’ve taken to address this or the 
mitigating circumstances.

1.2. Performance analysis
Important note: we have tried to make this 
section as up to date as possible but due to the 
coronavirus pandemic, some of the following 
information may not be representative of the full 
financial year. All plans to recover performance 
that falls below target will be adversely affected 
as priority is given to the ongoing response to 
COVID-19; this impact will grow the longer the 
COVID-19 response remains in place. It is also 
likely that that a number of performance areas 
where national targets are currently being met 
will dip below target. The CCG is working with 
all of our providers to mitigate these impacts and 
to develop robust capacity and recovery plans for 
implementation as soon as we are able to move 
on to this phase.

1.2.1 Healthcare performance in Leeds

CCGs were established on 1 April 2013 and 
are clinically-led organisations at the heart of 
the NHS system. They are driven by the pursuit 
of improving the health and wellbeing of the 
whole population; reducing health inequalities; 
delivering better quality for all patients; and, 
securing better value for taxpayers in a financially 
sustainable system.

One of our main duties is to commission efficient 
and effective healthcare services that meet the 
needs of the population of Leeds who require 
NHS healthcare. The services we commission are 
monitored locally, regionally and at a national 
level through a range of performance indicators. 
These indicators include performance against 
NHS priorities, including the NHS Constitution 
standards, along with a set of benchmark 
indicators specified within the NHS Oversight 
Framework.

These indicators cover many areas. These include 
access targets, such as the time a patient has to 
wait for hospital treatment. They also include 
measures of effectiveness of our services, for 
example rates for early diagnosis of cancer or 
number of beds occupied as a result in delays in 
hospital discharge processes.
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Where appropriate, we work with our partner 
organisations in hospitals, ambulance services, 
community health services, member practices 
and with Leeds City Council to agree the support 
and changes required within the health and care 
systems to ensure we can achieve them.

The CCG remains fully committed to ensuring that 
we put plans in place to maximise the potential 
to deliver all NHS Constitution commitments, as 
well as making progress on improving the quality 
of our services, improving health outcomes and 
reducing health inequalities for our patients. 
However, it is clear that there have been a 
number of performance challenges in 2019-
20 and many of these challenges are expected 
to continue into 2020-21, particularly with the 
impact of COVID-19.

The performance measures shown in the table 
below are the activity and performance measures 
identified in the national NHS Operational 
Planning and Contracting Guidance 2019-20. 
Performance against these indicators is reviewed 
bimonthly by the Quality and Performance 
Committee and Governing Body as part of our 
Integrated Quality and Performance Report. CCGs 
are also monitored against these indicators by 
NHSEI. An overview of performance in 2019-20 is 
provided in the following section.

At the time of writing, data representing the 
whole of 2019-20 had not been published. 
Therefore, the performance levels below 
represent the position reported for January 2020 
unless stated otherwise.

1.2.2 Performance highlights

Referral to treatment times

Over 88% of patients waited no more than 18 
weeks between referral and treatment against a 
target of 92%. The target of zero patients waiting 
over 52 weeks had not been achieved, with 16 
patients waiting for spinal surgery waiting in 
excess of this time. The requirement to reduce 
the number of patients waiting on an incomplete 
pathway to lower than the position in March 
2019 had been achieved.

Diagnostic test waiting times

More than 99% of patients waited less than 
six weeks for diagnostics, which achieved the 
national standard.

Cancer waiting times

Access to timely and effective cancer services 
is crucial for patient experience and outcomes. 
Consequently, we monitor performance 
against nine cancer measures against expected 
performance standards. The recent pressures 
we have observed on the local health and 
social care system in addition to an increased 
number of people presenting with cancer 
symptoms have contributed towards our levels of 
underperformance.

For the majority of 2019-20, the 2 week urgent 
referral measures have not been achieved. Where 
cancer is diagnosed and a decision to treat has 
been made, performance against the four 31-day 
treatment start standards has generally been 
positive. However, we have struggled to achieve 
the three measures associated with waiting 
62 days for treatment to start following the 
initial referral, although this has been difficult to 
achieve throughout the country.

Dementia diagnosis rate

Approximately three-quarters of the people 
estimated to be living with dementia in Leeds 
have been diagnosed with the condition, which 
helps improve their ability to cope and access 
treatment, care and support. This level of 
performance exceeds the national ambition of 
having at least 66.7% of the dementia prevalent 
population diagnosed.

Improving access to psychological therapies

Around one in six adults in England has a 
common mental health disorder, such as 
depression or anxiety. Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) is a key element 
of the national strategy to improve support and 
outcomes for those with common mental health 
issues. There are a number of measures used to 
assess how well CCGs are doing in respect of this 
area.
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The number of people waiting less than six 
weeks to receive psychological therapies had 
significantly reduced since 2018-19, with only 
a third of patients managing to do so against 
the standard of 75%. However, the requirement 
for at least 95% of people waiting to receive 
psychological therapies was achieved. We have 
not achieved the requirement for more than 22% 
of the estimated population with anxiety and/
or depression to receive psychological therapies; 
performance equated to approximately 16% in 
December 2019. Furthermore, fewer than half of 
people accessing treatment achieve recovery.

The CCG has recently procured the Leeds IAPT 
service as part of the new city-wide primary care 
mental health service, which was launched on 
1 November 2019. This new model of provision 
of psychological therapies is expected to improve 
performance in the future.

Early intervention in psychosis (EIP)

In September 2019, more than 80% of people 
experiencing first episode psychosis were treated 
with a NICE recommended package of care 
within two weeks of referral.

Waiting times for referrals to children and 
young people’s eating disorder services

It is expected that 95% of children and young 
people being urgently or routinely referred to 
eating disorder services begin treatment within 
one and four weeks respectively. Whilst the 
number of urgent referrals has remained low 
since the end of 2018-19, the volume of routine 
referrals received has increased which has placed 
pressure on the four week wait timescale. As of 
December 2019, both of these measures were not 
achieved.

People with a severe mental illness receiving 
a full annual physical health check and 
follow-up interventions

Up until December 2019, more than half of 
people with a severe mental illness received a 
full annual physical health check and follow-up 
interventions. The standard for 2019-20 is for 

60% of people to receive a health check and we 
were on track to deliver this by the end of March 
2020.

People with a learning disability who have 
received an annual health check

The requirement is for a minimum of 2,948 
people with a learning disability to undergo an 
annual health check during 2019-20. However, 
801 people had received a health check during 
the first six months of 2019-20 indicating the 
likelihood to underachieve against this measure in 
2019-20.

Personal health budgets

We are required to have 1,260 personal health 
budgets in place over the course of 2019-20. By 
December 2019, 1,961 people had a personal 
budget.

Children’s wheelchair service

Over 97% of children received a wheelchair 
within 18 weeks of referral during 2019-20 
against a target of at least 92%.

1.2.3 Sustainable development

The UK faces a legally binding EU target to 
reduce the quantity of CO

2
 emissions emitted at 

a national level by 34% by 2020, and by 2050 for 
the country to be carbon neutral. This reduction 
is measured from a 1990 baseline.

NHS Leeds CCG and its predecessors have an 
excellent record of developing and delivering 
sustainable development management plans. 
However, despite our efforts it has become 
increasing clear that we need to do much more.

Sustainable development requires organisations 
to focus on ‘three pillars’: social, environmental 
and economic. We recognise the great 
responsibility that comes with our roles as 
commissioners and providers of public services.

In March 2020, the West Yorkshire and Harrogate 
Health and Care Partnership published its 
response to the NHS Long Term, Plan: “Better 
health and care for everyone: our five year plan.” 



14

This plan, developed in partnership with all West 
Yorkshire CCGs, NHS providers and local authority 
partners, identifies climate change as one of the 
10 key priorities against which we will take action 
over the next five years.

The CCG, along with its partners in the West 
Yorkshire health and care system, is aspiring “to 
become a global leader in responding to the 
climate emergency through increased mitigation, 
investment and culture change throughout our 
system.’

Our environmental impact

In support of the West Yorkshire and Leeds Plan 
ambition to address climate change, the CCG is 
currently revisiting and updating its sustainability 
plans and will publish a new ‘Green Plan” in 
2020-21. Key areas of focus in our Green Plan will 
be:

• Reducing WIRA House carbon usage: seeking 
ways to minimise use of energy and reducing 
waste on our site

• Improving carbon literacy of staff: increasing 
staff awareness of climate change and how 
they can change the way they live to minimise 
their impact on the environment through 
adopting and encouraging sustainable lifestyles

• Transport and travel: supporting and 
encouraging reduction in carbon and pollution 
through changes in travel behaviours

• Commissioning for sustainability: building 
sustainability into the commissioning and 
procurement of services

• Partnership working: acting together with 
other key stakeholders to support system wide 
change.

Our plans will provide the platform through 
which we will significantly increase our 
contribution to supporting the reduction in our 
carbon footprint and reducing levels of pollution 
over the next five years.

Summary of performance

Through monitoring our resource use, we 
have been able to identify our significant 
environmental aspects and quantify our carbon 
footprint so we can work towards reducing the 
environmental impacts of our organisation.

In April 2018 the three Leeds CCGs merged 
to form one organisation. All staff were then 
relocated to one newly refurbished building, Wira 
House, in June 2018. Due to the relocation and 
change in scope of the organisation, the CO

2
e 

emissions from the 2013 baseline (when CCGs 
were first formed) are no longer comparable with 
the current CCG.

To overcome this, a new baseline was developed 
to reflect the changes in the organisation. The 
new baseline ran from June 2018 to May 2019 
and recorded the gas, electricity and water 
consumed by the CCG and the resulting CO

2
e 

emissions. This enables the CCG to accurately 
monitor changes in our resource use and carbon 
emissions which is important for ensuring we 
meet our targets and improve environmental 
sustainability.

Between 2018-19 and 2019-20 electricity use 
at the CCG was 987 kWh. Due to changes in 
the UK grid’s electricity mix, the CO

2
e emissions 

associated with electricity have decreased. This 
has resulted in 10.9-tonne decrease in CO

2
e 

emissions from electricity at NHS Leeds CCG.

Gas consumption at the CCG has, however, 
increased by 16,942 kWh between 2018-19 and 
2019-20 causing the associated CO

2
e emissions to 

increase by 3.11 tonnes.

Water consumption has decreased since 2018-19 
by 386 m3 to 8058 m3. This gave a 5% reduction 
in CO2e emissions associated with water 
consumption at the CCG.

Collectively, these changes in consumption have 
amounted to a total 12% reduction in CO

2
e 

emissions at Leeds CCG between 2018-19 and 
2019-20. This decrease can be largely attributed 
to the increase of “green” electricity supplied 
in the UK, rather than the implementation of 
actions at the CCG.
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Resource Unit Consumption CO
2
 emissions (tonnes CO

2
e)

2018-19 2019-20

% change 
from 2018-19 

to 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20

% change 
from 2018-19 

to 2019-20

Electricity use kWh 145,034 144,047 -1% 44.55 33.62 -25%

Gas use kWh 81,292 98,234 20% 14.95 18.06 21%

Water use m3 8,444 8,058 -5% 8.88 8.48 5%

Total CO
2
 Emissions (tCO

2
e) 68.39 60.16

-12%
Annual CO

2
e Change (%) n/a -12%

*CO
2
 emissions have been calculated using the DEFRA carbon factors which are available here: 

www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting#conversion-factors-2019.

These factors are revised each year in line with the carbon intensity of power, fuel and prevailing waste management 
practices. The use of these Government conversion factors explains why in some cases consumption does not change 
at the same rate as emissions.

1.2.4 Improving quality

In discharging its duty under Section 14R of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)1, 
NHS Leeds CCG acts with a view to securing 
continuous quality improvement in the outcomes 
that are achieved from the provision of the 
services in various ways. It seeks to ensure that 
services commissioned are not only safe, effective 
and provide a good patient experience for 
everyone, but also strive for continuous quality 
improvement both now and in the future.

Assuring ourselves of the quality of services 
provided requires a balance between traditional 
quality assurance methods, geared towards 
the monitoring of compliance with a desired 
standard and quality improvement approaches 
which serve to focus on identifying future states 
and monitoring incremental change. We have 
a dedicated Quality team who have clinical 
expertise and support the commissioning and 
contracting teams in helping to secure and 
maintain quality (and quality improvement) across 
the whole range of services commissioned on 
behalf of the population of Leeds.

Quality improvement

Quality is embedded in our organisation 
throughout all stages of the commissioning 
cycle, from setting standards at procurement 
and identifying quality risks through established 
equality and quality impact assessments (eQIAs), 
to monitoring compliance with agreed standards 
such as national and local quality requirements 
(QRs) and CQUINs. Any quality risks are discussed 
with providers at Clinical Quality Review Groups 
(CQRGs) or the equivalent (in the case of smaller 
providers and AQPs) and service improvements 
are monitored with mitigating actions discussed 
as required. Documents received for these 
meetings are reviewed by both clinical and 
non-clinical staff with key lines of enquiry 
(KLOEs) drawn up beforehand to challenge data, 
seek further targeted assurance or clarity as 
required. In addition quality and performance 
dashboards are submitted by each provider. 
These are analysed to identify special causes 
and track progress against their ambitions to 
improve outcomes across the domains of safety, 
effectiveness and experience; demonstrating 
a shift away from classic quality assurance 
approaches which can often ‘hit the target but 
miss the point’. 

1  Each clinical commissioning group must exercise its functions with a view to securing continuous 
improvement in the quality of services provided to individuals for or in connection with the prevention, 
diagnosis or treatment of illness (www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/section/14R)

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting#conversion-factors-2019
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/section/14R
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These enable commissioners to now have a clear 
picture of the current status and distance from 
agreed trajectory, which then facilitates an open 
and transparent dialogue at CQRG regarding 
risks, challenges and support required to make 
the necessary improvements at scale and pace.

Each large provider in the CCG’s patch uses 
a different industrial method of quality 
improvement to help drive their service 
development work such as the Virginia Mason 
Production System (VMPS) or the Institute for 
Healthcare Improvement (IHI) that enables 
them to better demonstrate the output of their 
improvement efforts. At respective CQRGs, 
providers are asked to share an aspect of this 
work which helps raise the profile and enables 
sharing of what works well and not so well across 
the local system.

In relation to care homes the CCG has an 
established quality assurance monitoring 
tool in place which guides restorative and/or 
improvement action according to the level of 
concern identified, either through CQC or our 
own internal monitoring systems.

The CCG’s Quality Performance Committee (QPC) 
meets bi-monthly and receives an integrated 
quality and performance report in addition to 
minutes of the CQRG and care home quality 
group meetings. This group triangulates the 
qualitative and quantitative information it receives 
and may drive further challenge around any 
issues identified requiring additional assurance 
and/or the benefits of quality improvement 
initiatives at any time.

Continuous quality improvement activity is driven 
through the regular monitoring of performance 
and reflects (and can complement) the ratings 
published on myNHS. Three main categories are 
used on this site to provide a platform for drilling 
down to further information for a whole range 
of performance metrics. These are 1) speciality 
treatments 2) data on services and 3) data on 
health and wellbeing.

For speciality treatments the tripartite team 
of commissioning, quality and contracting use 
the Clinical Outcomes Publications data and 
national clinical audit/best practice to benchmark 
performance of specific types of surgery and 
disease management against national/regional 
trends and may reference these in service 
specifications and reports.

For data on services, the teams seek assurances 
from providers on how they have applied learning 
identified from patient and staff survey results, 
any improvement action identified by CQC 
following inspection and other contractually 
required information in minimum data sets 
for example (as in the care home arena). This 
is usually done through CQRG or Contract 
Management Boards (CMB) and may be followed 
up in quality visits to the provider to see 
organisational learning ‘in action’.

In terms of data on health and wellbeing, the 
CCG is moving towards a population health 
management approach, seeking to improve the 
“health of people in the poorest parts of our 
population the fastest,” and therefore using the 
data on health inequalities at different stages of 
life (e.g. healthy infancy, healthy older age and 
dementia) to support the case for change.

Incident monitoring

In 2019-20 the quality and clinical governance 
teams monitored our partner organisations 
in reporting, investigating and learning from 
serious incidents, as defined by the NHSEI Serious 
Incident 2015 Framework (SIF), which occurred 
within a provider of NHS healthcare. A panel is 
tasked with reviewing submitted reports and 
action plans from our providers to gain assurance 
that a robust investigation has been completed, 
reasons for the incident occurring identified and 
recommendations have been actioned to prevent 
something similar from happening again. We 
work with our partners to ensure learning and 
actions from all investigations are embedded in 
practice.
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The 2019 National Patient Safety Strategy 
identified some significant changes and 
improvements to the way safety is managed 
in the NHS and, as part of the strategy, a new 
framework will replace the SIF in 2020-21. One 
of our providers is part of the early adopter 
programme for the new Patient Safety Incident 
Response Framework (PSIRF) that will replace 
SIF and the CCG is supporting this pilot work in 
Leeds.

The new framework is designed to ensure a 
risk based approach to the management and 
monitoring of patient safety incidents which is 
responsive, prioritises support for those affected, 
utilises effective analysis, and sustainably reduces 
future risk. The PSIRF has a broad scope and 
describes incident management as part of a 
system based, cross-setting approach explicitly 
designed for safety, learning and quality 
improvement.

A significant amount of work to review and 
improve safety following certain types of current 
serious incidents (for example pressure ulcers) 
has been undertaken by providers and this will 
continue with the learning and improvement 
actions linking in under the new framework.

We are continuing to work with all providers to 
facilitate the monitoring and development of 
learning from incidents. We are closely involved 
with reviewing the themes and trends from 
incidents within primary care and continue to 
support learning across the city in a variety of 
ways to help reduce the likelihood of incidents 
recurring.

The Clinical Governance team host and manage 
the CCG’s Datix system, which is the learning tool 
of choice for Leeds CCG to record and manage 
CCG incidents. In addition to CCG incidents this 
system is also used by most Leeds GP practices to 
record incidents occurring in primary care.

During 2019-20 an internal audit review was 
conducted on the CCG incident management 
process by Audit Yorkshire, who reported that 
the CCG has provided high assurance on the 
effectiveness of the controls in place.

The audit also confirmed that the CCG has 
appropriate governance arrangements in place for 
incident reporting, and an incident management 
policy and guidance.

Current work includes:

• Analysing themes and trends of incidents and 
responding with guidance/safety messages

• Creating a quarterly newsletter ‘Quality and 
Safety Matters’ for primary care

• Promoting and giving feedback directly at 
primary care learning events

• Providing support and expert knowledge to 
the CCG Procurement Panel

Patient experience

The patient insight group has been reviewed and 
relaunched as a patient experience collaborative. 
The remit for the collaborative is to provide a 
forum where all teams can work together to 
review and analyse patient experience data from 
a wide range of sources. The aim is to utilise this 
information to ensure that this is reflected in 
the wider commissioning work to inform service 
change and/or improvement. The collaborative 
will work to ensure all teams are involved and 
patient experience, from all sources available, is 
considered. The current work includes:

• Real time tracking of patient experience in 
conjunction with Healthwatch ‘How does it 
feel for me’ project

• Working with primary care to improve 
communication between practices and patients 
in relation to registration processes

• Working with primary care to improve access 
for patients as investment in access continues 
to grow

• Working with the equality and diversity lead to 
improve access for all

• Working with the Quality team and other 
colleagues to facilitate quality visits to providers 
and care homes across the city

• Providing support and expert knowledge to 
the CCG Procurement Panel.
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The patient experience team continues to develop 
links with external stakeholders, for example 
Healthwatch and Leeds City Council, as well 
as the commissioning, quality and contracting 
teams to identify new ways in which patient 
experience can be captured and used for service 
improvement.

Complaints

We take complaints seriously as they are a 
genuine means of helping improve our services. 
Outcomes from complaint investigations are used 
to make changes where required to systems and 
processes to improve the future experience for 
everybody. We ensure the six principles of remedy 
are applied when handling complaints and work 
closely with our partner organisations to ensure 
that the appropriate information is obtained in 
a coordinated and timely manner. Our Patient 
Experience team manage the complaints process 
and respond to queries, resolve concerns or 
signpost people to appropriate services as well 
as providing ‘on the spot’ non-medical advice to 
patients.

In April 2019 the Patient Advice and Liaison 
Service provided by eMBED closed, and the 
function was brought in house, with the Patient 
Experience team leading this work. During the 
first part of the year there was a significant rise 
in patient contacts, with calls mainly related 
to patients not knowing who to contact with 
queries about their healthcare, specifically relating 
to acute services and primary care.

The CCG Patient Experience Team is an active 
member of the Leeds Complaints Forum, 
hosted and chaired by Healthwatch Leeds, 
which includes members from our provider 
organisations and Leeds City Council. As a group 
we work together to improve the experience 
of making a complaint within Leeds and we 
continue to operate a ‘no wrong door’ policy.

The current work includes:

• Developing new complaints processes to better 
capture equality and diversity data

• Developing a primary care leaflet to support 
and signpost patients to appropriate patient 
experience teams. The team are also looking at 
costs to provide a wallet sized leaflet.

• Reviewing experiences in relation to the 
process for continuing healthcare following 
complaints from patients and their families

• Amending individual funding templates 
following complaints

• Providing support and expert knowledge to 
the CCG Procurement Panel

• Developing templates to capture the 
experience of complainants.

1.2.5 Engaging people and communities

Governance and assurance

NHS commissioning organisations have a legal 
duty under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended) to ‘make arrangements’ to involve 
the public in the commissioning of services for 
NHS patients (‘the public involvement duty’).

As part of our governance arrangements as a 
CCG, we are ordinarily required to prepare an 
annual report, which must explain how the public 
involvement duty in the previous financial year 
has been fulfilled. Requirements for the contents 
of annual reports been revised nationally due 
to coronavirus and will therefore include some 
omissions against previous and future such 
publications. That said, this section of our annual 
report explains how we fulfilled that duty during 
the past financial year.

We are passionate about providing the best 
services we can, and committed to understanding 
what matters most to our patients, our local 
communities, our member practices and our 
partners. Good communications and engagement 
are a priority for us, and a strong framework, 
with clear structures and assurance processes, 
plays a key role in making sure that patients and 
communities are central to our decision-making.
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The CCG Constitution

Our constitution sets out the arrangements 
we have in place to meet the legal duty to 
involve patients and the public in our work. The 
constitution outlines:

• the key ways we involve the public in 
commissioning

• a statement of the principles we will follow in 
involving the public

• how we will ensure transparent decision 
making

You can read our constitution on our website: 
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/02/
NHS_LeedsCCG_Constitutionv1.1.pdf

Patient and public involvement (PPI)  
lay person on our governing body

Our lay member for public and patient 
participation chairs our Patient Assurance Group 
(PAG), and is also a member of the Primary 
Care Commissioning Committee, Quality and 
Performance Committee and the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee.

She ensures that the voice of patients and the 
public is championed at our governing body, and 
acts as a critical friend offering a non-institutional 
perspective. You can read more about our PPI lay 
person on our website: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/
about/governing-body/meet/angela-collins

Our commissioning framework

The CCG identifies the best opportunities to 
increase value and improve outcomes through 
the Commissioning for Value framework. 
Programmes which offer the best chance of 
improving population health are prioritised. 
Our ambition is to achieve the best outcomes 
for people accessing healthcare in Leeds at 
the lowest cost. Understanding the health 
outcomes patients wish to achieve is vital if 
we are to provide services which cater to their 
needs and preferences, and to support them to 
achieve the things which matter most to them. 
We use a simple model to outline how we 
assure meaningful engagement throughout the 
commissioning cycle:

Stage of the 
commissioning cycle

Assurance mechanisms Example

Analyse and plan We carry out engagement with local people 
to find out what matters to them. This is one 
of the ways we understand the needs and 
preferences of people in Leeds

Big Leeds Chat

www.healthwatchleeds.co.uk/our-work/
bigleedschat

We use feedback from local communities to 
develop our plans and priorities. We use public 
events to ‘test’ our plans with local people

Home First engagement event

www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/
home-first-event

Design pathways When we make changes to services our PAG 
make sure that our engagement plans are 
meaningful

PAG

www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/pag

Specify and procure When we buy health services our CCG 
volunteers make sure that feedback from local 
people is used to shape the new service

Maternity Consultation discussion at Dec 2019 PAG

www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/02/ 
2019-12-04PAG_Minutes-CHAIR-APPROVED.pdf

Deliver and improve Support/guidance extends beyond initial 
engagement activity to ensure patient/
public experience is considered beyond 
‘day one’. For example, engagement report 
from Syrian Refugee Health Workshop helps 
secure agreement from the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee to commission 
services for this specific community and other 
migrant communities from 1st April 2020.

Social prescribing

www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/12/
SRHP_Event_Report_FINAL-for-website-4-2.pdf

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/02/NHS_LeedsCCG_Constitutionv1.1.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/02/NHS_LeedsCCG_Constitutionv1.1.pdf
https://healthwatchleeds.co.uk/our-work/bigleedschat/
https://healthwatchleeds.co.uk/our-work/bigleedschat/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/home-first-event/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/home-first-event/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/pag/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/02/2019-12-04PAG_Minutes-CHAIR-APPROVED.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/02/2019-12-04PAG_Minutes-CHAIR-APPROVED.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/12/SRHP_Event_Report_FINAL-for-website-4-2.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/12/SRHP_Event_Report_FINAL-for-website-4-2.pdf
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Involving the public in developing plans for 
commissioning

Sixty-four members of the public attended our 
deliberative event in October 2019, to help us 
develop the long-term communications campaign 
and behaviour change programme, Home First 
(www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/
home-first-event ). We also worked closely 
with local partners, including the voluntary, 
community and faith sectors (VCFS) and with 
patient groups, to develop a citywide, all age 
mental health strategy.

The annual Big Leeds Chat (BLC) is organised and 
managed by the Leeds People’s Voices group, 
who are engagement and communications leads 
from NHS commissioners and providers, local 
authority, community and advocacy groups and is 
chaired by Healthwatch Leeds. The BLC provides a 
unique opportunity for commissioners and senior 
decision makers to meet members of the public 
and hear what matters most to them, including 
what works well and what could be improved in 
relation to existing services: www.leedsccg.nhs.
uk/bigleedschat2019

Patient assurance group

Our patient assurance group (PAG) meets monthly 
and is chaired by our lay member for public and 
patient participation. Members include CCG 
volunteers, a local Healthwatch representative 
and CCG staff. Members provide assurance that 
our commissioning plans include meaningful 
engagement. You can read more about the PAG 
on our website: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/pag/

CCG volunteer programme

We have 15 CCG volunteers who work alongside 
us. They receive training, mentoring and peer 
support to champion the voice of patients and 
the public throughout the commissioning cycle. 
You can read more about our CCG volunteers on 
our website: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/
getting-more-involved/ccg-volunteer

Patient participation groups (PPGs)

We hosted our third annual PPG event, ‘PPGs in 
Practice’ in October 2019, which was attended 
by 156 people. 100% of people who completed 
the evaluation form said they would attend 
another event, and 98% of people would 
recommend it to others. Find out more about 
the event here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/
uploads/2020/01/2019_PPG_Event_Evaluation-1.
pdf

We also launched our second round of funding 
where PPGs can bid for money to support them 
with local projects. Applications in this round 
were required to outline how PPGs’ proposed 
projects would help address health inequalities. 
Find out more about the funding application 
process here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/
getting-more-involved/patient-participation-
group/ppgfunding

Framework to support participation

There are numerous ways people can get involved 
in the work of the CCG. The CCG community 
network gives patients, carers and the wider 
public the opportunity to receive regular updates 
and information about healthcare in their local 
area, as well as offering the chance to give their 
personal views and opinions. Network members 
are provided with a monthly e-newsletter and a 
quarterly magazine (Engage). More information 
about CCG Network is available here: 
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/stay-in-touch-
stay-informed/join

Following a comprehensive review of our training 
programme, we streamlined our range of free 
training and focused on the provision of three key 
sessions, coproduced with patients/members of 
the public. There is more information about our 
training here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/
getting-more-involved/training

http://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/home-first-event/
http://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/home-first-event/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/bigleedschat2019/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/bigleedschat2019/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/pag/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/ccg-volunteer/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/ccg-volunteer/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2020/01/2019_PPG_Event_Evaluation-1.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2020/01/2019_PPG_Event_Evaluation-1.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2020/01/2019_PPG_Event_Evaluation-1.pdf
http://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/patient-participation-group/ppgfunding/
http://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/patient-participation-group/ppgfunding/
http://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/patient-participation-group/ppgfunding/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/stay-in-touch-stay-informed/join/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/stay-in-touch-stay-informed/join/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/training/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/training/
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Working with GP practices, PPGs and the PPG 
Network, we have been building a library of tools 
and resources to support PPG groups across the 
city. These include a PPG leaflet and a quality 
indicator. Find out more about our PPG resources 
here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-
more-involved/patient-participation-group/
resources

Engagement activities

Over the last year we have involved individuals 
and communities in a wide range of engagement 
activities, including:

• Urgent treatment centres (UTCs) - we 
wanted to hear people’s thoughts on proposals 
to establish five UTCs in Leeds. A total of 3227 
people responded to our survey. Most people 
(63%) believed that the proposed changes will 
bring about an improvement: www.leedsccg.
nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/urgent-
treatment-centres

• Safe Haven GP Practice - 21 patients and 
staff completed our survey, providing valuable 
feedback to help us shape the way the service 
is provided in the future: www.leedsccg.nhs.
uk/get-involved/your-views/safe-haven

• Healthy Hearts cholesterol public 
engagement - we supported West Yorkshire 
and Harrogate Healthy Hearts to engage with 
people in the West Yorkshire and Harrogate 
area about the work they’re doing to help 
prevent heart attacks and strokes: 
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/
healthy-hearts-cholesterol-public-engagement

• Syrian refugee health workshop - along 
with local groups, we facilitated a health 
workshop for people from the Syrian 
community who have recently settled in Leeds 
to find out about their health priorities: 
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/
syrian-refugee-health-workshop

• Mental health services in Harrogate and 
Wetherby - we worked with Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valley (TEWV) NHS Foundation Trust 
to try to understand local people’s feelings 
about the development of community mental 
health services in Harrogate, Wetherby and 
the surrounding areas. The public feedback 
is being used to inform a wider strategy for 
enhancing communication, access and the 
quality of services: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-
involved/your-views/tewvmh2019

• Virtual frailty ward focus group - we 
worked alongside Age UK to facilitate a 
focus group to gain people’s views on our 
plans for a Virtual Frailty Ward pilot project. 
Participants flagged up the significance of 
the use of language, and the importance of 
involving carers in all these conversations: 
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/
virtual-frailty-ward

• British Sign Language (BSL) services for 
the NHS in Leeds - around 100 people from 
the D/deaf or hard of hearing community, 
including advocates, helped to review existing 
British Sign Language Interpreting Services 
(BSL) and Deafblind Communicator Guide 
services which are provided to GP practices 
in Leeds: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/
your-views/leedsbsl

• Direct payment support service (DPSS) 
- we worked with local authority colleagues 
to help inform Personal Health Budget (PHB) 
customers about proposed changes to the way 
the service is delivered, and to collect baseline 
patient experience information: www.leedsccg.
nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/dpss

• West Yorkshire Specialised Vascular 
Services - we supported NHSEI North East and 
Yorkshire, who launched a public consultation 
setting out proposals for the future of 
specialised vascular services in West Yorkshire 
and asked patients and the public for their 
views: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-
views/vascular

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/patient-participation-group/resources/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/patient-participation-group/resources/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/patient-participation-group/resources/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/urgent-treatment-centres/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/urgent-treatment-centres/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/urgent-treatment-centres/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/safe-haven/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/safe-haven/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/healthy-hearts-cholesterol-public-engagement/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/healthy-hearts-cholesterol-public-engagement/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/syrian-refugee-health-workshop/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/syrian-refugee-health-workshop/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/tewvmh2019/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/tewvmh2019/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/virtual-frailty-ward/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/virtual-frailty-ward/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/leedsbsl/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/leedsbsl/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/dpss/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/dpss/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/vascular/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/vascular/
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• Maternity and neonatal services 
consultation - we wanted to understand 
what aspects of maternity and neonatal care 
are most important to local women and 
families. We also wanted to know what people 
think about our plans to centralise maternity 
and neonatal services in the city, and our 
proposals for hospital maternity outpatient 
appointments. Our approach ensured that 
those who are seldom heard are targeted and 
we have engaged fully from first developing 
the strategy to the engagement itself, an 
approach which the council’s scrutiny panel 
commented positively on: www.leedsccg.nhs.
uk/get-involved/your-views/maternityleeds

• MindMate ambassadors - throughout 
2019-20 we continued to work closely with 
our MindMate ambassadors and the wider 
MindMate youth panel (including other 
engagement activity, for example with 
parents and other partners). The ambassadors 
have engaged across all areas of our work 
such as the development of content for the 
MindMate website (particularly around how 
to cope with exams, panic and to increase 
the blogs by young people), being part of 
the procurement panel for our Safe Space 
provision, being members of the Teen Connect 
steering group and supporting Leeds CAMHS 
on the development of the new crisis team. 
They attend our programme board and have 
a standing agenda item. More information is 
available at www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/
uploads/2019/11/LTP-Oct19.pdf (page 21)

The importance of feedback

Engaging with people is one thing, but letting 
them know how their input has helped shape 
services or strategies is another. We’re working 
hard to find effective ways to show how 
feedback from people is being used to shape 
their local health services.

Examples of how we keep people updated 
include:

• A regular ‘making a difference’ section in our 
quarterly public magazine, ‘Engage’, which 
outlines how we have responded to people’s 
feedback

• A ‘You said, we did’ section on our website 
Get Involved pages for every engagement we 
are involved in

• Our monthly electronic newsletter ‘WE-Ngage’ 
which updates our CCG Network about 
engagement work in Leeds including what has 
happened as a result: 
mailchi.mp/d4111368f5b0/we-ngage-feb20

Annual report on engagement

We produce an annual report on involvement 
(Involving You), which outlines all the 
engagement activities that we have undertaken 
and the impact these have had on decision-
making. Involving You is produced with patients 
to ensure that the document is accessible. 
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/stay-in-touch-
stay-informed/publications

Updating our patient participation groups 
(PPGs)

Our annual PPG event provides a great platform 
to update PPGs and GP practices across the city 
about how feedback is informing developments 
across the network. We also facilitate quarterly 
PPG peer support sessions to keep these 
conversations going throughout the year.

Using patient experience

How we engage with people is constantly 
changing as the health and social care landscape 
evolves, and our understanding develops. We 
already know a lot about what really matters 
to people when it comes to accessing health 
services, and there are more and more reports 
and surveys capturing people’s preferences 
about a range of health related matters. The first 
question we ask now is ‘What do we already 
know?’ Approaching engagement in this way 
helps to avoid duplication and engagement 
fatigue (asking the same people questions again 
and again).

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/maternityleeds/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views/maternityleeds/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/11/LTP-Oct19.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/11/LTP-Oct19.pdf
https://mailchi.mp/d4111368f5b0/we-ngage-feb20
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/stay-in-touch-stay-informed/publications/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/stay-in-touch-stay-informed/publications/
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Understanding the needs and preferences of 
our local population

We use this information to inform our plans 
and priorities and make decisions about service 
change. When we identify gaps in our knowledge 
we carry out engagement with specific groups 
and on specific topics. We use a variety of 
different data sets to inform our work, including 
the Friends and Family Test, Joint Strategic 
Assessment and Care Opinion.

Using patient experience for commissioning

Our patient experience team collects 
feedback from local people, and in addition 
to responding directly to individual concerns, 
can theme feedback and experiences to 
inform our commissioning work. The Patient 
Experience Group brings together managers and 
commissioners to identify and respond to patient 
experience themes and trends.

The patient experience team publishes 
an annual report which you can find (at 
page 23) here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/
uploads/2019/07/20190724_AP_GB_PUBLIC-1.pdf

Equality and Diversity

Identifying communities that are 
‘seldom-heard’

We ask everyone who gets involved with our 
engagement activities to provide equality 
monitoring information e.g. age, gender, 
ethnicity. By analysing this information we can 
work out whose opinions we are collecting 
and whose opinions are being missed out. 
Often, people and communities with protected 
characteristics, or who already experience 
disadvantage, or greater health inequalities, are 
less likely to get involved with our engagements. 
This means we need to work harder to ensure 
these voices are being included and heard. We 
use a variety of different methods to engage with 
diverse communities in Leeds.

NEST ambassadors

Our team of NEST ambassadors are women who 
have lived experience of perinatal mental health 
problems. Please see section 1.2.11 for more 
information or visit their website at 
nestleeds.co.uk

Maternity Voices Partnership

Our maternity voices partnership has continued to 
support collaboration between maternity services 
and families in Leeds, with parent representatives 
gathering feedback and working on various 
workstreams, including reducing perineal tears, 
improving the induction of labour pathway and 
contributing to plans for the future configuration 
of maternity services.

Leeds Voices

We commission the Leeds Voices project from 
Voluntary Action Leeds (VAL) to support our 
engagement with seldom-heard groups, the 
wider public and working people. Leeds Voices 
complements and enhances our engagements 
with potentially excluded and disadvantaged 
groups by working more closely with communities 
and very local existing groups. We acknowledge 
that partners in the third sector are better placed 
to engage with groups who can be ‘seldom-
heard’ or more likely to experience poor health 
outcomes. You can read more about their work on 
their website www.doinggoodleeds.org.uk/ 
leeds-voices

NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2)

The EDS2 helps NHS organisations, together 
with local partners and populations, review 
and improve their performance for people with 
characteristics protected by the Equality Act 
2010. It is aligned to NHSEI’s commitment to an 
inclusive NHS that is fair and accessible to all. Our 
communications and engagement strategy links 
with the work we do in relation to EDS2 - please 
see section1.1.10 for more information.

Working with our partners

We work closely with our public and voluntary 
sector partners to help develop a more system-
wide approach to our engagement work in Leeds.

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/07/20190724_AP_GB_PUBLIC-1.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/07/20190724_AP_GB_PUBLIC-1.pdf
https://nestleeds.co.uk/
https://doinggoodleeds.org.uk/leeds-voices
https://doinggoodleeds.org.uk/leeds-voices
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Engagement training for our providers

Providers of NHS services have a statutory duty 
to engage with patients and the public about the 
services they offer. The CCG has a responsibility 
to hold providers of its commissioned services to 
account for their engagement activity. To support 
our providers with their statutory engagement 
duties we offer training. Over the past year we 
have streamlined our training provision and 
now offer sessions focusing on co-production, 
patient participation groups and knowing your 
community. You can read more about our 
training provision here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/
get-involved/getting-more-involved/training

1.2.6 Reducing health inequalities

Avoidable health inequalities are by definition 
unfair and socially unjust. A person’s chance 
of enjoying good health and a longer life 
is determined by the social and economic 
conditions in which they are born, grow, work, 
live and age. These conditions also affect the 
way in which people look after their own health 
and use services throughout their life. Addressing 
such avoidable inequalities and moving towards 
a fairer distribution of good health requires a life 
course approach and action to be taken across 
the whole of society. The NHS Five Year Forward 
View set out the need to address the health and 
wellbeing gap, preventing any further widening 
of health inequalities. To do so requires a move 
towards greater investment in health and health 
care where the level of deprivation is higher.

The CCG recognises that health services 
themselves contribute around 15-20% towards 
people’s health and wellbeing, with the majority 
of factors being the wider determinants of 
health. While we are committed to working with 
partners to contribute to the wider determinants 
of health, we are clear that our specific role is 
to make sure that directly commissioned health 
services are doing what they can to reduce health 
inequalities.

The implications of the coronavirus COVID-19 
outbreak will be far reaching and impact all 

corners of our society, affecting people’s jobs 
and livelihoods as well as the tragic loss of life 
and impact on the population’s health. Sadly, 
there are many groups who will be hit harder by 
the outbreak: not only older people and those 
with underlying health conditions, but those 
who are vulnerable simply because they do not 
have the same opportunities to stay well. The 
economic decline and social disruption resulting 
from COVID-19 will almost certainly harm health 
and widen health inequalities. The response to 
COVID-19, both now and in the longer term, 
must account for the extent of health inequalities 
before this crisis began.

The CCG’s strategic plan sets out how ‘we will 
focus resources to reduce health inequalities 
across our city’ as one of two high level strategic 
commitments. It echoes the overarching ambition 
of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-
2021: ‘Leeds will be a healthy and caring city 
for all ages, where people who are the poorest 
improve their health the fastest’. Its longer 
term strategy will also now need to mitigate 
the immediate effects on those who become 
infected and of lockdown to ensure that health 
inequalities do not become more entrenched.

Our role as a CCG is to:

• Ensure that there is equitable access to health 
services with a particular focus on marginalised 
groups who may need additional attention

• Ensure targeted funding is directed into 
neighbourhoods with the highest levels of 
deprivation

• Facilitate integrated care focused around our 
local neighbourhoods

• Work to make sure that people do not spend 
unnecessary time in hospital

• Work to make sure that we reduce the number 
of people dying from conditions amenable to 
healthcare

• Support our system to develop a ‘culture of 
learning’

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/training/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/getting-more-involved/training/
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Key statistics

Around 866,000 people live in Leeds and are 
registered with a Leeds GP, 127,000 of whom are 
aged 65 or over.2

Our city has a very diverse population, with 
around 34% of the population from Black, Asian, 
Chinese, and smaller ethnic groups, with wards 
such as Gipton and Harehills, Little London and 
Woodhouse, Chapel Allerton and Hunslet and 
Riverside representing areas with the highest 
ethnic diversity.

The health and wellbeing of people in Leeds 
continues to improve both for people living 
in affluent and less affluent parts of the city. 
However, the more deprived parts of Leeds face 
huge challenges and inequalities in health and 
wellbeing across the city remain.

Over 224,000 people in Leeds live in areas within 
the most deprived 10% in England, and almost half 
of all these people live within four wards: Gipton 
and Harehills, Burmantofts and Richmond Hill, 
Middleton Park and Hunslet and Riverside. There 
remain stark inequalities in the risk of developing 
mental ill health across Leeds and variation in the 
treatment that people receive. A recent analysis of 
women’s health in Leeds found that mental health 
is a key priority for girls and women in the city 
and we know people in deprived communities are 
more likely to have multiple long term conditions 
that include mental health problems. People with 
serious mental illness or learning disabilities have 
some of the worst physical health of all groups; 
co-ordinated efforts across the health and social 
care system are needed to address this.

We know that if we are to make a real difference 
to the lives of people in our communities we 
have a number of health issues to tackle. For 
example, in our GP registered population, we have 
the following recorded prevalence of long term 
conditions, cancer and smoking:

• Prevalence of smoking (18+) varies between 
almost 30% in Burmantofts and Richmond Hill, 
down to 8% in Harewood ward. The overall 
Leeds rate is 19%

• Prevalence of diagnosed chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD, all ages) in Leeds 
is 2.5% but varies between 4.6% and 0.6% 
in wards. Middleton Park has the largest 
prevalence

• Prevalence of cancer (all ages) in Leeds is 
3.4%. Rates of cancer vary considerably 
at ward level, with Little London and 
Woodhouse having the lowest rate at 0.6% 
and 6% in Wetherby ward. Cancer prevalence 
is generally higher in less deprived areas, 
thought to be due to improved survival rates 
achieved with earlier diagnosis

• Prevalence of obesity (16+) is 22.8%, varying 
between 9.4% and 30.8% in different wards

• Prevalence of hypertension (16+) is 15.5% for 
the city

• 40.2% of our GP registered population (all 
ages) have one or more long term conditions

• There were 4,801 alcohol-specific admissions 
to hospital from Leeds in 2018-19; the rate 
per 100,000 is worse than that of England, 
although much closer to national levels now 
than in the past due to rises in the rest of the 
country

Targeted funding

The CCG has developed a local funding structure 
to enable practices to respond to health 
inequalities in the local population. We have 
also supported the development of primary care 
networks (PCNs) and local care partnerships 
(LCPs) in particular by investing in a locality 
leadership infrastructure from general practice, 
and by supporting the development of the 
Leeds GP Confederation. This is in recognition 
that general practice needed to go on the 
greatest journey to be able to engage in the 
integration agenda on a level playing field with 
other providers. At the heart of the vision for 
LCPs are coordinated services that know their 
local communities well and can support them 
to access care or self-care. In addition, LCPs 
offer an infrastructure that will allow targeted 
investment in the future.

2  Population data: GP registrations Leeds GP data extraction programme (Jan 2020 data). Deprivation figures: IMD 2019 
and Leeds GP data extraction programme (January 2020). GP recorded conditions: Leeds GP data extraction programme 
(January 2020). Long term conditions: Leeds Data Model (March 2019).Alcohol specific admissions: Fingertips
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Targeted interventions

The CCG currently commissions targeted 
interventions with the aim of reducing health 
inequalities. Some examples are:

Maternity strategy - We have put in place 
specific support and pathways for women at 
risk of poorer outcomes, including women with 
learning disabilities, asylum seekers, Gypsy, Roma 
and Travellers, young parents.

Maternity targeted support work - we have 
continued to bring together professionals across 
maternity services to improve the support we are 
giving to targeted groups. This year we launched 
the LGBT+ targeted support, doing specific 
engagement in this area amongst staff and 
professionals, and using this feedback to amend 
processes and plan tailored training.

Continuity of carer / group consultation in 
deprived areas - the maternity service has rolled 
out continuity of carer teams so that women in 
the most deprived areas of the city are seen by 
the same midwifes antenatally, during labour, 
and postnatally. This enables families to develop 
an ongoing relationship of trust with their 
midwife who cares for them over time. Evidence 
suggests that this means women are less likely 
to experience preterm birth, foetal loss before 
and after 24 weeks, and neonatal death, and 
more likely to report a better experience. As part 
of this work, the maternity service is delivering 
innovative group consultations, bringing together 
women and partners at set points in their 
maternity journey to deliver appointments in a 
group setting. This allows the teams to facilitate 
peer support, and work restoratively, tailoring 
sessions around the priorities of the people in the 
room.

Cancer - working with partners across the 
city we have supported our 50 most deprived 
practices with resources to encourage uptake of 
the bowel, and more recently cervical, national 
screening programmes. This has produced 
significant improvements in bowel screening rates 
across a number of our most deprived practices 
and a slight narrowing of the uptake rates 

between Leeds and deprived Leeds. We have 
also been working in some of our most deprived 
areas to tailor the set-up of a community cancer 
support service where specialist nursing teams 
will be working with people diagnosed with 
cancer to ensure personised care, addressing 
specific needs and signpost to appropriate 
support.

Marginalised groups - The CCG currently 
commissions a number of specialist schemes that 
supports inclusion health for marginalised groups; 
including the Gypsy and Traveller community, 
sex workers in the city, ex-offenders, vulnerable 
families, high volume service users and homeless 
people. These schemes are typically funded as 
grants or non-recurrently.

Social prescribing - in 2019-20 we 
commissioned a new citywide service to replace 
three previous schemes. The service aims to 
reduce health inequalities and is more active in 
areas of higher deprivation. Through spending 
time listening to what matters to people, 
our social prescribing schemes have proved 
particularly effective at improving well-being 
and reducing social isolation and loneliness. The 
schemes provide people with an opportunity to 
identify their social and health needs and jointly 
agree solutions with a wellbeing co-ordinator; 
who can link patients to local third sector and 
community organisations to address other factors 
that may be affecting their health, for example 
debt and loneliness.

COVID-19 permitting, a new strategic plan 
for 2020-21 will ramp up our work on health 
inequalities, enabling a greater focus in the 
most deprived communities and with the most 
vulnerable and marginalised groups.
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1.2.7 Performance in primary care

General practice

General practice in Leeds is currently served by 
96 individual practices providing services to a 
registered population which continues to grow 
quarter on quarter.

CCGs have a specific statutory responsibility to 
improve the quality of primary care services. 
NHSEI is responsible for commissioning primary 
care services; however specific functions were 
delegated to CCGs in April 2016. These include:

a) decisions in relation to the commissioning, 
procurement and management of primary 
medical services contracts, including but not 
limited to the following activities:

1. decisions in relation to enhanced services

2. decisions in relation to local incentive 
schemes (including the design of such 
schemes)

3. decisions in relation to the establishment 
of new GP practices (including branch 
surgeries) and closure of GP practices

4. decisions about ‘discretionary’ payments

5. decisions about commissioning urgent care 
(including home visits as required) for out of 
area registered patients

b) the approval of practice mergers

c) planning primary medical care services in the 
area

d) undertaking reviews of primary medical care 
services in the area

e) decisions in relation to the management of 
poorly performing GP practices

Activities under delegated commissioning

During 2019-20 the team have supported 
the following work related to delegated 
commissioning functions of primary care:

Two separate mergers were successfully 
facilitated and managed in the lead up to April 
2019, with a successful merger of the contracts 
and clinical systems respectively.

These are Moorfield/ New Cross and Bramley 
Village/Middleton

The team received two separate applications 
to merge from April 2020. Both applications 
were given approval to conduct patient and 
stakeholder engagement, which was collated 
and reported within the final merger application. 
Both mergers were approved through the Primary 
Care Commissioning Committee and will occur 
on 1 April 2020. These are Allerton/Westfield and 
Hunslet /Whitfield.

For the majority of 2019-20, all Leeds practices 
were operating an open list; however due to 
unforeseen circumstances we received two 
applications in January and February respectively 
to request immediate list closure. Primarily 
these were due to GP workforce constraints 
that were not expected. Both requests were 
approved following supportive feedback from 
local surrounding practices and the local medical 
committee (LMC). These are Oakwood Surgery 
and East Park Medical Practice.

The CCG has several alternative provider medical 
services (APMS) contracts in place for primary 
care medical services and extended access 
services, which are time limited. Within the year 
we have approved two contract extensions in 
line with the provision of the original contract, 
these being Shakespeare Medical Practice and 
the Safe Haven service. We have also sought and 
received approval for a contract extension to 
take place from April 2020 for York Street Health 
Practice, which is in line with the original contract 
arrangements.

With regards to extended access we have sought 
approval to extend the contract for a further 
12 months in line with the initial contract to 
enable this to align to the primary care networks 
extended access arrangements from April 2021.

The team have undertaken two procurements 
for list based primary care services. Due to 
extenuating circumstances associated with 
procurement we issued an interim APMS 
contract.
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The remaining procurement resulted in contract 
award in February 2020.

Summary of quality

During 2019-20, 100% of practices in Leeds 
were rated as good or outstanding by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC). This was a significant 
achievement for the practices and the CCG. The 
team has conducted quality support visits to 27 
practices since 1 April 2019. Some practices have 
had continuous supportive reviews and visits to 
enable them to respond to quality requirements 
and, where relevant, address CQC ratings and 
return to a rating of “good.” While the 100% 
good or outstanding position was always time 
limited due to the nature of inspections and 
the challenges facing general practice today, 
we recognise through supportive partnership 
working and good relationships with providers 
we can aspire to reaching this position again in 
the future.

The current position of CQC inspections is:

• 4% of practices currently rated as 
“Outstanding” overall (4 practices)

• 95% of practices currently rated as “Good” 
overall (90 practices)

• 1% of practices currently rated as “Inadequate” 
overall (1 practice)

• 16 practices have been inspected by CQC since 
1 April 2019, and their inspection reports and 
evidence tables have been published.

• 15 practices have achieved the same overall 
rating as previously

• 1 practice has received a decreased overall 
rating from their previous rating.

Local enhanced schemes

The team continue to support and develop the 
local quality improvement scheme, and 2019-20 
was the second of a three year scheme.

The scheme focusses on long term conditions 
and key priority areas for the city, which are 
identified within RightCare data. This year saw 
the following changes and inclusions:

• The movement of targeted prevention of 
long term conditions shift from an individual 
practice achievement to a primary care 
network (PCN) level

• Inclusion of high risk of diabetes within the 
prevalence section

• Inclusion of heart failure within the 
management section

• Key achievement indicators identified

• Inclusion of healthy practice component with 
set criteria and a priority quality improvement 
initiative relating to learning disability health 
checks

• Progress on the indicators to date (January 
2020) is positive, with a shift in all indicator 
areas apart from diabetes treat to target and 
hypertension treat to target.
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Indicator CCG

Target Baseline Jan 2020

Jan 2020 
change 
from 
baseline

Targeted prevention of 
long term conditions

AF prevalence (16+) Increase March 2019 2.0% 2.1% 0.1%

COPD prevalence (16+) Increase March 2019 2.4% 2.5% 0%

High risk of diabetes 
prevalence (16+)

Increase July 2019 9.5% 10.1% 0.6%

Hypertension prevalence (16+) Increase March 2019 15.1% 15.5% 0.4%

Better management of 
long term conditions

AF high risk patients on 
treatment (CHAD >=1)

85% July 2019 89.7% 91.2% 1.5%

CVD risk >20% on treatment 
(Atorvastatin)

75% July 2019 33% 40.3% 7.4%

CVD risk >20% with CCSP 
or annual review in the last 
12 months

Increase July 2019 27.9% 37.2% 9.4%

High risk of diabetes with 
CCSP or annual review in the 
last 12 months

Increase July 2019 41.3% 48% 6.7%

High risk of diabetes with 
NDPP referral/decline or 
lifestyle intervention in the last 
12 months

Increase July 2019 61.1% 61.4% 0.3%

Patients treated to all three 
diabetic treatment targets

40% July 2019 32.9% 31.9% -0.9%

Hypertension patients treated 
to age target

57.3% July 2019 52.3% 51.9% -0.5%

COPD patients with CCSP 
or annual review in the last 
12 months

Increase July 2019 62.5% 72.1% 9.7%

Heart failure patients with 
CCSP or annual review in the 
last 12 months

Increase July 2019 57% 65.3% 8.3%

Moderately frail

Patients with CCSP or annual 
review in the last 12 months

60% July 2019 61.3% 69.8% 8.5%

Patients with eSCR Increase July 2019 28% 35.2% 7.2%

SMI
Patients receiving an SMI 
health check

60% Sept 2019 0.3% 21% 20.6%

LD
LD register annual health 
check in the last 12 months

75% Aug 2019 34.3% 49.8% 15.4%
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Equitable funding review

Following a review of primary care funding 
allocations and a commitment to reinvest 
personal medical services (PMS) monies into 
general practice, the CCG developed a local 
funding structure to enable practices to tackle 
some of the health inequalities in their local 
population. The scheme aimed to support the 
joint health and wellbeing priorities of the city 
and included a focus on:

• Increasing the recording of ethnicity and first 
spoken language in health care records

• Developing plans to improve processes and 
procedures that support BME and non-English 
speaking populations

• Increasing appropriate use of translation 
services

• Improving access for patients whose first 
language is not English

• Improving recording of smoking status and 
support patients to quit

• Reviewing support offered to patients who 
have been newly diagnosed with cancer, 
encourage patients to make contact as needed

• Reviewing all local cancer two week wait 
referral pathway protocols and demonstrate 
compliance

The objective of the scheme was to highlight to 
primary care the role they can play in addressing 
some of the biggest health inequalities in the 
city. The scheme allowed primary care working 
practices to improve with significant changes 
seen in the recording of patient ethnicity 
(increased from 90% to 96%) and First Spoken 
Language (from 80.54% to 89%).

Establishment of PCNs - progress on workforce

The NHS Long Term Plan, published in January 
2019, set out the strategic direction for the next 
five years. This was supported by a five year GP 
contract agreement, Investment and Evolution. 
This agreement set out the establishment 
of primary care networks (PCNs) with seven 
associated service specifications proposed that 
seek to deliver better outcomes for specific 

groups of patients, implemented in a phased 
approach.

Practices were required to form local PCNs based 
on geographical populations of 30-50,000 by 
1 July 2019. Leeds was well placed to respond 
to this due to historic locality working amongst 
practices; however some realignment took place 
resulting in 19 PCNs being formed. The focus for 
PCNs in 2019 was to establish formal structures 
and working relationships required to manage 
the new responsibilities and funding available.

Since July 2019 PCNs have had access to national 
funding delegated to CCGs to employ additional 
workforce, whose remit is to work across the 
PCN practices aligned to the associated service 
specifications. In 2019 PCNs have been able 
to access funding to employ social prescribers 
and clinical pharmacists. Due to delays to the 
guidance being published and recruitment 
processes, most PCNs did not begin to employ 
their additional roles until the latter part of the 
year.

As of 1 March 2020, 12.39 whole time equivalent 
(WTE) pharmacists and 12 WTE social prescribers 
have been recruited across Leeds. There are a 
number of PCNs who have appointed further 
roles from 1 April 2020. We look forward to 
seeing an increase in primary care workforce 
and the benefits that a broader multi-disciplinary 
workforce can deliver.

Child and family health and wellbeing hubs

The CCG has continued to work with stakeholders 
across health and social care systems to explore 
how we can support the “left shift” - essentially 
how we move clinically appropriate care and 
treatment for patients from hospitals into the 
community. The intention is that this will lead to 
better health and wellbeing, better quality of care 
as well as sustainable and efficient service. We’re 
using population health management principles 
to improve the care we provide for children and 
families in the community, starting with pioneer 
areas in Pudsey / Bramley and Chapeltown. This 
has included linking with other organisations, 
testing multi-disciplinary and multi-organisational 
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case discussions, implementing new advice and 
guidance processes and providing secondary 
care paediatric clinics with GPs in primary care 
settings. The learning from these pioneer areas 
will be rolled out as appropriate to other areas 
through 2020-21.

Medicines commissioning

The Medicines Commissioning team continue to 
work closely with all commissioners and providers 
within the CCG, primary care, secondary care 
and the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health 
and Care Partnership to ensure medicines are at 
the forefront of discussions. The team supports 
a collaborative approach to the commissioning 
of new services and pathways to maximise the 
clinical outcomes for patients. The emphasis is on 
safety and cost effectiveness, aiming to optimise 
the care and use of medicines across both the 
city and West Yorkshire and Harrogate health 
economies.

The team ensures that medicines are 
commissioned safely and effectively through 
active participation at clinical working groups and 
other CCG, citywide and health care professional 
meetings, as well as representing the CCG at a 
number of local, regional and national medicine-
related meetings and seminars.

The team have strengthened close working 
relationships with colleagues and teams across 
the CCG and Leeds health economy to ensure 
medicines are considered at the planning stages 
of any pathway, service design or redesign to 
identify what expert medicines support is needed 
on both a strategic and operational level.

Example projects over the past 12 months 
include:

Introduction / review of biosimilar products

The team have continued to work closely with 
both the LTHT pharmacy procurement team 
and clinicians to ensure the timely, effective and 
safe introduction of biosimilars into the Leeds 
health economy. This work continues to result in 
significant cost savings.

Mental Health Medicines Optimisation Liaison 
Service (MOLS)

The team has worked closely with our mental 
health colleagues to commission the Mental 
Health Medicines Optimisation Liaison Service. 
The MOLS team are successfully integrated in 
two primary care networks, and plans are in 
place to recruit more staff to the team. The MOLs 
team are continuing with the important work 
streams regarding the use of medicines in mental 
health, such as the STOMP project (stopping 
the over-medication of people with learning 
disability and/or autism) and the newer scheme 
STAMP (supporting treatment and appropriate 
medication in paediatrics). This will improve 
patient outcomes across the mental health 
population of Leeds.

Reduction in the over use of opioids for the 
management of non-cancer pain

The team have supported the collaborative 
development of an analgesia pathway to support 
primary care, including a more detailed section 
on opioid initiation, to help reduce the overuse 
of opioids for the management of non-cancer 
pain. Plans are in place to recruit a chronic pain 
specialist pharmacist and psychologist to support 
patients in primary care to access earlier intensive 
support to step down their high dose opioids and 
improve links between community, secondary, 
primary care and third sector services to further 
support patients with opioid addiction.

Virtual frailty ward

Collaborative working between the CCG and 
all providers has resulted in the successful 
integration of a medicines optimisation team 
member in to the wider virtual frailty and 
neighbourhood community teams. A city-wide 
pharmacy workforce SystmOne template was 
produced to support cross-sector working and 
improved communication of medication changes 
at the point of transfer of care.

Changes in the dressing supply across Leeds

In previous years GP practices were able to order 
direct and receive a small supply of formulary 
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dressings to use in their bases. For the last two 
years, the Medicines Commissioning team has 
supported the same direct dressing supply to 
LCH teams, community care beds and integrated 
wound clinics to ensure a consistent approach to 
dressings supply. Additional benefits have been 
improved adherence to the wound formulary, 
reduced dressing waste and reduced time spent 
requesting prescriptions from GP practices or 
community pharmacies. This change will see 
expected savings of approximately £700k for this 
financial year.

Joint wound formulary

As well as changing the supply of dressing, the 
team supported the review of the dressings 
choice guidance and were able to develop a 
joint wound formulary across both primary and 
secondary care. This has resulted in a closer 
working relationship with our acute trust to 
review any future formulary changes, ensuring 
consistency with the supply of dressings from 
discharge into primary care and supporting 
improved quality and cost effectiveness across 
the city.

Amber drugs audit

The team have worked continuously to support 
GP practices with amber drug audits. They have 
redesigned the amber drugs audit for 2020-21 
to enable the team to run searches centrally, 
providing assurance that necessary monitoring 
has been performed, and giving more accurate 
information to continually improve patient safety.

Inhaler check service

The inhaler check service, commissioned through 
Community Pharmacy West Yorkshire, is aimed 
at helping people with asthma or chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) to use their 
inhalers more effectively and so better manage 
their symptoms. This service is now offered at 
over 50 community pharmacies across the city 
and over 600 reviews have been carried out to 
date.

Pharmacy First

The Pharmacy First service has been 
commissioned through Community Pharmacy 
West Yorkshire to provide patients with rapid 
access to a pharmacist who can give self-care 
advice on a range of minor ailments, releasing 
capacity in general practice and providing an 
appropriate alternative to the use of general 
practice, A&E, out of hours or urgent care. Data 
shows that since the Pharmacy First service was 
implemented, over 13,000 GP appointments and 
900 visits to A&E have been avoided.

Development of new services within primary 
care

 The Medicines Safety team has worked closely 
with the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning 
team to develop a new GP service for patients in 
interim accommodation, enabling a vulnerable 
group of patients who are not currently 
registered with a practice to access necessary 
healthcare and treatments/medications.

Managing medication related risks

The Medicines Safety team have also worked 
with colleagues across the city’s health and care 
system to identify, record and take actions to 
reduce the risks associated with medicines use, 
sharing learning from incidents through the 
development of ‘safety snippets’ and the new 
‘Quality and Safety Matters’ newsletter.

Development of care home medication policy 
template

The team have also produced guidance to 
enable care homes to produce and review their 
medication policies annually incorporating local 
and national guidance as well as good practice. 
The policy template will standardise policies 
across Leeds care homes and sets out the 
minimum requirements that are expected to be 
covered by the provider’s medication policy.

Collaborative working with the West Yorkshire 
and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership

Freestyle Libre joint commissioning policy - 
Freestyle Libre (FSL) is a sensor based system that 
continually measures glucose levels that became 
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available on NHS prescription in November 2017 
for the management of Type 1 diabetes. In March 
2019 NHSEI published guidance entitled “Flash 
Glucose Monitoring: National Arrangements 
for Funding of Relevant Diabetes Patients.” The 
Medicines Commissioning team worked with 
neighbouring CCGs and their diabetes teams 
across the West Yorkshire and Harrogate ICS 
footprint to produce a joint ICS commissioning 
policy reflecting the national guidance. The 
team has also recently supported the transfer of 
prescribing from the acute trust to primary care 
colleagues in a coordinated approach.

The West Yorkshire and Harrogate ICS Area 
Prescribing Committee (ICS APC): The ICS 
APC has been formed by a merger of Leeds Area 
Prescribing Committee (LAPC) and the South 
West Yorkshire APC, to provide an effective 
and efficient way of sharing and collaborating 
with commissioners, trusts and providers across 
the West Yorkshire and Harrogate footprint. 
This is a multidisciplinary group who will work 
collaboratively to share best practice and 
expertise, working together to agree a joint 
approach to the safe and effective prescribing 
of medicines, shared prescribing guidance and 
ensuring medicines expertise is embedded within 
all ICS work programmes. The committee will 
take into account when making decisions: patient 
safety, clinical and cost effectiveness, resource 
impact, strength of evidence, national guidance, 
local health priorities and stakeholder views. 
The ambition of the committee is to have shared 
decision-making with standardised guidelines 
and policies for the population of WY&H ICS, 
improving the health and care for our population, 
on a ‘do once and share’ basis. The Leeds APC 
continues to run in tandem with the ICS APC until 
the ICS APC is fully operational.

Medicines Safety Group: The CCG medicines 
safety officer currently chairs the medicines safety 
exchange meeting in Leeds. The meeting allows 
provider organisations in the city to share learning 
from local medicines incidents, design and share 
tools and communications to improve medication 
safety, and work together to implement actions 

identified through MHRA drug safety alerts. 
Work has been undertaken to merge the local 
meeting onto a West Yorkshire and Harrogate 
ICS footprint, which will seek opportunities for 
further collaboration and minimise duplication 
across a much larger number of providers. 
The group will make recommendations to the 
new West Yorkshire and Harrogate ICS Area 
Prescribing Committee.

1.2.8 Performance in mental health

Leeds is a city that values people’s mental 
wellbeing equally with their physical health. Our 
shared ambition is for people to be confident that 
others will respond to our mental health needs 
without prejudice or discrimination and with 
a positive and hopeful approach to our future 
recovery, wellbeing and ability.

Mental health strategy

2019 saw a significant amount of work 
undertaken to reconfigure and redesign mental 
health services in Leeds, as well as develop a new 
mental health strategy for Leeds.

After an in-depth engagement exercise the CCG 
procured a new city-wide primary care mental 
health service. We awarded a five year contract to 
Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust, who will 
be working with seven other local organisations 
to deliver the service.

The new Leeds Mental Wellbeing Service (www.
leedsmentalwellbeingservice.co.uk) was launched 
on 1 November 2019. It represents an exciting 
and innovative approach to delivering primary 
care mental health support in Leeds and will 
enable delivery of key national policy directives, 
including a trajectory towards meeting the 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(IAPT) access standards.

The new service has also been designed to meet 
the needs of the adult population of Leeds and 
will be co-located within primary care. This builds 
upon the success of the Leeds primary care liaison 
pilots, with the new service providing city-wide 
coverage of primary care mental health support.
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The new service will also provide psychological 
and peer support for people with common 
mental health disorders in the perinatal period 
and their partners. In addition, it will focus on 
improving access, increasing access to digital 
therapies and tackling health inequalities.

Work has been underway to develop plans 
to implement IAPT long term conditions and 
medically unexplained symptoms pathway. 
The diabetes pathway is due to be piloted over 
the next few months. The new service model 
is continuing to embed, and an evaluation 
framework is currently being designed to measure 
the impact and benefits of the new model.

A new service called Live Well Leeds 
(livewellleeds.org.uk) was also launched in April 
2019, funded by Leeds City Council and the CCG. 
Live Well Leeds provides support for people with 
mild to moderate support needs to manage and 
or recover from mental health problems. The 
service offers a range of services that include 
one-to-one support, group support, befriending, 
volunteering, social groups and wellbeing 
activities.

Also in April last year, Leeds and York Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust (LYPFT) redesigned a 
number of their community mental health 
services. The key changes to services were 
the launch of a new model for providing crisis 
support services to working age adults and older 
people in crisis outside of normal working hours. 
How community mental health teams (CMHTs) 
operate was also redesigned. As part of the 
changes and to improve the support available, 
the all age CMHTs were restructured to create 
one for working age adults and another for 
older people’s intensive home support. More 
information about the changes is available at 
www.leedsandyorkpft.nhs.uk/get-involved/
community-mental-health

Work is ongoing to continue to evaluate the 
impact of the community redesign changes, and 
develop further recommendations for further 
development.

In addition, LYPFT launched a recovery college in 
collaboration with partners. The college offers 
educational and training courses that focus 
on living mentally and physically well. Courses 
have proven to be very successful and will 
continue to be delivered and developed when 
current coronavirus restrictions are lifted. In the 
meantime, people can access online courses.  
You can find out more about the recovery at 
www.leedsandyorkpft.nhs.uk/advice-support/
leeds-recovery-college

A mental health crisis summit in February 2020 
explored issues around access to, and quality of, 
crisis support in Leeds, including key themes that 
had been highlighted in a Healthwatch report. 
The summit was well attended, and a number of 
actions have been identified. The CCG will play 
a key role in helping deliver these actions during 
2020-21.

The year saw significant increased investment into 
the Leeds specialist community perinatal mental 
health support service, which has enabled the 
team and service to expand. This is in line with 
NHS Long Term Plan expectations to increase the 
numbers of women accessing perinatal mental 
health support. Further expansion of the service 
and increased access to it will be a key focus 
during 2020-21.

The CCG has also had a significant level of 
involvement in the development of the new 
mental health strategy for Leeds, including 
engagement. The final version of the strategy 
has been signed off by the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, and plans are being made to implement 
and monitor it.

Priorities for 2020-21

Looking ahead, a key priority will be planning 
and delivery actions to achieve NHS Long Term 
Plan ambitions and implement our mental health 
strategy objectives.

Work to transform community mental health 
services will continue, including reducing out 
of area acute placements to zero by April 2021. 
We’re also planning to review the mental health 

https://livewellleeds.org.uk/
https://www.leedsandyorkpft.nhs.uk/get-involved/community-mental-health/
https://www.leedsandyorkpft.nhs.uk/get-involved/community-mental-health/
https://www.leedsandyorkpft.nhs.uk/advice-support/leeds-recovery-college/
https://www.leedsandyorkpft.nhs.uk/advice-support/leeds-recovery-college/
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crisis and urgent care pathway. Together with 
Leeds City Council, we’ll be reviewing community 
support mental health contracts. This will include 
engaging with stakeholders, including providers, 
service users and carers, to help co-design a 
future approach.

In 2019, the CCG was awarded national mental 
health transformation funding to develop 
improved support for young people with 
personality disorder to access CMHTs, and also 
to improve the community crisis offer to meet 
national standards. LYPFT will use this funding to 
improve service provision during 2020.

We’ll also be looking at commissioning a new 
crisis house to act as a safe haven alternative 
to hospital admission for those experiencing a 
mental health crisis, and in turn, reduce pressure 
on inpatient beds.

We’ll be working with primary care to improve 
health and care for people with serious mental 
illness (SMI). This will include developing an SMI 
physical health workplan, which will include 
improving physical health checks for people 
with SMI and follow up interventions. Work is 
also planned to improve the interface between 
primary care and secondary care mental health 
services.

Dementia

During the past year, we have worked with our 
provider services to continue to improve dementia 
diagnosis rates. This now stands at 75%, which is 
significantly higher than the national NHSEI target 
of 66.7%.

We have invested in a joint dementia transition 
fund with Leeds City Council. This supports 20 
people every three months to leave hospital or 
avoid an admission. We have also embarked 
on a programme with the council to develop 
specialist dementia care beds and purpose-built 
accommodation.

We continue to fund a dedicated black and 
minority ethnic (BAME) dementia support worker 
through Touchstone Leeds.

Learning disability and autism

We have continued to focus on the Transforming 
Care Partnership (TCP) and have renewed our 
commitment to prevent inappropriate admissions, 
reduce length of stay in inpatient settings and 
provide support closer to home for people 
who have a learning disability, autism or both 
and require support for mental health issues or 
behaviours which services can find difficult to 
support.3

This is being addressed in a number of ways 
including:

Working with partners across West Yorkshire 
and Harrogate

While Leeds partners, including LYPFT and Leeds 
City Council, continue to work together to meet 
the needs of Leeds citizens, the Transforming 
Care Partnership has altered to be more reflective 
of the size of partnerships nationally. Leeds is 
therefore now part of the West Yorkshire TCP. 
This shift supports work which is more beneficial 
on a wider geographical area.

Care and treatment reviews

The CCG has completed 50 care and treatment 
reviews in inpatient settings, six within the 
community and 27 community care, education 
and treatment reviews. In addition there have 
been 11 adult and 13 young people’s care and 
treatment reviews for people under the care 
of NHSEI in specialist commissioning. This has 
resulted in many people being discharged from 
hospital into a new home and some people 
avoiding inappropriate hospital admission by 
receiving better care in the community. Where 
people have needed to stay in hospital, plans 
are made to improve quality of life, including 
numerous cases where people’s medication 
has been reduced or stopped, in line with the 
STOMP agenda (stopping over-medicating people 
with a learning disability). The STOMP agenda 
is routinely explored in each care and treatment 
review to promote awareness of overmedication 
of people who have a learning disability.

3  Please see the section that follows on children’s mental health for an update on our work with children and young people 
with learning disabilities and / or autism that also forms part of the TCP
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Enhanced community capacity

The shift away from traditional pathways of care, 
involving people moving from secure services, 
to locked rehabilitation settings before settling 
into the community, has been supported by the 
continued development and implementation of

Forensic Outreach Liaison Service - this 
new service has been introduced across West 
Yorkshire to provide specialist community care for 
people who have a history of offending.

Community support register (CSR) - we 
continue to work with LYPFT to review people 
identified as requiring early intervention and 
additional support where they currently live in 
order to prevent unnecessary admission to an 
inpatient setting.

Intensive Support Team (IST) - this team has 
been established to provide intensive support 
to the people identified on the community 
support register and those caring for them to. 
This is preventing people from being admitted 
to inpatient settings and out of area placements. 
The IST is also working with people stepping 
down from specialist commissioning back to 
the community. This is reducing their length 
of stay in inpatient placements and preventing 
readmissions.

Market development - there aren’t enough 
providers in Leeds to meet the needs of people 
who have a learning disability, autism or both. 
This can result in hospital admissions and 
placements out of area. To address this, we 
have worked with Leeds City Council to attract 
additional, high quality providers into the area 
who are able to offer bespoke care for people 
who have highly specialised needs. Twelve 
new developments, with ten care and support 
providers, six of whom are new to Leeds, will be 
opening in 2020-21. These new developments 
will provide 121 beds, 109 with supported living 
and 12 with residential care. Eight of the new 
developments can support people with mental 
health and autism needs who may also have a 
history of offending; eleven can offer support to 
those on the Transforming Care Programme.

The new developments will support people 
with a range of complex needs. This will reduce 
the number of people in inpatient settings 
and provide care closer to home. The CCG will 
continue to identify gaps in the market and 
source appropriate providers to support Leeds 
citizens.

Future plans for the TCP

Autism - we recognise that there are gaps in 
mental health services for people with autism. 
We are working with LYPFT to identify and 
address these gaps. In addition, plans continue to 
open a new service in Leeds for those who need 
highly bespoke environments to enable them to 
move back to the community. It will also provide 
short-term stays for people who need extra help 
as an alternative to hospital.

Assessment and treatment unit - we are 
working with local CCGs, councils and NHS 
trusts to review what assessment and treatment 
resources are required across the region to meet 
the needs of people and to provide the right 
care, at the right time in the right place. This will 
reduce inappropriate admissions, reduce length 
of stay in inpatient settings and provide care for 
people as close to home as possible.

Safe Space - we are currently working with 
NHS Bradford District and Craven CCG to explore 
a new service and model of care to support 
people who need more intensive support than 
can be provided in the community but does 
not require an inpatient admission. This could 
provide short periods of focused care in a safe 
environment when people are not able to remain 
in their current home and prevent inappropriate 
admission to inpatient settings or out of area 
placements.

Personal health budgets

Personal health budgets (PHB) allow those eligible 
to manage their healthcare and support in a way 
that best suits them. This gives people greater 
choice, flexibility and control, which can result 
in improved quality of life and psychological 
wellbeing as support is highly individualised. 
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PHBs are already in place for people receiving 
continuing health care, and the CCG is working 
with Leeds City Council to make sure that 
everyone eligible has one, including those 
receiving Section 117 funding. This will enable 
people to tailor their care and support to meet 
their specific needs, which could help prevent 
readmission to inpatient settings.

Annual health checks

The CCG want to ensure that Leeds is a place 
where people who have a learning disability 
are supported to meet all their health needs. 
We work with local partners to increase our 
understanding about who has a learning disability 
and to provide support to GP practices to 
increase the number and quality of annual health 
checks. A quality incentive scheme encourages 
GP practices to work with the Health Facilitation 
Team to develop skills in identifying and recording 
people who have a learning disability, implement 
reasonable adjustments and complete quality 
annual health check and health action plans.

To further increase the uptake of annual health 
checks, we’re working with partners, including 
the third sector, Health Facilitation Team and 
NHSEI, to hold a local event next year. It will 
aim to increase understanding with people who 
have a learning disability and those supporting 
them about the benefits of being included on GP 
registers and having annual health check.

Learning Disability Partnership Board Health 
Task Group

The CCG continues to co-chair the Health 
Task Group with a person who has a learning 
disability. The Health Task Group is made up of 
local partners across health and social care and 
the third sector (including local self-advocacy 
groups for people who have a learning disability 
and carers). The group work together on the 
issues identified within Leeds Learning Disability 
Partnership Board Strategy to improve the health 
outcomes of Leeds citizens. In doing so, the CCG 
is ensuring that experts by experience are helping 
to identify gaps in services and the ways of 
addressing these.

Children’s mental health

Crisis support

Mental health crisis support needed to improve 
for children and young people in Leeds. All too 
often the only place to go when a child was in 
crisis was to the emergency department, which 
in the majority of cases is not the best place. 
Young people made it clear they want to be seen 
in a safe, non-clinical place whenever possible. 
Local and national drivers promote the need 
for ensuring that appropriate 24/7 support is 
available to children, young people and their 
families.

Teen Connect, is our commissioned confidential 
online/phone emotional support for young 
people aged 13-18 (and their parents), who are 
experiencing mental health crisis, first launched 
in June 2018. From April 2020 the offer begins at 
age 11 in recognition of the key impact transition 
to secondary school can have on mental health.

This year we successfully submitted a bid to 
NHSEI for non-recurrent winter funds to test 
out extending the availability of the service to 
commence immediately after school. Previously it 
started at 6pm. In February 2019 Teen Connect 
opened their phone lines from 3.30pm. The 
service is now available Monday to Friday 
3.30pm-2am and Saturday-Sunday 6pm-2am. This 
was informed by feedback from Youth Watch 
(young people’s feedback forum for services), 
callers, parents and schools.

In 2019 we commissioned The Market Place to 
test out a safe space provision in the city centre, 
building on their drop in and counselling model 
of support. In November 2019 Leeds Survivor-led 
Crisis, in partnership with The Market Place, was 
awarded the contract to deliver a safe non clinical 
space for children and young people experiencing 
mental health crisis, on three nights a week. The 
service, known as Safe Zone, will be launched in 
April 2020.

Following the successful bid for West Yorkshire 
New Care Models (NCM) money for community 
CAMHS to develop a dedicated crisis team 
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(in normal working hours), additional funding 
was secured from the CCG for the service to 
be extended to 7 days a week until midnight. 
Recruitment of staff for the community CAMHS 
crisis team and moving some of the crisis work 
from community CAMHS commenced in 2019.
The service will formally launch in April 2020.

Leeds CAMHS crisis service

Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust is the 
lead CAMHS provider for the West Yorkshire 
New Care Models (NCM) 2-year pilot, which 
commenced in April 2018. This programme has 
evidenced a reduction in admissions and length 
of stay in CAMHS beds and the expenditure 
gains retained by the provider partnership have 
been reinvested in improving community CAMHS 
services.

For Leeds this created funds to support the 
creation of a dedicated community CAMHS crisis 
team, though only within normal working hours. 
Our 2019 commissioning intention created the 
resource to expand the hours to 7 days a week 
until midnight. It has taken time to recruit all the 
staff to deliver this service, but it is now complete 
and in April 2020 the service will formally launch. 
The service model is peripatetic and will support 
children and young people where they are (e.g. 
Safe Zone, children’s home, school/college, and 
so on).

The new West Yorkshire purpose-built specialist 
community CAMHS unit is being built in Leeds 
(due to complete in September 2021). The unit 
will provide 18 specialist places and six psychiatric 
intensive care unit (PICU) beds. The unit will 
support young people from across West Yorkshire 
suffering from complex mental illness, such as 
severe personality disorders and eating disorders. 
Within the estate is the design for a Section 136 
unit, which in the first instance will be for Leeds 
young people and is seen as integral to the Leeds 
crisis offer for children and young people.

Calm Harm is a UK developed app, designed 
for adolescents, that provides tasks to help 
teenagers resist or manage the urge to self-harm, 
using an evidence-based therapy approach called 
Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT). This year 
public health colleagues funded the adaptation 
of the app for Leeds to incorporate MindMate 
imagery and a direct link to the MindMate 
website for further information and advice.

School cluster procurement

NHSEI has mandated that all CCGs fund mental 
health services to report directly (flow) into the 
national mental health services data set. We 
have been working with current providers to 
implement data flow solutions to inform the new 
model.

The CCG has worked closely with school clusters 
and partners in the Future in Mind: Leeds system 
to create a new commissioning and service model 
to ensure that there is a formal commissioning 
or contracting relationship with the providers of 
the newly commissioned social, emotional and 
mental health (SEMH) cluster service.

A service specification was developed alongside 
targeted service leads/cluster managers and a 
procurement exercise undertaken in January/
February 2020 to select a number of providers 
onto a provider framework through which each 
cluster will draw down specialist mental health 
resource into their teams. The new model will 
commence in September 2020.

Mental health support teams

 In July 2019, we were successful in a bid to take 
part in the next wave of children and young 
people mental health trailblazers and implement 
the proposals for new mental health support 
teams (MHST) in educational settings as set out 
in the Children and Young People Mental Health 
Green Paper and Longterm Plan for the NHS. The 
focus of the Leeds bid was to create MHST for 
further educational colleges. This service will be 
known as MindMate Space and recruitment to 
the team is well underway.
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Children and young people with learning 
disabilities and / or autism

We have implemented a community support 
record (CSR), enabling multi-agency practitioners 
to assess the risk of admission for children and 
young people with a learning difficulty and or a 
diagnosis of autism. The CSR allows us to work 
more effectively with our partners to support this 
group of children and young people meaning in 
the future their needs are met in the community 
and we reduce the number of children admitted 
into tier four CAMHs inpatient provision.

Together with Leeds City Council, we have also 
jointly commissioned an Intensive Positive 
Behaviour Service (IPBS) for children and young 
people with learning disabilities, and/or autism, 
alongside behavioural challenges. This is funded 
on an ‘invest to save’ model and launched in 
February 2019. The IPBS works intensively with 
children and families (and their schools) to enable 
children to remain with their families and in their 
local communities. This improves experience and 
outcomes for children and young people and 
reduces the risk of admission to a CAMHS bed, or 
residential educational setting.

During the year, we carried out five care, 
education and treatment reviews (CETRs) in 
the community and participated in four inpatient 
CETRs which resulted in all but one person being 
discharged back to the community. We work with 
partners to ensure that, where possible, existing 
reviews and teams around the child structures 
are used to support children and young people to 
remain in the community. We ensure that in line 
with the supporting treatment and appropriate 
medication in paediatrics (STAMP) programme, 
a review of medication is carried out as a part of 
reviews.

1.2.9 Performance in planned care: cancer

Bowel cancer screening

The NHS in Leeds has recently achieved and 
surpassed its 60% bowel cancer screening target 
set by NHSEI. Currently the uptake of the national 
bowel screening test is 62.2% for people aged 
60-69, and 63.5% for those aged 70-74. Bowel 
cancer is the second most common cause of 
cancer deaths in the UK with more than 16,000 
dying each year across the country.

To detect cases of bowel cancer sooner, all 
men and women in the UK aged 60 to 74 are 
invited to complete a home screening kit every 
two years. This is used to detect blood in stool 
samples which then prompts further tests. 
Monitoring of people completing their screening 
test in Leeds has shown a vast inequality across 
the city, although recent actions have improved 
this picture (see section 1.2.6)

To improve rates of bowel cancer being detected 
sooner, health and care organisations across 
Leeds have worked together to create a bowel 
screening champions programme. Leeds City 
Council (public health) working together with 
Cancer Research UK have supported 50 GP 
practices to identify their own in-house bowel 
screening champion and provided education and 
resources to enable the champion to promote 
engagement within their practice populations. 
The continued efforts and dedication of the 50 
bowel screening champions, alongside all the 
other practices in Leeds, has been a key factor 
in enabling Leeds to achieve and surpass 60% 
compliance, the national target for patients 
completing their screening tests (aged 60 - 74) 
and now exceeding that target to currently reach 
62.2% for age range 60 - 69, and 63.5 for the 
upper age of 70 - 74.

Leeds Cancer Programme

The Leeds Cancer Programme has been 
delivering its third year of collaborative working 
to implement its city-wide partnership strategy 
to help to improve cancer services across Leeds. 
Created as a dynamic partnership between the 
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NHS in Leeds, Macmillan Cancer Support and 
Leeds City Council, the programme also works 
with delivery partners Yorkshire Cancer Research, 
Cancer Research UK and Leeds Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust. This collaboration of staff 
from across NHS providers and commissioning, 
Public Health, cancer charities and voluntary 
sector organisations is an example of system 
integration at its best, where partners are signed 
up to a dynamic shared vision of an ambition to 
improve cancer care and outcomes for the people 
of Leeds with an understanding of how each 
part of the system contributes and their role in 
delivery.

A core team of staff embedded within the 
CCG and with delivery partners have been 
instrumental in joining up organisations and 
services to ensure that cancer prevention, 
treatment, care and services are transformed at 
scale ensuring the integration of cancer pathways 
for our patients.

Over the last year, the Leeds Cancer Programme 
has delivered projects including the Leeds 
Teledermatology service for suspected skin cancer 
patients, which has now been in place for over a 
year. Over the last year, the outcomes have been 
extremely positive and the service continues to 
evolve with further refinements being made. 
During the last year 8,927 two week-wait skin 
referrals have been received by Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust from across the city; 
5,798 patients (65%) have been appointed to 
a Teledermatology Triage Clinic; All patients 
appointed to triage are assessed with 48 working 
hours improving ‘cancer waiting time first seen 
performance’.

The Accelerate, Coordinate, Evaluate, (ACE) 
project has also gone from strength to strength 
over the past year, with 1124 referrals being made 
into the ACE pathway for non-specific but serious 
symptoms resulting in 66 cancer diagnoses and 
309 serious conditions detected. Outcomes and 
learning from ACE are now being used to inform 
the implementation and delivery of the national 
ambition as set out in the NHS Long Term Plan 

around Rapid Diagnostics focused on achieving 
improved outcomes for people diagnosed with 
cancer.

In April 2019 we worked across primary and 
secondary care to implement the new Faecal 
Immunochemical Test, (FIT), to exclude colorectal 
cancer in symptomatic patients. Over the last 
year, 2639 FIT tests have been requested, 
detecting 47 cases of cancer, 1.78% of all 
patients tested.

Over the past year in Leeds, much activity has 
been centred within general practices meeting 
their national screening targets for breast, bowel 
and cervical cancers. Following on from the 
achievements of the implementation of primary 
care screening champions, the CCG reached 
and surpassed the 60% national completion 
target for patients aged 60-74 completing their 
home test kit. Alongside this, the Leeds Cancer 
Programme has worked with Leeds City Council 
and the CCG to develop ‘Cancer Wise Leeds’. By 
securing £2m of funding from Yorkshire Cancer 
Research during 2019 lead delivery partner Leeds 
City Council, (Public Health) have been working 
at a primary care network level in leeds to start 
to develop local community led solutions to 
drive uptake in screening rates across all national 
screening programmes and raise awareness with 
communities around signs and symptoms of 
cancer. Cancer Wise will be rolled out across all 
PCNs across Leeds over the next 2 years.

In this past year colleagues from Leeds Cancer 
Programme working closely with Leeds 
Community Healthcare NHS Trust have been 
establishing a Community Cancer Support Service 
to start in April 2020 initially in a few areas of 
Leeds. Partner organisations have also been 
successful in securing additional funding from 
Macmillan ‘Right by You’ to expand the service 
across three further primary care networks in 
Leeds for two years. This service will support 
people in community at the point of a cancer 
diagnosis.
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1.2.10 Equality and diversity

The Equality Act 2010 introduced a Public 
Sector Equality Duty, which requires us to 
pay due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 
advance equality of opportunity; and foster 
good relations between people with one or 
more protected characteristics, both in relation 
to our commissioning responsibilities and our 
workforce. The protected characteristics are age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership (only with regards to eliminate 
discrimination), pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. In 
addition we have to publish equality information 
annually, demonstrating how we have met the 
general public sector equality duty with regard to 
both our workforce and the population we serve, 
and prepare and publish one or more equality 
objectives at least every four years.

We know Leeds is a very diverse city and 
recognise that due to a range of dimensions, 
including personal characteristics; lifestyle factors; 
social networks; living and working conditions; 
and socio-economic and environmental 
conditions some communities experience health 
inequalities. Health inequalities are differences 
in health between people or groups of people. 
We also know that for some people or groups of 
people their experience of healthcare and ability 
to access healthcare could be improved.

We aim to work together locally to achieve the 
best health and care in all our communities, 
reduce health inequalities and improve patient 
experience and access to healthcare. In doing 
so, we make sure that equality, diversity and 
inclusion are a priority when designing, planning 
and commissioning local healthcare and respect 
the voices of the diverse communities we serve.

One of the ways we do this is through proactive 
engagement, involvement and consultation with 
communities across Leeds, service users and 
carers. We also work closely with our voluntary 
sector partners to ensure we engage/involve 

all our diverse, seldom heard communities and 
other vulnerable groups when we are planning, 
designing, and commissioning healthcare services.

We value and respect our staff, aspire to be 
an inclusive employer of choice and to create 
a workforce that is broadly representative of 
the population of Leeds. We also aim to attract 
and develop a flexible, dynamic and responsive 
workforce who can lead and support the health 
and care system.

NHS Equality Delivery System 2

The NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) 
is a performance framework that helps NHS 
organisations to improve the services they 
commission or provide for their local communities, 
consider health inequalities in their locality and 
provide better working environments, free of 
discrimination, for those who work in the NHS.

NHS organisations are required to assess and 
grade their equality progress using the NHS EDS2. 
The involvement of key stakeholders, representing 
the interests of our diverse communities, is an 
essential element of this.

We continue to work in partnership with our 
NHS provider trusts and have a city wide strategy 
to engagement and assessment associated with 
EDS2 and a joint panel of “trusted partners” 
who assist us with this process each year. Our 
city wide panel of trusted partners consists of 
representatives from voluntary sector organisation 
for and led by protected characteristic groups 
(Healthwatch Leeds, Voluntary Action Leeds, 
Leeds Involving People, Forum Central) and Leeds 
City Council.

During our annual assessment and engagement 
events, where evidence for EDS2 is presented, 
our panel of trusted partners, who attend as 
representatives of all diverse communities in 
Leeds, proactively and constructively provide 
challenge in relation to groups protected by the 
Equality Act 2010, vulnerable and seldom heard 
groups and subsequently help identify gaps/areas 
for improvement.
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We act on the gaps and areas for improvement 
identified during our annual engagement 
and assessment events and provide annual 
performance updates on actions we have taken. 
For example at our EDS2 engagement and 
assessment workshop in December 2019, we 
provided an update on the work we had done in 
relation to goal one, “better health outcomes for 
all.” For goal two, “improved patient access and 
experience,” we showcased the work we have 
done in relation to community mental health 
services, in partnership with the provider trusts’ 
patient experience.

Equality objectives

During 2019-20 we have continued to work 
towards our equality objectives 2017-2020:

• To improve the collection, analysis and use of 
equality data and monitoring for protected 
groups

• To improve access to NHS services for 
protected groups

• To ensure implementation of the Accessible 
Information Standard across all commissioned 
healthcare providers.

Each year we provide a performance update 
on our progress in relation to these objectives, 
which is included in our annual equality, diversity 
and inclusion report (Public Sector Equality Duty 
Report) and is published on our website.

We are currently in the process of reviewing and 
revising our equality objectives for 2020-2024.

NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard

In April 2015, the NHS Workforce Race 
Equality Standard (WRES) became a mandatory 
requirement and now forms part of the 
CCG assurance framework. It requires NHS 
organisations to demonstrate progress against 
nine indicators.

Our 2019 WRES report was produced during July 
and details performance for 2018-19 against each 
of the nine indicators, enabling us to identify 
specific areas for improvement. The report 
was presented to the Quality and Performance 
Committee in July and published on our website 
at the end of July.

The key disparities identified in our 2019 report 
include under-representation of Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic (BAME) staff at senior levels 
within the organisation, including the Governing 
Body and the relative likelihood of BAME staff 
being appointed from short listing. We developed 
an action plan to enable us to improve our 
performance in relation to all WRES indicators. 
Progress against our action plan is monitored 
throughout the year.

Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
staff network

Following our BAME workshop in February 2019, 
we have established a BAME staff network, 
which currently has 29 members. A chair, vice 
chair, communication officer and secretary for 
the network have all been appointed, and terms 
of reference and overall objectives have been 
agreed.

Members of the staff network are currently 
working with our NHS provider trusts to plan 
a citywide BAME conference in 2021 and are 
represented at the new and emerging West 
Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 
Partnership BAME staff network.

Future in Mind BAME needs assessment

In 2019, we undertook the Future in Mind BAME 
needs assessment. The key findings highlighted 
that BAME children and young people are 
under-represented in social, emotional and 
mental health (SEMH) support services, but over 
represented in crisis services as adults, suggesting 
a lack of early intervention may be contributing. 
The findings from the report will be used when 
commissioning future service.
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The report is available at www.leedsccg.nhs.
uk/publications/social-emotional-and-mental-
health-needs-assessment-children-and-young-
people-from-black-asian-and-ethnic-minority-
communities-in-leeds

Pride in Practice

During 2019-20 we worked with the LGBT 
(lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender) 
Foundation, who have delivered the Pride in 
Practice pilot project to some of our GP practices 
across Leeds. The project aims to strengthen GP 
practices’ relationship with their lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transgender patients.

Originally launched by the LGBT Foundation in 
Manchester in 2012, Pride in Practice is a training 
and award programme designed for primary care 
services, including GP practices and pharmacies. 
It’s intended to positively reinforce the way that 
primary care interacts with the LGBT community. 
The programme package includes myth-busting 
training, support to deliver effective active 
signposting and social prescribing for LGBT 
communities, and ongoing support.

The Pride in Practice project in Leeds, which was 
part of the Government Equalities Office National 
Expansion pilot, came to an end in March 2020. 
During the project the LGBT Foundation engaged 
with 41GP practices and delivered 22 training 
sessions. 17 GP practices were successful in 
receiving the Pride in Practice award, which is a 
great achievement.

Monitoring NHS provider organisations

As a commissioner of healthcare, we have a 
duty to ensure that our healthcare providers are 
meeting their statutory duties under the Equality 
Act 2010 Public Sector Equality Duty. As well 
as regular monitoring of performance, patient 
experience and service access, we work with 
them to consider their progress on their equality 
objectives. This includes the NHS Equality Delivery 
System (EDS2), the NHS Workforce Race Equality 
Standard (WRES) and the implementation of the 
Accessible Information Standard.

Each provider organisation is subject to the Public 
Sector Equality Duty and has published its own 
data.

When procuring new services, we ensure that 
service specifications include the requirement to 
have robust policies, procedures and working 
practices in place to ensure that the needs of 
the nine protected characteristics and other 
vulnerable groups are adopted. These policies are 
examined and approved by procurement teams 
and our equality lead prior to any contract being 
awarded.

Accessible Information Standard Working 
Group

The Accessible Information Standard Working 
Group was established in 2015 to ensure that 
there is a consistent approach to implementing 
the standard across all GP practices and 
commissioned healthcare providers in Leeds. 
The group, which included representatives 
from primary care teams, contract managers 
and quality managers, in addition to a patient 
representative and representative from Leeds City 
Council, continued to meet bi-monthly during 
2019.

Following a review of the group and in response 
to the establishment of a citywide Inclusion 
for All Action Hub, chaired by Healthwatch 
Leeds, we hope to launch our new Access for 
All Action Group in summer 2020. The remit of 
this group will include the accessible information 
standard; reasonable adjustments; provision of 
interpretation and translation services; stigma and 
discrimination and any other identified barriers to 
accessing healthcare.

1.2.11 Delivering the Leeds health and 
wellbeing strategy 2016-2021

In accordance with section 116B(1)(b) of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007, we have consulted with members of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board before completing 
and submitting this section of our annual report.

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/publications/social-emotional-and-mental-health-needs-assessment-children-and-young-people-from-black-asian-and-ethnic-minority-communities-in-leeds/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/publications/social-emotional-and-mental-health-needs-assessment-children-and-young-people-from-black-asian-and-ethnic-minority-communities-in-leeds/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/publications/social-emotional-and-mental-health-needs-assessment-children-and-young-people-from-black-asian-and-ethnic-minority-communities-in-leeds/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/publications/social-emotional-and-mental-health-needs-assessment-children-and-young-people-from-black-asian-and-ethnic-minority-communities-in-leeds/
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/publications/social-emotional-and-mental-health-needs-assessment-children-and-young-people-from-black-asian-and-ethnic-minority-communities-in-leeds/
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The original process for this was outlined in a 
paper to the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board 
on 20 February 2020 with members to be 
engaged on the draft version through email and 
for it to be noted retrospectively at the 29 April 
meeting. This has changed due to the impact on 
normal working in responding to the coronavirus 
and the cancellation of the 29 April meeting. 
With the cancellation of that meeting, on behalf 
of the board, the Chair was asked to approve this 
section of the annual report, note the extent to 
the CCG has contributed to the delivery of the 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 
and note the recording of this acknowledgement 
in the annual report according to statutory 
requirement. This was confirmed by the Chair on 
21 April 2020.

Background

The Health and Wellbeing Board has prioritised 
improving the health of the poorest the fastest 
and has an ambition for Leeds to be the best city 
for health and care. The Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy is rooted in connecting people, 
communities and places and a social model of 
health. This means that in Leeds we recognise 
the role of the wider determinants of health 
alongside the need for excellent health services.

The CCG plays a key role in delivering the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy. We have a strong 
partnership with a greater focus on prevention, 
early support and care closer to where people 
live where appropriate to do so. We support and 
lead on a number of local programmes that link 
in with the NHS Long Term Plan - for example 
the developing local care partnerships - and 
we have part funded the city’s neighbourhood 
networks and older people’s networks in the 
community. Together with Leeds City Council, we 
are commissioning services in an integrated way, 
have several joint appointments and our working 
cultures and practices are increasingly aligned.

In keeping with our role in delivering the strategy, 
we ensure our work contributes to the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy’s vision of “improving the 
health of the poorest the fastest” by ensuring 

that tackling health inequalities is embodied in 
our commissioning strategy and supported by the 
CCG Governing Body - there is more information 
about this area of our work in section 1.2.6. 
We have also nominated and employed staff to 
specific roles within the organisation to support 
this area of work, including a specific clinical 
lead GP role for health inequalities and named 
leadership within strategy and planning. The CCG 
has signed up to actions aligned to the Strategy 
and the Leeds Health and Care Plan, some 
examples of which are outlined below.

A child friendly city and the best start in life

Making the most of every child’s potential is an 
important goal in Leeds - we all want the best for 
our children to help them be happy, healthy and 
reach their potential. From conception to the age 
of two is a very important time as it makes the 
biggest difference to a baby’s future. We work 
with families and services to help all babies get 
the best start in life.

Perinatal mental health problems can have 
significant and long lasting effects on the woman 
and her family. Our team of NEST ambassadors 
are women who have lived experience of 
these issues. They have won widespread praise 
for their work in promoting good perinatal 
mental health, spreading anti-stigma messages, 
collecting feedback on services to shape service 
developments, and promoting the Leeds perinatal 
mental health pathway of services to the public.

Our Maternity Voices Partnership has continued 
to support collaboration between maternity 
services and families in Leeds, with parent 
representatives gathering feedback and working 
on various workstreams, including reducing 
perineal tears, improving the induction of labour 
pathway and contributing to plans for the future 
configuration of maternity services.

In January, we began a consultation on maternity 
and neonatal services about our plans to 
centralise maternity and neonatal services in the 
city, and our proposals for hospital maternity 
outpatient appointments. The consultation runs 
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until April and the results will be used to plan and 
improve services that will give children born in 
Leeds the best start in life.

We have partnered with Altogether Better to 
work with pioneer children and family hubs to 
explore how local champions can contribute to a 
partnership approach to improving the health and 
wellbeing of children and families. For children 
and young people, we have continued to develop 
the Future in Mind strategy. Future in Mind Leeds 
is a multi-agency programme led by the Future 
in Mind Programme Board, jointly chaired by 
the Council and the CCG, which aims to improve 
children and young people’s mental health. We 
have a well-established network of stakeholders 
and associated multi agency steering groups 
who deliver on the priorities set out in our local 
transformational plan (www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/
content/uploads/2019/11/LTP-Oct19.pdf). Central 
to our strategy is our award winning MindMate 
resource (www.mindmate.org.uk), which helps 
promote wellbeing and emotional resilience.

An age friendly city where people age well

We share a vision that Leeds will be the best city 
in the UK in which to grow old. During the year, 
we worked with Age UK and local people on 
our plans for a virtual frailty ward, which helped 
highlight the importance of language and the 
key role that carers play in the lives of many older 
people. The project aims to improve outcomes 
for frail people who become unwell and prevent 
admissions to emergency departments.

Beyond this, we’re also working with health and 
care partners across the city on a population 
health management programme to improve 
outcomes for people living with frailty. Eleven 
local care partnerships have been selected to be 
part of the programme, based on deprivation and 
prevalence of frailty. They are using a data driven 
approach to identify smaller cohorts of people 
where specific interventions could improve their 
health and wellbeing in a holistic, person centred 
manner.

The CCG appreciates that physical health is only 
one aspect of aging well. Anyone can access our 
social prescribing services, which we re-procured 
as a single citywide service in 2019. However 
some of the community-based services that social 
prescribing link workers refer to are of particular 
benefit to older people, who are more likely to 
experience social isolation and loneliness, which 
can have a significant impact on both physical and 
mental health and wellbeing.

We continued to work with local GP practices, 
the GP Confederation and Leeds Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust (LCH) to develop the ‘leg 
club’ model in Leeds, with a new club opening 
in Garforth. The club is a health and social group 
that sees patients treated by nurses in community 
settings. It encourages people with ulcers and 
other medical conditions to take more interest 
in their care and treatment, and when their legs 
heal, to keep them well and healthy. An important 
aspect of the club is the social element; as leg 
problems can limit mobility, being supported to 
attend every week helps reduce social isolation.

During the year, we also worked with Age UK 
and partner organisations across the city on a 
new Age Proud Leeds campaign, which aims to 
raise awareness of ageism and change negative 
attitudes about aging and older people.

Strong, engaged and well-connected 
communities

Leeds is home to vibrant and diverse communities, 
well-established networks and a thriving third 
sector. It’s vital that we work together to keep 
our communities strong as they are essential for 
individual health and wellbeing.

During the year, we once again worked with 
our colleagues in the West Yorkshire and 
Harrogate Health and Care Partnership on 
the regional campaign, “Looking out for our 
Neighbours.” The campaign, now in its second 
year, encourages people to connect with their 
neighbours in a bid to reduce the problems 
caused by social isolation. You can find out more 
at www.ourneighbours.org.uk

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/11/LTP-Oct19.pdf
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2019/11/LTP-Oct19.pdf
https://ourneighbours.org.uk/
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We also ran our Big Thank You campaign for a 
second year. The campaign, which is supported 
by the city’s NHS organisations, Leeds City 
Council, British Transport Police and community 
and voluntary organisations, encourages Leeds 
residents to thank any individual, group or 
organisation who made a difference to them 
during the winter. We also helped organise and 
supported the Big Leeds Chat (BLC), the city’s 
flagship approach to collaborative proactive 
engagement, and carried out a number of other 
engagements throughout the year. Please see 
section 1.2.5 for details.

We know that there are vulnerable groups 
and areas of the city which experience health 
inequalities, and you can find out how we’re 
helping to address those in section 1.2.6. We also 
know that people’s health outcomes can depend 
on specific characteristics, such as ethnicity, 
disability gender and sexuality, amongst others. 
With this in mind, we carried out targeted work 
with Syrian refugees to learn more about their 
health and wellbeing needs, as well as with 
members of the Deaf community to gather their 
views on BSL and interpretation services.

We also helped bring the ‘Pride in Practice’ 
programme to the city. The scheme aims to 
strengthen GP practices’ relationship with their 
lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans (LGBT) patients. 
Please see section 1.1.10 for more information.

Alongside Leeds City Council, we continued our 
commitment to fund the city’s neighbourhood 
and older people’s networks. The networks 
support around 20,000 older people around 
the city, delivering support which helps reduce 
pressures on statutory health and care services, 
as well as enabling local people to get involved 
in using community assets in ways local people 
want. All of the neighbourhood network schemes 
are governed by local people who represent 
the communities they serve. These people steer 
the organisations so they best meet outcomes 
local older people want. The grants total value 
is £15,009,450 over the initial five years, with an 
annual value of £3,001,890.

At a smaller scale, our PPG grants enables patient 
participation groups at GP practices to apply for 
funding projects that address health inequalities 
and / or build connections between the GP 
practice and its local community.

Housing and the environment enable all 
people of Leeds to be healthy

Many factors affect people’s wellbeing. Housing 
and the environment are chief among those. 
That’s why we have invested in programmes 
aimed at supporting some of our most vulnerable 
residents with the poorest health outcomes, 
particularly street users and rough sleepers. For 
example, York Street Health Practice is a GP 
practice which offers services to those who are 
homeless or in unstable accommodation and 
those who have come to the UK as a refugee or 
to seek asylum. Following a successful pilot, we 
have also continued to fund an innovative scheme 
in which a specialist occupational therapist works 
with homeless people accessing services at St 
George’s Crypt. Her role is to help people to 
regain their independence so that they can do 
everyday tasks, such as showering, as well as 
finding ways to occupy their time, doing things 
that are personal and important to them.

Get more people, more physically active, 
more often

We share an ambition for Leeds to be the most 
active big city in England. As well as supporting 
Public Health England campaigns such as One 
You, Active 10 and Change4Life, we have 
promoted One You Leeds and are also part of 
a West Yorkshire and Harrogate healthy hearts 
initiative, which aims to reduce the incidence of 
cardiovascular disease in the region.

We have also invested in further capacity in 
pulmonary rehabilitation, aimed at encouraging 
people to walk more and be more active, and we 
continue to support ‘Breathe Easy’ groups, which 
help people with respiratory conditions in some 
of the city’s most deprived areas.



47

Maximise the benefits of information and 
technology

New technology can give people more control 
of their health and care and enable more 
coordinated working between organisations.

There are now 7100 active monthly users of the 
Leeds Care Record, which allows health and care 
professionals to access records. This is reducing 
the need for duplication, especially from a 
patient’s perspective, as they are no longer asked 
the same questions by different people looking 
after them. This is a joined up, digital care record 
that enables clinical and care staff to view real 
time health and care information across care 
providers and between different systems.

The NHS App and other access portals are giving 
Leeds residents access to their GP records, while 
Helm, the Leeds person held record, will give 
targeted information and services to people on 
their health and wellbeing.

In primary care, the wide rollout of tele-
dermatology by all GP practices means skin 
cancer diagnosis waiting times in Leeds have 
been cut and patients with benign moles have 
received speedier reassurance. We are also 
supporting GP practices with IT equipment 
and training. At the beginning of the COVID-19 
outbreak in March 2020, we worked with 
council colleagues to repurpose Council laptops 
at short notice to be used in GP practices. This 
has allowed frontline staff to deliver key services 
digitally in challenging times, protecting NHS staff 
and local people.

A stronger focus on prevention

Targeting specific areas such as obesity, 
smoking, and harmful drinking can make a really 
big difference to preventing ill health. In the 
summer of 2019, we worked with colleagues in 
public health (Leeds City Council) and Forward 
Leeds to run a second #NoRegrets campaign - 
noregretsleeds.co.uk. This online campaign aimed 
at encouraging sensible drinking in 18-25 year 
olds ran throughout the festival season. By the 
end of January 2019, almost 2000 individuals had 

accessed the site, with some blogs on the site 
having been viewed hundreds of times.

Recognising that health and wellbeing are 
determined by many factors, we have continued 
to develop our social prescribing service, and in 
2019, launched a new citywide service. There’s 
more about the scheme in section 1.2.6.

Reducing incidence of cardiovascular disease is 
a national, regional and local priority; however, 
we know that far more people are at risk than 
realise it. We have worked with West Yorkshire 
and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership to 
deliver the Healthy Hearts programme, which 
aims to help reduce the risk of heart attack 
and stroke for people at highest risk. The first 
phase of the project aims to identify people who 
may have high blood pressure who are not yet 
diagnosed, and those who need to better control 
their hypertension to a safe target below 140/90. 
In Leeds, from January 2019 to January 2020 
more than 1,100 new people were added to the 
hypertension register. This means they are more 
closely monitored. There was also an increase in 
the number of people, more than 1,200, who 
now have their hypertension better controlled to 
safe limits. Importantly this could help prevent 9 
deaths, 18 strokes and 12 heart attacks over the 
next five years.

Raising awareness of how people can stay well 
and protect themselves from ill health is a key 
part of our prevention work. We have delivered 
campaigns to encourage people to take up 
cancer screening such as cervical smears and 
bowel cancer tests. We have also continued to 
develop our nationally-recognised “Seriously 
Resistant” campaign to raise awareness of 
the risks of overuse of antibiotics. In 2019, we 
launched a new phase of the campaign, which 
targeted parents and carers of young children, 
older people and health care professionals. We 
also supported Leeds City Council’s healthy 
schools team by providing “Seriously” materials to 
use in the classroom.

https://noregretsleeds.co.uk/
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Support self-care, with more people 
managing their own conditions

Long term conditions are the leading causes 
of death and disability in Leeds. They account 
for most of our health and care spending, so 
it’s vital that we support people to maintain 
independence and wellbeing within local 
communities for as long as possible.

With diabetes affecting around 44,000 in Leeds, 
and a further 32,000 at high risk of developing it, 
developing a system-wide diabetes strategy has 
been a priority. This was launched in the summer 
of 2019, along with a new joined up Leeds 
Diabetes Service, rebranded with one single 
identity across diabetes providers, with one single 
point of access for all referrals. Also in 2019, a 
new provider for the NHS diabetes prevention 
programme was procured across West Yorkshire 
and Harrogate. The CCG supported the transition 
to the new provider and GP practices continue to 
refer patients into the programme.

A new pilot project of occupational therapists in 
GP surgeries has started in the Chapeltown and 
Pudsey areas of Leeds. Occupational therapists 
work with patients to understand what activities 
and roles are important to them, identify barriers 
to participation and then offer solutions to 
manage any difficulties.

People in Leeds with respiratory conditions 
continue to be supported through a network of 
‘Breathe Easy’ groups, with a particular focus 
on disadvantaged groups and areas with high 
prevalence of COPD to promote independence 
and living a good life. These groups have 
particularly benefitted from the support of digital 
champions, which has enabled them to keep 
meeting virtually during the COVID-19 pandemic.

For younger people, we ran a ‘Feel Better’ 
campaign during the winter to encourage 
university students to use health services wisely 
and provide self-care advice for common minor 
ailments. The campaign was developed with the 
three universities, student unions and Community 
Pharmacy West Yorkshire.

Promote mental and physical health equally

The city’s ambitions for mental health are crucial 
for reducing health inequalities, and throughout 
the year, we have continued to fund and develop 
mental health services and resources.

In November 2019, the new Leeds Mental 
Wellbeing Service was launched. The service 
provides support and psychological therapies 
for common mental health problems, such as 
anxiety and depression. The service also provides 
increased prioritised support for mental health 
via GP practices and specialist voluntary sector 
provision to pregnant women, mothers in first 
year of motherhood and partners.

MindMate - www.mindmate.org.uk - the online 
resource for young people, has continued to 
grow, and in June, celebrated its fifth birthday. 
Since its launch, MindMate has expanded to 
include dedicated young people ambassadors, 
establishing a MindMate school support and 
training programme, and setting up a dedicated 
single referral point for healthcare professionals 
and service users.

For adults, the MindWell website - 
www.mindwell-leeds.org.uk - has continued 
to develop. There is a new guide for Leeds 
employers to promote workplace wellbeing 
and support staff who are experiencing 
problems with their mental health or struggling 
with difficulties outside of work, such as a 
bereavement or relationship problems.

There’s more information about mental health 
services in section 1.2.8.

A valued, well trained and supported 
workforce

In common with our NHS, council and third 
sector partners, we have a highly motivated, 
creative and caring workforce, who are working 
hard to deliver high quality care. We are a 
founding partner of Leeds Academic Health 
Partnership (see section 1.2.12), which, through 
innovation and collaboration, is helping to ensure 
that Leeds is one of the best places in the UK to 
work in health and social care.

https://www.mindmate.org.uk/
https://www.mindwell-leeds.org.uk/
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During the last year, we have worked hard to 
engage our staff in a number of ways, including 
all staff events, professional and personal 
development opportunities and recognition 
events. We have invested in mental health first 
aid training and new internal communications 
channels to help staff feel more supported and 
engaged.

We have also invested in developing the primary 
care workforce, both with practical training and 
leadership development, and our safeguarding 
team continue to offer training, support and 
advice to primary care. For both CCG and primary 
care staff, we also ran the national NHS rainbow 
badge scheme, which helps patients and staff 
identify people they can talk to about health and 
wellbeing issues relating to gender and sexuality.

To support colleagues across the system, we 
developed the Big Thank You campaign to give 
people in Leeds a platform to express their 
thanks, ensuring that staff know their dedication 
to care is recognised and celebrated publicly. 
At the opposite end of the spectrum, we also 
supported a new zero-tolerance campaign 
highlighting that abuse and aggression directed 
towards staff or patients will not be tolerated.

The best care, in the right place, at the 
right time

To help develop more effective, efficient health 
and care in the community, we have supported 
the establishment of local care partnerships, 
which are developing new ways of working 
locally, based on the needs of their local 
populations. Moving services from hospitals to 
the community helps keep people out of hospital 
whilst providing care in the most appropriate 
setting.

In April 2019, we concluded our urgent treatment 
centre engagement, which sought people’s 
views on our proposals for five such centres (see 
section 1.2.5 for details). There are now two UTCs 
in the city, one at the St George’s Centre and the 
other at Wharfedale Hospital.

To further help people understand which services 
to use, we have continued to support the national 
Help Us, Help You approach throughout the year.

We have continued to fund extended access 
to primary care, commissioning the Leeds GP 
Confederation to deliver evening and weekend 
appointments with a variety of health care 
professionals, including GPs, practice nurses, 
health care assistants and ‘virtual’ MSK and 
psychological therapies.

Suggested priorities for our work against 
the priorities in 2020-21

We will continue to develop our strategic 
approach to commissioning and delivering 
positive and enduring health and wellbeing 
outcomes for the people of Leeds. This 
includes sharing responsibility for outcomes 
and inequalities as a result of our health, care 
and support services and to work together to 
integrate care around population and community 
needs.

1.2.12 Working with our partners

Leeds GP Confederation

The Leeds GP Confederation is a ‘not for profit 
organisation’ working to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the people of Leeds. It does this by 
strengthening and sustaining primary care as well 
as working with the full health and care system 
to meet the objectives of the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021.

During the past year, the Confederation has:

• Further supported the development of primary 
care networks, working with clinical directors 
to identify and provide the support they 
need. This has included working with Leeds 
Community Healthcare NHS Trust (LCH) to 
recruit to new mandated roles and organising 
leadership development opportunities
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• Continued to review Confederation priorities 
to meet practice and PCN needs. Chief 
among these are the development of an 
estates strategy to reduce the burden and risk 
for individual practices; joint working with 
LCH and Leeds Student Medical Practice to 
develop a training hub to coordinate, expand 
and combine training offers for primary care 
staff; further developing extended access 
services; and working with the CCG and Leeds 
City Council to deliver a primary care digital 
strategy

• Continued to develop new models of care with 
partners, including wound management and 
improving cardiovascular outcomes

• Provided strategic and clinical leadership for 
two important new citywide contracts - the 
social prescribing service and the Leeds Mental 
Wellbeing service

• Successfully managed contracts for NHS health 
checks and the GP extended access to GP 
service, both of which are performing above 
the indicators set by commissioners

• Most recently, worked with the CCG, individual 
practices and PCNs to support patients and 
the Leeds health and care system during the 
coronavirus pandemic.

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and 
Care Partnership

Since the Partnership began in 2016, we have 
worked hard with our partners to build the 
relationships needed to deliver better health and 
care across West Yorkshire and Harrogate so we 
can better support people to improve their lives 
with them.

As a proud and valued partner, we are pleased 
with the progress we have made. Together we 
are sharing and spreading good practice across 
the area, and ultimately saving more lives by 
improving people’s health and wellbeing.

Key achievements include:

• Developing an award-winning programme to 
support 260,000 carers

• Hospitals working together for the first 72 
hours of critical stroke care

• Launching Yorkshire and Humber Digital Care 
Record to improve people’s care

• Setting up a new community eating disorder 
service

• Establishing a health and care champions 
network for people with learning disabilities

• Working with organisations like Healthwatch 
who talked to over 1800 people about the NHS 
Long Term Plan

• Securing the largest share of national capital 
investment totalling £883m for 10 schemes, 
including building new adult, and children 
hospital in Leeds, which will benefit the whole 
area

• Setting up the first suicide bereavement service 
for West Yorkshire and Harrogate

• Increasing the number of people, nearly 8,000, 
who now have their hypertension better 
controlled to safe limits. Importantly this could 
help prevent 65 deaths, 122 strokes and 82 
heart attacks over the next five years

We know that more needs to be done to give 
everyone the very best start and every chance to 
live a long and healthy life. This includes working 
with partners in the wider economy to create 
good jobs and increase everyone’s prosperity 
with investment in skills, housing, culture and 
infrastructure. Only by working together can we 
truly achieve this.

Our local and West Yorkshire and Harrogate 
relationships are very important to us because we 
have the biggest impact on people’s lives when 
there is shared commitment by all. We are active 
partners on the ‘Partnership Board’ and have 
signed a memorandum of agreement to set out 
our commitment to work together.

https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/meetings/partnershipboard
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This has included the CCG being an active part 
of West Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts 
(hospitals working together), Mental Health, 
Learning Disabilities and Autism Programme 
Board, Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning 
Groups.

The Partnership’s Draft Five Year Plan, belongs to 
us all. It sets out our ambitions for the 2.7million 
people living across the area and also highlights 
the priorities where we have agreed to work on 
together across West Yorkshire and Harrogate, 
for example mental health, cancer, urgent 
care, maternity services, and tackling health 
inequalities - we know sadly exist.

Our ambitions include:

• Increasing the years of life that people live 
in good health, and reducing the gap in life 
expectancy by 5% in our most deprived 
communities by 2024

• Reducing the gap in life expectancy for people 
with mental health, learning disabilities and 
autism by 10% by 2024

• Reducing health inequalities for children 
living in households with the lowest incomes, 
including halting the trend in childhood obesity

• Increasing early diagnosis of cancer, ensuring 
at least 1,000 more people have the chance of 
curative treatment

• Reducing suicide by 10% overall by 2020-21 
and achieving a 75% reduction in targeted 
areas by 2022

• Reducing anti-microbial resistance infections 
by 10% by 2024 and reducing antibiotic use by 
15%

• Reduce stillbirths, neonatal deaths, and 
brain injuries by 50%, and reducing maternal 
morbidity and mortality, by 2025

• Having a more diverse leadership that better 
reflects the broad range of talent in our area

• Becoming a global leader in responding to the 
climate emergency

• Strengthening local economic growth by 
reducing health inequalities and improving 
skills.

Our shared goal is to join things up locally and 
at a West Yorkshire and Harrogate level, to 
connect organisations and people in ways that 
make better care easier - whether this is support 
delivered by local groups, services delivered in 
people’s homes or the treatment that is best 
provided in a hospital.

Visit www.wyhpartnership.co.uk to find out 
more.

Scrutiny Board

The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and 
Active Lifestyles) reviews and scrutinises the 
performance of health services and efforts 
around prevention of ill health (primarily through 
public health initiatives). The Scrutiny Board also 
reviews and scrutinises decisions taken by the 
Executive Board relating to adult social care. 
Throughout 2019-20 we have continued to keep 
the Scrutiny Board informed of our key decisions 
and plans to assure we meet our duties to consult 
as outlined in the NHS Act (2006) and Health and 
Social Care Act (2012).

In 2019-20 we updated the Scrutiny Board on the 
following areas:

• The integrated quality and performance report 
to demonstrate how well the healthcare system 
in Leeds is performing, areas of achievement 
and areas for further improvement.

• Progress on the Leeds dementia strategy and 
the mental health strategy

• Provision of mental health services for adults 
and older people in Wetherby.

• Progress on the Leeds Mental Wellbeing 
Service and associated mobilisation 
arrangements.

• The Leeds System Resilience Plan for 2019-20

• Proposed reconfiguration of maternity and 
neonatal services.

https://wyaat.wyhpartnership.co.uk/
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/our-priorities/mental-health
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/our-priorities/mental-health
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/our-priorities/mental-health
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/meetings/west-yorkshire-harrogate-joint-committee-ccgs/contact
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/meetings/west-yorkshire-harrogate-joint-committee-ccgs/contact
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/publications/our-five-year-plan
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/application/files/3615/7918/6822/WYSTP135-10_big_ambitions.pdf
https://www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/
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Members have also been regularly updated, 
through the Health Services Development Group 
of the Scrutiny Board, on proposals to establish 
urgent treatment centres in the city based on a 
mandate from NHSEI.

Our NHS providers

We are pleased to be able to commission services 
from three NHS trusts in Leeds alongside other 
service providers. The three NHS providers in 
Leeds are Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, 
Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 
and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust. Our 
ambulance services are provided by Yorkshire 
Ambulance NHS Trust who also are the provider 
of NHS 111 for our region. In addition to this we 
fund services from a number of neighbouring 
providers so that we can uphold the rights of our 
patients to choose where they go for treatment 
where it is appropriate to do so.

Leeds City Council

Leeds City Council commissions care and support 
services and is responsible for public health, 
which seeks to protect and improve health and 
wellbeing. The future direction of health and care 
services set out in the NHS Five Year Forward 
View is around closer integration of health and 
social care services. These services would be 
delivered at a locality or neighbourhood level by 
care teams working together rather than working 
to their own organisation’s boundaries.

We continue to work closely with Leeds City 
Council to make progress around prevention 
of ill health as part of our ambitions under 
the Leeds Health and Care Plan. This includes 
funding neighbourhood networks so that they 
can continue to support older people in the city 
and developing a population health management 
approach. This uses data and insight to improve 
health and wellbeing today and in the future. In 
addition we’ve worked on a number of health 
awareness campaigns including our nationally 
recognised ‘Seriously’ initiative to educate people 
about the misuse of antibiotics. Other campaigns 
include encouraging people aged 40-75 to 

attend their free NHS Health Check, a number of 
awareness activities to support people living with 
diabetes and campaigns over winter to ensure 
people are prepared for the season such as 
making sure they have had their flu jab.

As always, we work closely with all our partners 
over winter as part of our efforts to improve 
patient flow within the system and subsequently 
reduce demand and pressures on services. This 
close partnership working has never been more 
important, as the health and care system across 
our city responds to the challenge posed by the 
coronavirus pandemic.

Community and voluntary sector 
organisations

The role of the community and voluntary sector 
(often referred to as the third sector) is crucial 
not only for the delivery of services but also 
to provide us with an opportunity to engage 
with those who are sometimes referred to as 
‘seldom heard groups.’ Over the past 12 months 
we have been working with local community 
groups to run a number of engagement events 
and activities so that we can continue to develop 
services that meet local needs - see more in our 
section on working with patients in section 1.2.5.

We continue to fund third sector organisations to 
provide our social prescribing schemes and have 
worked with a range of third sector partners to 
help patients leave hospital sooner especially over 
the winter months when demand is highest.

We are committed to tackling health inequalities. 
One of the groups we have been looking to help 
access health care is the city’s gypsy and traveller 
community. We have continued to work closely 
with the Gypsy and Traveller Exchange (GATE) 
to provide quicker access to services including 
primary care and health screening.

Healthwatch Leeds

Healthwatch Leeds is represented on the Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Board, giving patients 
and communities a voice in decisions that affect 
them. We have worked with Healthwatch 
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Leeds to gather patient insight on local health 
services including the health visiting service. 
We continue to attend the Healthwatch Leeds 
People’s Voices group and worked closely with 
them in developing the Big Leeds Chat. There’s 
more information about our partnership in 
section 1.2.5.

Healthwatch Leeds have also undertaken a 
number of reviews of services and published 
subsequent reports with recommendations. 
We’ll be looking at how we can use the 
recommendations from these reports to 
influence how services are provided in the 
future. The reports for these and other reviews 
are on the Healthwatch Leeds website - 
healthwatchleeds.co.uk

• People’s experience of care provided in their 
own homes

• Local views of the priorities in the NHS long 
term plan

• Maternity mental health services Leeds

Care Quality Commission

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the 
registration body responsible for monitoring 
standards of care, and undertakes announced 
and unannounced inspections to providers either 
as a matter of routine or in response to concerns 
raised by patients and staff. To support sharing 
of information and intelligence on quality and 
standards of care, a Quality Surveillance Group 
meets to monitor progress and pro-actively 
identified any areas where improvement may be 
required.

Leeds member practices continue to provide high 
quality services, and for much of 2019, 100% of 
practices were rated good or outstanding with 
CQC.

Leeds Academic Health Partnership

The CCG is a founding partner of Leeds Academic 
Health Partnership (LAHP). The LAHP is one of 
the biggest partnerships of its kind in the UK, 
transforming new ideas into life-changing realities 
so people across Leeds and beyond can live 

healthier lives for longer.Over the last year, as 
well as contributing financially to the work of the 
LAHP, the CCG governs the LAHP work at board 
and at senior operations level to help shape this 
innovative work for the city.

Our Chief Executive, Tim Ryley, is the LAHP board 
sponsor for “Living in Leeds” This LAHP project 
aims to help Leeds become ‘research ready’ by 
making it quicker and easier for researchers to 
access people’s health and care data in a safe and 
secure way. It will help them better understand 
how to improve health and care for Leeds’ people 
more quickly, efficiently and in new, more lasting 
ways.

Still in its early stages, Living in Leeds will have 
the city’s people at the heart of its ambition, 
understanding their preferences about using 
their data for research and making it as easy 
as possible for them to share and record their 
preferences. The CCG is also providing expert 
technical advice.

Our Executive Director of Nursing, Jo Harding, 
has a leading role in solving some of city’s 
nursing workforce challenges. That means she 
is best placed to advise on and steer the work 
of the Leeds Health and Care Academy, another 
LAHP project. The Academy will play a core role 
in delivering the city’s health and care workforce 
strategy. The Academy went live in May 2019 
when it was also showcased at a prestigious 
global event in Washington DC.

CCG Assistant Clinical Chair Dr Jason Broch and 
Director of Informatics Alistair Cartwright are 
both board members of The Leeds Centre for 
Personalised Medicine and Health (LCPMH). The 
Leeds Centre for Personalised Medicine and 
Health works in collaboration with industry, 
academics, patients and healthcare providers 
across the city and beyond. Rather than using 
the traditional ‘one size fits all’ approach, 
personalised medicine takes a closer look into 
people’s individual biology and tailors care to 
best suit them. In Leeds, it accelerates research, 
evaluation and adoption of new treatments 
and technologies and reveals insights to 

https://healthwatchleeds.co.uk/
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help prevent ill health. Driving innovative risk 
sharing agreements between industry and the 
NHS, the Centre’s ambitious strategy focuses 
on personalised prevention, with flagship 
programmes aimed at arresting cancer and 
preventing frailty.

For more information, visit 
www.leedsacademichealthpartnership.org

Leeds Informatics Board

In 2019 NHS Leeds developed its digital, data and 
intelligence (DDI) strategy, in collaboration with 
the Leeds Health and Care Partnership to ensure 
alignment of vision and objectives with our four 
Leeds partners.

We are proud of our work in leading, and being 
part of, the place-based delivery of digital 
innovation across the Health and Care system in 
Leeds. The CCG and our partners have a strong 
city-wide commitment to improve the health 
and wellbeing of all the people of Leeds and 
digital is a core element in making this happen. 
This involves coordinating the delivery of the city 
health and care informatics strategy via a formal 
delivery programme, ensuring strong linkages to 
our health and care providers, as well as regional 
and national developments.

We have created strong partnerships across the 
public, business and higher education sectors. 
This includes close working with Leeds-based 
national organisations that have an important 
strategic digital role such as NHS Digital and 
NHSEI.

We form part of the Leeds Informatics Board 
(LIB), which is chaired by Dr Alistair Walling, our 
Chief Clinical Information Officer. LIB is supported 
by a number of sub-committees, including a 
cross-city Information Governance Steering Group 
and City Technical Architects Group.

Leeds Care Record (LCR)

In line with one of the strategic digital actions 
in the DDI strategy, to support shared patient 
records, the informatics team has worked closely 
with partners on the Leeds Care Record (LCR). 

Integrated care in Leeds has been nationally 
well-regarded during the last four years with our 
showpiece patient record, the LCR, being quoted 
as an exemplar in many articles. This patient 
record is now actively used by over 6,200 clinical 
and care staff to support integrated care across 
the city. It contains data contributions from all 
five key organisational groups - GPs, hospital, 
community, mental health and social care. It now 
includes children’s services data. During the last 
12 months other partners, such as Local Care 
Direct, are accessing the LCR.

Govroam in GP surgeries

In line with the strategy aim to support digital 
infrastructure and particularly to provide 
technology that enables agile and collaborative 
working, better use of our estate and supports 
seamless integration across care settings, the 
Informatics Team has introduced Govroam in 
all GP surgeries in the city. This is a universal 
Wi-Fi system available to public sector staff 
that enables them to work across multiple NHS, 
council, acute, primary and community sites, 
not just in Leeds but across West Yorkshire and 
beyond.

Patient access to online GP facilities

In Leeds nearly 186,000 registered patients in GP 
surgeries are using and benefitting from online 
facilities offered by their practice. Patients can 
order repeat prescriptions and book or cancel GP 
appointments without the need to call or visit 
their practice, which makes it easier for patients 
and more efficient for GPs. The rate of take 
up in Leeds so far exceeds what is happening 
elsewhere in country; it supports the DDI strategy 
aim to provide IT and services to member GPs 
and to make digital an positive experience for 
patients and stakeholders.

IT refresh

IT equipment in all GP surgeries across Leeds is 
being refreshed in a programme of work that 
started in April 2018, directly in line with the 
DDI strategy’s aim to provide infrastructure 
that enables agile and collaborative working. 
Managed by the Informatics team, it involves 

https://www.leedsacademichealthpartnership.org/
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replacing and refreshing devices. This has 
included:

• Deploying 300 laptops, enabling GPs to work 
remotely and from patient’s homes

• Replacing and installing 740 desktop PCs and 
securely disposing of the obsolete desktop PCs

• Setting up 80 practice consulting rooms with 
dual screens

• Setting up 20 practices on a unified 
communication system. This provides 
integrated telephony and enables practices 
to work more closely to provide enhanced 
services

• Replacing all CCG staff desktop PCs with 
laptops, as part of the move to more flexible 
working.

Leeds health and care intelligence hub

We have created a joint city health and care 
intelligence hub across the NHS and council 
in Leeds to support the delivery of strategic 
commissioning and place based intelligence. We 
have made significant progress on population 
health management and are one of four 
national pilot sites collaborating on the national 
programme with Optum and NHSEI. We ensure 
that all data used is secure and meets the 
stringent information governance rules and data 
protection regulation. We have achieved this by 
seeking and being granted permission by NHS 
Digital to be one of the organisations which can 
link health and social care data. This and the 
following two items about RAIDR - a healthcare 
intelligence tool - shows how we are supporting 
the DDI strategy’s aims around business 
intelligence:

• Provide business intelligence to inform 
population health management and our 
outcome-based strategic commissioning 
objectives

• Make data-drive and evidence-based decisions

• Invest in our workforce ensuring business 
intelligence drive quality improvements

• To cement our status as a national leader in the 
business intelligence field.

RAIDR

We identified the benefit of having all primary care 
regular reporting from the CCG and practices in a 
single online portal to improve access and insights 
for practices, while also freeing up analytical 
capacity to be better used in more advanced 
analytics.

It includes coverage of Leeds-specific primary care 
schemes such as quality improvement, medical 
optimisation and NHS health checks. Case finding 
tools identify patient cohorts to work with to 
drive performance and better patient care. Risk 
stratification options allow task breakdown into 
manageable milestones. Patient identifiable 
lists drive efficiency and ensure better case 
management.

RAIDR urgent and emergency care

A live, single view of urgent and emergency care 
demand and delivery is now live across the Leeds 
system, providing the opportunity to use a single 
dashboard of key metrics on a regular daily basis 
to show a picture of pressures and issues across 
the whole urgent care system in Leeds. This allows 
for better planning as pressures in one part of the 
system are flagged, real time, to allow the rest of 
the system to react.

GDPR

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
came into effect on 25 May 2018. In order to 
ensure that the CCG was compliant, all members 
of staff were mandated to attend briefing sessions 
advising of the changes and the implications of 
being non-compliant with the regulation. An audit 
of our compliance with the regulation has been 
carried out by Audit Yorkshire and an opinion 
of ‘significant’ assurance has been awarded. 
With the introduction of the data security and 
protection toolkit (previously the IG toolkit), a 
working party was set up to ensure that the CCG 
was able to meet all the assertions and provide 
sufficient evidence to support compliance. A recent 
audit by Audit Yorkshire resulted in an opinion of 
‘significant’ assurance. The CCG will be submitting 
a ‘standards met’ statement for the toolkit. This 
supports our capability for strategy delivery.
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West Yorkshire and Harrogate Strategic 
Partnership

We continue to build strong long lasting 
relationships with our colleagues across the 
region. This is achieved by strong governance and 
leadership at the regional West Yorkshire and 
Harrogate strategic partnership.

Working to a city-wide approach and standards

In developing digital solutions:

• We put people at the heart of everything we 
do

• We are developing a connected digital 
infrastructure and tools for the city so that 
professionals can seamlessly work together

• We are creating an accessible health and care 
record, using accurate data analytics about 
people to help improve their health and 
wellbeing

• We prioritise projects and solutions that help 
the poorest improve their health the fastest.

We work in an inclusive way with stakeholders to 
prioritise what we do.

We actively encourage:

• Open standards

• Interoperability

• integrated place based services

• Pragmatic innovation

• Being outcome-led

• Service design approaches

• Robust evaluations

• Citizen inclusive and accessible

• Co-produced

1.2.13 Safeguarding

The CCG has a legal responsibility to ensure the 
needs of children and adults at risk of abuse or 
suffering abuse are addressed in all the work that 
they undertake and commission on behalf of the 
people of Leeds. The chief executive officer has 
overall responsibility for safeguarding and the 
executive director of nursing and quality is the 
executive lead.

The CCG Safeguarding Team completed a service 
review during 2019-20 and received additional 
investment. The team now comprises a head of 
safeguarding/designated nurse for safeguarding 
children and adults who provides strategic 
leadership for safeguarding and advice across 
the health economy. She is supported by a 
designated nurse for safeguarding children and 
adults and a designated doctor for safeguarding 
children. The team also has one named nurse 
for safeguarding children and adults and three 
whole time equivalent specialist safeguarding 
practitioners, two more than last year. We also 
have a named GP for safeguarding children who 
provides leadership and support within primary 
care. The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) lead role has 
been separated from the designated nurse role 
and a whole time MCA lead has been appointed. 
The team will be further enhanced in 2020-21 by 
the appointment of a designated doctor for child 
deaths and a named GP for safeguarding adults. 
This model fully integrates and reflects the “think 
family, work family” approach adopted by Leeds.

The CCG Safeguarding Children and Adults at 
Risk Committee leads work on behalf of the CCG 
through an agreed action plan and monitors 
compliance of agreed safeguarding standards 
through a performance framework and audit 
programme. The Committee meets bi-monthly 
and includes commissioners, designated nurses, 
designated doctors, the executive director 
of nursing and quality and her deputy. The 
Safeguarding Committee reports into the 
CCG Quality Committee. From April 2020 the 
Committee will meet quarterly in line with other 
CCG and provider meetings.

Safeguarding adults

The CCG Safeguarding Team successfully applied 
for funding from the Leeds Safeguarding Adults 
Board to deliver a multiagency self-neglect 
conference in October 2018 to develop a shared 
understanding of self-neglect. The conference 
was extremely well attended and evaluated very 
positively, so due to a high level of interest, we 
organised an additional conference in May 2019.



57

Domestic violence and abuse

In 2019-20 the head of safeguarding led on the 
expansion of the health economy’s contribution 
to children’s social work services front door 
arrangements and the domestic violence front 
door safeguarding hub. We recognised that the 
health system wasn’t always involved in strategy 
discussions so we are addressing this. The Leeds 
Safeguarding Children Partnership and Adult 
Board have funded a specialist safeguarding 
practitioner and administrative assistant for one 
yea; if this approach is successful, it will be made 
a permanent arrangement.

The CCG is working towards all GP practices 
implementing routine enquiry for patients 
attending their services. This means they can 
recognise those at risk of any abuse and signpost 
them to the appropriate services. To achieve this, 
we successfully bid for NHSEI funding for a pilot 
to:

• Train GPs and practice staff around domestic 
violence and abuse (DV&A) including coercive 
control, and how to ask the question and 
respond appropriately

• Support for practices to achieve the Safer 
Leeds Domestic Violence and Abuse Quality 
Mark

• Develop and implement robust referral 
pathways

Following the success of the pilot, the CCG 
has provided a further two years funding. The 
funding has enabled eight practices with a 
high number of multi-agency risk assessment 
conference (MARAC) patients or who have been 
in involved in a domestic homicide review (DHR) 
to have access to an experienced domestic 
support worker. The worker is able to:

• Support delivery of training in partnership with 
Safer Leeds Domestic Violence Team

• Support practice staff following a disclosure of 
DV&A by a patient

• Support patients following disclosure, including 
the completion of DASH Risk Assessments and 
referral to MARAC as appropriate.

Female genital mutilation (FGM)

NHSEI has provided funding to support the 
commissioning of an FGM community based 
clinic within Leeds for the next two years. Leeds 
was identified as an ideal location for this pilot 
because we already had a specialist hospital-
based service for pregnant women, and their 
families, from minority ethnic communities, 
including asylum seekers and refugees. Data 
also showed that Leeds is in the top 20 areas in 
England for recording FGM.

The aim of the clinic is to provide services to 
meet the health and wellbeing needs of women 
and girls who have had FGM but who are not 
pregnant at the point of seeking help, and to 
evidence these outcomes. It provides support 
and basic treatments in relation to their FGM, 
and onward referral to other health services 
as needed. They also help women access NHS 
services which can then link to the police so that 
FGM offences can be investigated.

The clinic runs every fortnight and provides:

• Health care that includes assessment, 
diagnosis, simple de-infibulation with local 
anaesthetic, cervical smear testing

• Safeguarding assessments and personal 
education about FGM, consequences and 
illegality, exploring attitudes and perceptions

• Access to a specialist counsellor (up to six 
sessions)

• Access to an FGM advocate

• Referral to other third sector specialist support 
as needed

• Access to consultant gynaecology and urology 
for assessment and treatment.
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All appointments:

• Consider the safeguarding needs of the patient 
and of others identified and have close links to 
multi-agency partners (potential to co-locate 
social care post)

• Are led by specialist midwives

• Are supported by the FGM advocate  
(a role similar to one of an ISVA)

• Are supported by the counsellor

• Have access to a medical gynaecology 
consultant.

This is a great opportunity for Leeds and its FGM 
services to women and girls.

Assurance

Safeguarding was the subject of an internal 
audit in 2019. The previous audit was completed 
in 2014 and gave a judgement of reasonable 
assurance; this year we have been judged as 
providing significant assurance which indicates 
the commitment and hard work that the team 
demonstrate on a daily basis.

1.2.14 Requests for information

The CCG is committed to being open and 
transparent. This includes meeting the statutory 
requirements of the Freedom of Information 
(FOI) Act. The FOI requires every public body to 
produce and regularly maintain a publication 
scheme. We have adopted the Information 
Commissioners Office’s model publication scheme 
for health bodies. Our aim is to increase openness 
and transparency about what we do, what we 
spend, our priorities, decisions and policies. 
We also aim to make it easier for members of 
the public to find the information they require 
without having to make a written request. 
Our publication scheme can be found here: 
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/foi/publication-scheme

In 2019-20 received 210 requests under the 
Freedom of Information Act - compared to 232 in 
2018-19. We responded to 208 of these requests 
within the mandatory 20 working days.

FOI requests 
received

Requests 
responded to 

within 20 days

April 18 18

May 20 20

June 14 13

July 20 20

August 22 22

September 17 17

October 13 13

November 15 15

December 18 18

January 26 26

February 17 17

March 10 9

Total 210 208

Tim Ryley

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)

17 June 2020

https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/foi/publication-scheme/
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2.1 Corporate Governance Report

2.1.1 Members Report

NHS Leeds CCG became a statutory NHS body on 
1 April 2018.

Member profiles

Dr Gordon Sinclair, Clinical Chair

Gordon qualified from Leeds University and 
undertook postgraduate training around the 
Yorkshire region before taking up a partnership 
as a GP in 1993 at Burton Croft Surgery in 
Headingley. He was a GP Trainer before becoming 
interested in GP-led commissioning in 2005. 
He was involved with the development of NHS 
Leeds West CCG (April 2013 to March 2018) and 
was the chair of the organisation. In this role he 
is a founder member of the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

Dr Sinclair is responsible for ensuring good 
governance across the organisation with 
a particular focus on clinical leadership in 
commissioning decision-making, a clear 
commitment to public and patient involvement 
at all levels and the development of strong 
relationships with other key organisations in the 
Leeds Health and Social Care community.

Philomena Corrigan, Chief Executive 
(Accountable Officer) (to 30 April 2019)

Phil started her nursing career in 1982 and 
worked in a range of clinical areas such as 
intensive care, surgical services and older people’s 
services in Leeds. She then moved into a research, 
audit and educational role, co-writing two books 
on improving the quality of care in the NHS. 
She was Director of Nursing in an acute trust 
and then moved to a Primary Care Trust (PCT) in 
Bradford as Director of Community Services and 
Nursing.

She joined Leeds PCT in 2006 and in 2009 
was appointed as Director of Commissioning/
Director of Nursing and led on transformation, 
performance and improving quality of care for 
three years. She was appointed Chief Executive 

2. Accountability Report

of NHS Leeds West CCG in April 2012 to March 
2018, when she became the Chief Executive of 
NHS Leeds CCG. Phil is committed to ensuring 
patient services in Leeds are first class and deliver 
the best outcomes for those who use them.

Tim Ryley, Chief Executive 
(Accountable Officer) (from 1 May 2019)

Tim first started working in the NHS 19 years 
ago as a primary care service improvement 
manager looking at older people and medicines 
management. This followed work in the 
charity sector for Age Concern and as a priest 
in the Church of England. In the NHS he then 
worked in a number of general management 
roles including clinical governance and quality 
assurance, risk management and corporate 
governance, programme management, strategy 
and planning. Before coming to Leeds he was the 
Director for Strategy, Planning and Corporate at 
Stockport CCG with responsibilities that included 
information management and technology, 
communications and engagement, corporate 
affairs and governance along with strategy and 
also acted as the Programme Director for the 
Stockport Together partnership, one of NHSEI’s 
“New Models of Care” Programme.

Tim is interested in exploring how strategy 
harnesses and adjusts to the fast moving digitally 
driven world we all now live in and how we can 
develop community assets to support health 
outcomes. He also has a strong commitment to 
distributive approaches to leadership both within 
systems and teams. He has an honour’s degree 
in Geography, and Master’s degrees in Theology 
and Organisational Effectiveness and Total Quality 
Management.

Outside work he loves the outdoors whether 
on the beaches of Anglesey or in the mountains 
of Snowdonia. Tim lives in Greater Manchester 
with wife Julie and has four children, three 
grandchildren and a dog.
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Visseh Pejhan-Sykes, 
Executive Director of Finance

Visseh joined Leeds Primary Care Trust (PCT) 
in 2007 and has worked in commissioner 
organisations in Leeds ever since.

She started her career as a Trainee Chartered 
Accountant with Grant Thornton in Sheffield, 
and after qualifying, joined the NHS at the Royal 
Hallamshire Hospital in Sheffield (now part of 
the Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust). Her initial dual responsibilities as Financial 
Accountant and Directorate Accountant to a 
variety of specialties provided her with the best 
grounding possible for a career in NHS Finance.

Since then she has held a number of senior 
finance roles at both deputy director and board 
level across a range of NHS organisations, 
including mental health, ambulance service, PCT, 
NHS Executive Regional Office in Trent and NHS 
Leeds West CCG. In addition to her professional 
qualifications, Visseh has a Bachelors degree in 
Economics and a Masters degree in Computer 
Studies.

Dr Simon Stockill, Medical Director

Dr Simon Stockill grew up in Yorkshire, before 
studying medicine at St. Mary’s Hospital Medical 
School, Imperial College London and University 
College London. After qualifying as a GP he 
worked as a lecturer in general practice at 
Imperial College London, served on the Board 
of Westminster Primary Care Trust and was an 
elected member of Westminster City Council.

He has a post-graduate degree in population 
health from the University of York, and was 
Clinical Chair of NHS Leeds Primary Care Trust 
before becoming Medical Director of NHS Leeds 
CCG.

He has a national role as the Clinical Champion 
for Quality Improvement at the Royal College of 
GPs.

Simon spent over 10 years as a GP in Leeds. In 
April 2016 he moved to a new practice near 
Whitby in order to remove any conflicts of 
interest, as the CCG took over responsibility for 
commissioning primary care medical services. He 
still works two days a week as a GP and is the 
clinical director of the Whitby Coast and Moors 
Primary Care Network.

Outside medicine he is a trustee of the National 
Youth Theatre and is a keen gardener.

Jo Harding, Executive Director of Quality 
and Nursing

Jo qualified as a registered nurse in 1992 and 
subsequently as a registered health visitor 
practising clinically in Leeds and York. She 
strategically and operationally managed a 
full range of acute and community-based 
services for 15 years across North Yorkshire 
and York. Jo has a Master’s Degree in Leading 
Innovation and Change and seeks to develop 
and encourage effective leadership at every level 
of the healthcare system. She has a particular 
interest in the role of Nurses and AHPs as system 
leaders. Jo is an active coach and mentor. She is 
passionate about improving the quality outcomes 
for the residents of Leeds with an emphasis on 
transforming the whole NHS system to a model 
of high quality integrated health and social care.

In her spare time, Jo keeps herself busy with her 
seven step grandchildren, cooking, reading and 
chairing the local social committee designing an 
annual programme of family events.

Peter Myers, Lay Member 
(Audit and Conflicts of Interest Matters) 
(to 31 May 2019)

Peter is a Chartered Banker, and former 
building society Chief Executive, who has broad 
international financial services experience. This 
has been gained in the UK (Beverley Building 
Society, Yorkshire and Clydesdale Banks), 
Australia (National Australia Bank), New Zealand 
(Bank of New Zealand) and the USA (Michigan 
National Bank).
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Peter has been a director on nine boards 
(two as an Executive Director and seven as a 
Non-Executive Director). As well as being on 
the Governing Body of NHS Leeds CCG, he is 
Chairman of the Equine and Livestock Insurance 
Group, and a Non-Executive Director of Finance 
Yorkshire.

Sue Brear, Lay Member (Audit and Conflicts 
of Interest Matters) (from 1 June 2019)

Sue Brear started in post on 1 June 2019. Sue is 
Chair of the Audit Committee and the Auditor 
Panel and is also a member of the Governing 
Body, Primary Care Commissioning and 
Remuneration & Nomination Committees.

Sue is a qualified Accountant (FCCA), Fellow of 
the Chartered Insurance Institute, Chartered Risk 
Manager and a Data Protection Practitioner. She 
brings a wealth of experience of audit, corporate 
governance, risk management and legal & 
regulatory considerations and has worked in the 
public, private and educational sectors including 
the NHS, local government, Leeds Beckett 
University and financial services.

She has two daughters and three grandchildren 
and in her leisure time she likes to keep fit, play 
golf and socialise with her family and friends.

Samantha Senior, Lay Member 
(Primary Care Co-Commissioning)

Samantha has experience of holding lay member 
roles within the NHS; however, for most of her 
career she has worked in the private sector 
covering a range of human resources (HR) roles, 
which include service management roles. She 
has experience of working on cross-functional 
projects and she is professionally qualified to MSC 
level in HR.

Samantha joined the CCG in April 2018 as Lay 
Member for Primary Care Co-Commissioning 
and Deputy Chair. Samantha is Chair of the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee and the 
Remuneration & Nomination Committee; she is 
also a member of the Audit Committee.

Angela Collins, Lay Member 
(Patient and Public Participation)

Angela has worked in social research for over 18 
years. In her previous role as a research director 
at an independent research organisation, she 
completed a range of research projects for 
the NHS, CCGs, local authorities and voluntary 
organisations. She developed her love of 
governance during her time as a trustee for York 
CVS and in her role of local consumer advocate for 
the Consumer Council for Water. In October 2017 
Angela began a research council funded PhD in 
Social Policy and Criminology.

Angela joined the CCG in April 2018 and is Lay 
Member for Public and Patient Participation, as 
such she chairs the Patient Assurance Group. She is 
also a member of the Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee, Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee and the Quality and Performance 
Committee.

Dr Phil Ayres, Secondary Care Specialist 
Doctor

A graduate of Leeds Medical School, Phil trained to 
be a GP at Airedale hospital and was a partner in 
general practice in Leicestershire. After re-training 
in public health he took up a consultant post at 
St James’s Hospital in 1996, where he remained 
until March 2018. During that time Phil worked as 
a senior medical manager for nearly 20 years, as 
Associate and Deputy Medical Director to Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust. He was the Interim 
Medical Director at Leeds Community Healthcare 
NHS Trust immediately prior to joining the CCG. He 
has also worked as an Associate Medical Director 
at the Commission for Health Improvement (now 
the Care Quality Commission) and at the former 
Yorkshire and Humber Strategic Health Authority, 
where Phil led the implementation of medical 
revalidation (relicensing) for doctors in the region.

Phil’s main interests are around the role of 
doctors in leading health services to achieve best 
quality care, the development of collaborative 
relationships between providers of care, and 
professional standards for doctors.
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Dr Jason Broch, Assistant Clinical Chair

Jason is a GP at Oakwood Lane Medical Practice. 
As Assistant Clinical Chair, he chairs the Council 
of Members and the Clinical Commissioning 
Forum. He is also a member of the Quality and 
Performance Committee.

Previously, Jason was Chair of NHS Leeds North 
CCG from 2013 until it merged into the current 
CCG in 2018. He has a keen interest in quality, 
transformation, population health management 
and healthcare technology. Previously acting as 
Chief Clinical Information Officer on behalf of 
the whole Leeds Health & Social Care economy, 
he developed successful projects such as the 
integrated Leeds Care Record and award winning 
integrated business analytics.

Jason has lived in the Leeds North area for all of 
his life, except for receiving his medical training 
at the University of Manchester. Jason lives with 
his wife and two children. He spends some of his 
spare time in lay leadership positions in two local 
schools.

Member representatives

Dr Ben Browning

Ben studied Medicine at Nottingham University, 
qualifying in 1992, before moving back to his 
home territory of Leeds to pursue a career in 
general practice in 1993. He has been a partner 
at Lofthouse Surgery for 23 years, delivering 
medical care to a large and diverse practice 
population. Ben has much relevant experience, 
both medically and in working within the world 
of commissioning. He has been the practice 
lead from a commissioning point of view since 
its earliest time, playing an active role in what 
was Leodis, working on developing ambulatory 
pathways and urgent care.

Ben worked as a non-executive director on NHS 
Leeds South and East CCG board (April 2013 to 
March 2018) in addition to his full time GP role. 
He is passionate about the provision of excellent 
quality medical care to his patients, responding 
to local needs, tackling health inequalities and 
working closely with secondary care providers.

Dr Julianne Lyons

Julianne qualified in Glasgow in 1988 and 
completed her GP training in the West of 
Scotland, where she was a partner in an inner 
city practice in Glasgow. When she relocated to 
Yorkshire in 2002 she worked in various practices 
before joining Leeds Student Medical Practice, 
where she is now a partner. Her clinical interests 
are sexual and reproductive healthcare and 
mental health.

She has a Master’s degree in Healthcare 
Management and is keen to become involved in 
improving care for patients locally. She is involved 
in medical education for doctors, nurses and 
healthcare assistants. She is also interested in 
medical law and ethics and its impact on service 
provision for patients.

Out of work Julianne enjoys spending time with 
family and their dog and travelling.

Dr Keith Miller

Keith was born and grew up in Leeds and 
completed a degree in English Literature in 
Durham before altering course to study medicine. 
He carried out his postgraduate training 
throughout Leeds and Yorkshire, and qualified 
as a GP in 2010. He has worked at Kirkstall Lane 
Medical Centre since qualification, and took up 
a partnership in the practice in 2012. He is a 
GP trainer, and has a particular area of clinical 
interest in the care of older people. He will be 
leaving Kirkstall Lane in September 2020 and 
taking up a new partnership in Wetherby.

Keith has been a non-executive director to 
the CCG Governing Body since July 2018. He 
previously held roles as: a GP Extensivist in 
Greater Manchester, designing and clinically 
leading a service to improve care for people with 
complex healthcare needs; and prior to that, as 
the Clinical Lead for improving care for older 
people and those living in care homes in Leeds.

He has two young sons who keep him busy 
outside of work, has resorted to 6am workouts 
to get fit, and is an ever-suffering fan of Leeds 
United.
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Governing Body non-voting 
attendees

Sue Robins, Director of Acute & Specialist 
Commissioning (until 31 January 2020)

Sue qualified as a nurse in 1983 and subsequently 
gained experience and qualifications in Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and 
Health Visiting, and has worked in a wide range 
of community services as a practitioner and as 
a manager. She also spent time abroad working 
with the British Red Cross.

Sue has over 23 years management experience in 
both community and hospital services and adults 
and children’s healthcare in West Yorkshire and 
has held a wide range of roles across Bradford 
and Airedale and for the last four years in Leeds. 
Her strengths are in operational delivery and 
she uses all her varied clinical and management 
experience to develop our commissioning agenda 
and improving care for the people of Leeds.

Helen Lewis, Interim Director of Acute & 
Specialist Commissioning (from 2 February 
2020)

Helen joined the NHS in 1988 as a general 
management trainee and has a wide range 
of experience within the NHS. She started 
work in London, where she worked in acute, 
community and mental health posts, in a mixture 
of corporate and operational roles. She moved 
to Leeds in 1994 and worked at the Nuffield 
Institute for Health on a series of research and 
development projects. She then worked at Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust for many years, 
both on emergency services redesign and on 
planned care improvements.

Since moving to commissioning, Helen has had a 
couple of different roles. She was formerly NHS 
Leeds West CCG’s lead for acute commissioning 
for the city, before becoming head of 
commissioning for planned care and long term 
conditions for the newly formed NHS Leeds CCG. 
Her particular interest is in ensuring improved 
care for patients where their pathways cross 
between multiple providers.

Helen has served as a school governor and is 
currently vice chair of a local welfare charity. As a 
Leeds resident, who is also an informal carer and 
a parent, she has direct experience of the NHS 
in Leeds and is committed to working to create 
ongoing improvement.

Sabrina Armstrong, Director of 
Organisational Effectiveness

Sabrina has a broad range of corporate NHS 
experience, having gained her skills in a diverse 
range of provider, regional and national NHS 
organisations over the past 20 years. A former 
journalist and communications professional by 
background, Sabrina has also gained extensive 
corporate and programme management skills, 
latterly working as a programme director in a 
national organisation. She has successfully led 
and managed a number of teams, overcoming 
challenges and developing staff into more senior 
roles.

Sabrina is committed to ensuring the involvement 
of patients and communities in their local health 
services and making sure they have a say in 
how services continue to be developed. As an 
executive coach and a certified practitioner in 
neuro-linguistic programming (NLP), Sabrina 
recognises the importance of staff development 
and uses these skills in doing so.

Katherine Sheerin, Interim Director of 
System Integration

Katherine has worked in the NHS for over 
27 years, working in a number of roles in primary 
care development, commissioning and system 
redesign. She was Accountable Officer for 
Liverpool CCG from 2012 - 2017 where she led 
the ‘Healthy Liverpool’ Programme which set out 
to improve health outcomes, reduce inequalities, 
improve quality and sustain services clinically and 
financially. This had several successes including 
improving outcomes for people with cancer 
and reducing inequalities across the city, and 
significantly reducing avoidable hospital care. 
Since then, Katherine has worked across the 
Leeds system where she initially worked for 
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Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust as a strategic 
advisor, supporting them to understand their role 
in a more integrated system of care, followed 
by roles supporting the provider system more 
generally and for the CCG.

Dr Ian Cameron, Director of Public Health 
(until 29 February 2020)

Dr Ian Cameron is the Director of Public Health at 
Leeds City Council. As part of his role he provides 
public health leadership and advice to the CCG on 
health improvement, health protection and public 
health. Ian has been Director of Public Health for 
Leeds since 2006 and is a member of the Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Board and Chair of the 
Leeds Health Protection Board.

Ian qualified from Liverpool University and 
became consultant in public health in Leeds in 
1992 with a focus on mental health, physical 
disabilities and learning disabilities. In 2002 Ian 
became Director of Public Health for North West 
Leeds Primary Care Trust. Ian has significant 
experience of working within public health 
nationally, and internationally and in 2008 was 
made visiting Professor at the Institute of Public 
Health, Lahore, Pakistan for his work on tobacco 
control.

Victoria Eaton, Director of Public Health 
(from 1 March 2020)

Victoria has been in post as Director of Public 
Health at Leeds City Council from 1 March 2020, 
having previously held the role of Deputy Director 
of Public Health, and Consultant in Public Health 
in Leeds since 2007. Victoria has worked in a 
range of public health roles in Leeds since 1998, 
following previous public health appointments 
in the West Midlands and Yorkshire and Humber 
regions. Before training in public health, 
Victoria’s early career was in NHS leadership and 
management in the North West region.

Throughout her career, Victoria has had a strong 
commitment to addressing health inequalities 
and the social determinants of health, and their 
impact on physical and mental health. During 

her time in Leeds she has established award-
winning public mental health and community 
health development programmes, as well as 
leading work to ensure core public health services 
are shaped and informed by population needs. 
She has taught on several academic public 
health programmes, and maintains a strong 
involvement in workforce development, training 
and education in public health at a regional and 
national level.

Member practices

As at 31 March 2020, our 96 GP member 
practices are as follows:

• Abbey Grange Medical Practice

• Aire Valley Surgery

• Aireborough Family Practice

• Allerton Medical Centre

• Alwoodley Medical Centre

• Armley Medical Centre

• The Arthington Medical Centre

• Ashfield Medical Centre

• Ashton View Medical Centre

• The Avenue Surgery

• The Beech Tree Medical Practice

• Beeston Village Surgery

• Bellbrooke Surgery

• Bramham Medical Centre

• Bramley Village Health and Wellbeing Centre

• Burley Park Medical Centre

• Burton Croft Surgery

• Chapeltown Family Surgery

• Chevin Medical Centre

• Church Street Surgery

• City View Medical Practice

• Collingham Church View Surgery

• Colton Mill Medical Centre

• Conway Medical Centre

• Craven Road Medical Centre

• Crossley Street Surgery
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• Drighlington Medical Centre

• East Park Medical Centre

• The Family Doctors

• Fieldhead Surgery

• Foundry Lane Surgery

• Fountain Medical Centre

• The Gables Surgery

• The Garden Surgery

• Garforth Medical Centre

• Gibson Lane Practice

• Gildersome Health Centre

• Grange Medicare - Middleton Park

• Guiseley and Yeadon Medical Practice

• Hawthorn Surgery

• High Field Surgery

• Hillfoot Surgery

• Hyde Park Surgery

• Ireland Wood and Horsforth Medical Practice

• Drs Khan & Muneer, Hunslet Health Centre

• Kippax Hall Surgery

• Kirkstall Lane Medical Centre

• Laurel Bank Surgery

• Leeds City Medical Practice

• Leeds Student Medical Practice

• Leigh View Medical Practice

• Lincoln Green Medical Centre

• Lingwell Croft Surgery

• Lofthouse Surgery

• Manor Park Surgery

• Manston Surgery

• Meanwood Health Centre

• The Medical Centre

• The Menston and Guiseley Medical Practice

• Moorfield House Surgery

• Morley Health Centre

• Mulberry Street Medical Practice

• Newton Surgery

• North Leeds Medical Practice

• Nova Scotia Medical Centre

• Oakley Medical Centre

• Oakwood Lane Medical Practice

• Oakwood Surgery

• One Medicare (The Light)

• Oulton Surgery

• Park Edge Practice

• The Practice at Harehills Corner

• Priory View Medical Centre

• Robin Lane Medical Centre

• The Roundhay Road Surgery

• Rutland Lodge Medical Practice

• Shadwell Medical Centre

• Shaftesbury Medical Centre

• Shakespeare Community Practice - 
One Medicare

• South Queen Street Medical Centre

• Spa Surgery

• St Martins Practice

• Street Lane Practice

• Sunfield Medical Centre

• Thornton Medical Centre

• Vesper Road Surgery

• Westfield Medical Centre

• West Leeds Family Practice

• Westgate Surgery

• Wetherby Surgery

• Whitfield Practice

• Whitehall Surgery

• Windmill Health Centre

• Windsor House Group Practice

• Woodhouse Medical Practice

• York Street Health Practice
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Composition of Governing Body

Members of the Governing Body are as follows:

• Clinical Chair - Dr Gordon Sinclair

• Accountable Officer - Philomena Corrigan 
(until 30.04.19) / Tim Ryley (from 01.05.19)

• Executive Director of Finance - 
Visseh Pejhan-Sykes

• Secondary Care Specialist Doctor - 
Dr Phil Ayres

• Executive Director of Quality and Nursing - 
Jo Harding

• Lay Member (Audit and Conflicts of Interest) - 
Peter Myers (until 31.05.19) / Sue Brear 
(from 01.06.19)

• Lay Member (Patient and Public Participation) - 
Angela Collins

• Lay Member (Primary Care Co-commissioning/
Deputy Chair) - Samantha Senior

• Lay Member (Assurance) - Vacant

• Assistant Clinical Chair - Dr Jason Broch

• Three Member Representatives - Dr Ben 
Browning, Dr Julianne Lyons, Dr Keith Miller

• Medical Director - Dr Simon Stockill

• Director of Strategy, Planning & Performance - 
Vacant

Non-voting attendees:

• Director of Acute and Specialist Commissioning - 
Sue Robins (until 31.01.20) / Helen Lewis 
(on an interim basis from 02.02.20)

• Interim Director of System Integration - 
Katherine Sheerin (from 01.05.19)

• Director of Organisational Effectiveness - 
Sabrina Armstrong

• Director of Public Health (Leeds City Council) - 
Dr Ian Cameron (until 29.02.20) / Victoria Eaton 
(from 01.03.20)

The Governing Body has responsibility for ensuring 
that the group has appropriate arrangements in 
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently 
and economically and in accordance with the 
principles of good governance.

Committee(s), including Audit Committee

The Audit Committee provides the Governing 
Body with an independent and objective view of 
the CCG’s system of internal control for financial 
governance and corporate governance.

The Audit Committee is chaired by the Lay 
Member - Audit and Conflicts of Interest; the 
other members are the Lay Member - Primary 
Care Co-Commissioning and a Member 
Representative. Each member of the Audit 
Committee is also a member of the Governing 
Body. In attendance at each meeting is the 
CCG Executive Director of Finance as well as 
representatives from internal audit, external audit 
and counter fraud.

The work of the Audit Committee includes 
ensuring that there is an effective internal audit 
function; reviewing the work and findings of 
the external auditors; ensuring that the CCG has 
adequate arrangements in place for countering 
fraud; monitoring the integrity of the financial 
statements of the CCG; and overseeing risk 
management arrangements.

Details of the membership of all committees, 
including the Remuneration Committee, are 
included in the Governance Statement.

Register of interests

NHS Leeds CCG wishes to ensure that decisions 
made by the CCG are taken and seen to be 
taken without any possibility of the influence 
of external or private interest. The CCG has 
therefore put arrangements in place to ensure 
that conflicts of interest are appropriately 
managed with transparency and proportionality. 
We have established a register of interests which 
is outlined within the CCG’s policy on managing 
conflicts of interest. This register is reviewed 
by the Audit Committee. All Governing Body 
members, Committee members, employees 
and member practices are asked to complete 
a declaration of interest form to identify any 
potential conflicts of interest. CCG Governing 
Body members are also asked to declare any 
conflicts of interest with regards to agenda items 
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at each Governing Body and Committee meeting. 
The CCG register of interests can be viewed on 
the CCG website at: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk.

The internal auditors reviewed the CCG’s conflict 
of interest arrangements during 2019-20 and the 
overall rating was high assurance.

Personal data related incidents

The CCG has not reported any personal 
data related incidents to the Information 
Commissioner’s Office during 2019-20.

Statement of disclosure to auditors

Each individual who is a member of the CCG 
at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms:

• so far as the member is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 
auditor is unaware that would be relevant for 
the purposes of their audit report

• the member has taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken in order to make him or 
herself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware 
of it.

Modern Slavery Act

NHS Leeds CCG fully supports the Government’s 
objectives to eradicate modern slavery and 
human trafficking but does not meet the 
requirements for producing an annual slavery 
and human trafficking statement as set out in the 
Modern Slavery Act 2015.

2.1.2 Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) states that each CCG shall have an 
Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board 
(NHSEI). NHSEI has appointed the Chief Executive 
(Tim Ryley) to be the Accountable Officer of NHS 
Leeds CCG.

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are 
set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and 
in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. They include 
responsibilities for:

• The propriety and regularity of the public 
finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable

• For keeping proper accounting records (which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the CCG and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with 
the requirements of the Accounts Direction)

• For safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities)

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting 
officers under Managing Public Money

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically (in 
accordance with Section 14Q of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 
and with a view to securing continuous 
improvement in the quality of services (in 
accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its 
financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended)

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended), NHSEI has directed each CCG to 
prepare for each financial year a statement of 
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accounts in the form and on the basis set out 
in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the CCG and of its income and expenditure, 
Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for 
the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable 
Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual and in particular to:

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by 
NHSEI, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• Make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis;

• State whether applicable accounting standards 
as set out in the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in 
the accounts; and,

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; 
and

• Confirm that the annual report and accounts as 
a whole is fair, balanced and understandable 
and take personal responsibility for the annual 
report and accounts and the judgements 
required for determining that it is fair, balanced 
and understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the 
steps that I ought to have taken to make myself 
aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that NHS Leeds CCG’s auditors are 
aware of that information. So far as I am aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which 
the auditors are unaware.

I also confirm that:

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the CCG’s auditors are 
unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I 
have taken all the steps that I ought to have 
taken to make myself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the 
CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

Tim Ryley

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)

17 June 2020
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2.1.3 Governance Statement

Introduction and context

NHS Leeds CCG is a body corporate established 
by NHSEI on 1 April 2018 under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG’s statutory functions are set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended). The CCG’s general function is 
arranging the provision of services for persons for 
the purposes of the health service in England. The 
CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the 
provision of certain health services to such extent 
as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable 
requirements of its local population.

As at 1 April 2019, the CCG is not subject to any 
directions from NHSEI issued under Section 14Z21 
of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the 
CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance 
with the responsibilities assigned to me in 
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge 
my responsibilities as set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in 
my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter.

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG 
is administered prudently and economically 
and that resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and 
regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
within the CCG as set out in this governance 
statement.

Governance arrangements and 
effectiveness

The main function of the governing body is to 
ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically 
and complies with such generally accepted 
principles of good governance as are relevant 
to it.

The Governing Body

Our governance structure is headed by the 
Governing Body to which our 96 (as at 31 March 
2020) member practices have formally delegated 
their statutory responsibilities within our 
Constitution.

Members of the Governing Body are as follows:

• Clinical Chair - Dr Gordon Sinclair

• Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) - 
Philomena Corrigan (until 30.04.19) / Tim Ryley 
(from 01.05.19)

• Executive Director of Finance 
(Chief Finance Officer) - Visseh Pejhan-Sykes

• Secondary Care Specialist Doctor - 
Dr Phil Ayres

• Executive Director of Quality and Nursing - 
Jo Harding

• Lay Member - Audit & Conflicts of Interest - 
Peter Myers (until 31.05.19) / Sue Brear (from 
01.06.2019)

• Lay Member - Primary Care Co-Commissioning 
- Samantha Senior

• Lay Member - Patient and Public Involvement - 
Angela Collins

• Lay Member - Assurance - Vacant

• Assistant Clinical Chair - Dr Jason Broch

• Three Member Representatives - Dr Ben 
Browning, Dr Julianne Lyons, Dr Keith Miller

• Medical Director - Dr Simon Stockill

• Director of Strategy & Planning - Vacant
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Non-voting attendees:

• Director of Acute and Specialist Commissioning 
- Sue Robins (until 31.01.20) / Helen Lewis 
(on an interim basis from 02.02.20)

• Director of Organisational Effectiveness - 
Sabrina Armstrong

• Director of Public Health (Leeds City Council) - 
Dr Ian Cameron (until 29.02.20) / Victoria Eaton 
(from 01.03.20)

• Interim Director of System Integration - 
Katherine Sheerin (from 01.05.19)

The Governing Body has responsibility for 
ensuring that the group has appropriate 
arrangements in place to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically and 
in accordance with the principles of good 
governance.

The Governing Body met six times during 
2019-20:

Member Name

Attendance 
(eligible to 

attend)

Voting Members

Dr Gordon Sinclair - Clinical Chair (Chair) 6 (6)

Dr Jason Broch - Assistant Clinical Chair 5 (6)

Dr Julianne Lyons - Member representative 3 (6)

Dr Ben Browning - Member representative 5 (6)

Dr Keith Miller - Member representative 6 (6)

Peter Myers - Lay member; 
Audit & Conflicts of Interest 
(until 31.05.19)

1 (1)

Sue Brear - Lay member; 
Audit & Conflicts of Interest 
(from 01.06.19)

4 (5)

Angela Collins - Lay member; PPI 6 (6)

Samantha Senior - Lay member; 
Primary Care Co-Commissioning

4 (6)

Tim Ryley - Chief Executive 6 (6)

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes 
Executive Director of Finance

6 (6)

Jo Harding 
Executive Director of Quality & Nursing

5 (6) 
*Deputy sent

Dr Simon Stockill - Medical Director
5 (6) 

*Deputy sent

Dr Phil Ayres 
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

6 (6)

Non-Voting Members

Susan Robins 
Director of Operational Delivery 
(until 31.01.20)

4 (4)

Helen Lewis 
Interim Director of Acute & Specialist 
Commissioning (from 02.02.20)

2 (2)

Ian Cameron 
Director of Public Health (until 29.02.20)

4 (5)

Victoria Eaton 
Director of Public Health (from 01.03.20)

0 (1)

Katherine Sheerin 
Director of System Integration

6 (6)

Sabrina Armstrong 
Director of Organisational Effectiveness

6 (6)
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There are four committees that formally report 
into the Governing Body.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee provides the Governing 
Body with an independent and objective view of 
the CCG’s system of internal control for financial 
governance and corporate governance.

The Audit Committee is chaired by the Lay 
Member - Audit and Conflicts of Interest; the 
other members are the Lay Member - Primary 
Care Co-Commissioning and a Member 
Representative. Each member of the Audit 
Committee is also a member of the Governing 
Body. In attendance at each meeting is the CCG 
Chief Finance Officer as well as representatives 
from internal audit, external audit and counter 
fraud.

The work of the Audit Committee includes 
ensuring that there is an effective internal audit 
function; reviewing the work and findings of 
the external auditors; ensuring that the CCG has 
adequate arrangements in place for countering 
fraud; monitoring the integrity of the financial 
statements of the CCG; and overseeing risk 
management arrangements.

The Audit Committee met five times during 
2019-20:

Member Name

Attendance 
(eligible to 

attend)

Dr Keith Miller - Member representative 4 (5)

Peter Myers - Lay member; Audit & 
Conflicts of Interest (until 31.05.19) (Chair)

2 (2)

Sue Brear - Lay member; Audit & Conflicts 
of Interest (from 01.06.19) (Chair)

3 (3)

Samantha Senior - Lay member; Primary 
Care Co-Commissioning

4 (5)

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
makes decisions on the remuneration, including 
terms, conditions, pay and allowances (e.g. 
any pension scheme it might establish as an 
alternative to the NHS pension scheme) and 
redundancy/severance, of non-employee 
members of the Governing Body.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
also makes recommendations to the CCG 
Governing Body on decisions about the 
remuneration, including terms, conditions, pay 
and allowances (e.g. any pension scheme it 
might establish as an alternative to the NHS 
pension scheme) and redundancy/severance, of 
all employees (including employee members of 
the Governing Body) and people who provide 
services to the CCG.

In respect of nomination, the committee ensures 
that there is balance of skills, experience and 
knowledge of the Governing Body, undertaking 
succession planning, overseeing the appointment 
process for Governing Body members and setting 
the terms of office for these members.

The committee is chaired by the lay member; 
primary care co-commissioning; the other 
members are the clinical chair, audit lay member, 
PPI lay member and a member representative.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
met four times during 2019-20:

Member Name

Attendance 
(eligible to 

attend)

Dr Gordon Sinclair - Clinical Chair 4 (4)

Dr Keith Miller - Member representative 2 (4)

Peter Myers - Lay member; Audit & 
Conflicts of Interest (until 31.05.19)

1 (1)

Sue Brear - Lay member; Audit & Conflicts 
of Interest (from 01.06.19)

3 (3)

Samantha Senior - Lay member; Primary 
Care Co-Commissioning (Chair)

4 (4)

Angela Collins - Lay member; PPI 3 (4)

Angela Collins - Lay member, PPI 1(1)
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Quality and Performance Committee

The Quality and Performance Committee is 
responsible for the monitoring and oversight of:

• The quality and performance of commissioned 
services including patient experience, safety 
and clinical effectiveness

• The effectiveness and performance of 
commissioned services

• The performance of the CCGs and their delivery 
of agreed outcomes.

The membership includes at least three non-
executive or lay governing body members, 
the Executive Director of Quality and Nursing, 
Director of Operational Delivery, Director of 
Organisational Effectiveness and Medical Director.

The committee receives the integrated quality 
and performance report at each meeting as well 
as regular updates on providers under enhanced 
quality surveillance, risks relating to quality and 
performance and patient experience.

In fulfilling its role the committee seeks 
reasonable assurance relating to the quality 
and performance of commissioned services. 
The committee defines reasonable assurance as 
evidence that performance / quality is in line with 
agreed targets or trajectories, or where it is not, 
there is reasonable mitigation and an action plan 
to rectify any issues (the committee agrees on a 
case by case basis what constitutes reasonable 
mitigation).

Where the committee receives insufficient 
assurance, it challenges, assesses risks and 
escalates to the Governing Body or Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee if necessary.

The Quality and Performance Committee met six 
times during 2019-20:

Member Name

Attendance 
(eligible to 

attend)

Dr Ben Browning - Member representative 5 (6)

Angela Collins - Lay member; PPI 5 (6)

Dr Phil Ayres - Secondary Care Specialist 
Doctor (Chair)

4 (6)

Jo Harding - Executive Director of Quality 
& Nursing

3 (6)

Deputy sent to 3 meetings 4 (6)

Dr Simon Stockill - Medical Director 0 (6)

Deputy sent to 6 meetings 2 (6)

Susan Robins - Director of Operational 
Delivery (until 31.1.20)

3 (4)

Deputy sent to 1 meeting 6 (6)

Helen Lewis - Interim Director of Acute & 
Specialist Commissioning (from 02.02.20)

2 (2)

Sabrina Armstrong - Director of 
Organisational Effectiveness

4 (4)

Katherine Sheerin - Interim Director of 
System Integration

3 (4)

Dr Jason Broch - Assistant Clinical Chair 6 (6)

Primary Care Commissioning Committee

The Committee has been established in 
accordance with statutory provisions to enable 
the CCG to make collective decisions on the 
review, planning and procurement of primary 
care services within the CCG area, under 
delegated authority from NHSEI.

The membership consists of all Governing Body 
members apart from those who provide primary 
medical services in Leeds (to avoid conflicts of 
interest). The meetings are also attended by a 
representative of the local Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Healthwatch and NHSEI. A Member 
Representative is also in attendance at meetings, 
but not a formal member of the Committee.
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The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met 
five times during 2019-20:

Member Name

Attendance 
(eligible to 

attend)

Voting Members

Samantha Senior - Lay Member; 
Primary Care Co-Commissioning (Chair)

4 (5)

Sue Brear - Lay member; Audit & 
Conflicts of Interest (from 01.06.19)

5 (5)

Angela Collins - Lay member; PPI 4 (5)

Tim Ryley - Chief Officer 5 (5)

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes 
Executive Director of Finance

3 (5) 
Deputy sent 

to 2 meetings

Jo Harding 
Executive Director of Quality & Nursing

5 (5) 
Deputy sent 
to 1 meeting

Dr Simon Stockill - 
Medical Director

3 (5) 
Deputy sent 

to 2 meetings

Susan Robins 
Director of Operational Delivery 
(until 31.01.20)

3 (4) 
Deputy sent 
to 1 meeting

Helen Lewis - Interim Director of Acute & 
Specialist Commissioning (from 02.02.20)

1(1)

Dr Phil Ayres 
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

2 (5)

Non-Voting Members

Katherine Sheerin 
Director of System Integration

4 (5)

Sabrina Armstrong 
Director of Organisational Effectiveness

4 (5)

Julianne Lyons 
GP Member Representative

3 (5)

Ian Cameron 
Consultant in Public Health

3 (4)

Victoria Eaton 
Consultant in Public Health

0 (1)

Healthwatch Representative 3 (5)

NHSEI Representative 3 (5)

Member Name

Attendance 
(eligible to 

attend)

Health & Wellbeing Board Representative 1 (5)

Performance and assessment of effectiveness

Each committee has completed a self-assessment 
of its performance and effectiveness throughout 
the year. The reviews demonstrate that the 
committees are operating effectively and are 
fulfilling their terms of reference, however 
there are some areas for improvement such as 
ensuring the committees have time to reflect on 
the outcomes and decisions made at the end of 
each meeting, ensuring that papers have a clear 
purpose, and enabling more of a strategic focus. 
These actions will be taken forward with the 
chair and executive leads for each committee. 
The Quality & Performance Committee is also 
undertaking a series of workshops to review and 
change the way that the committee operates 
to improve effectiveness and clarify assurance 
processes.

UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the 
UK Code of Corporate Governance. However, 
we have reported on our corporate governance 
arrangements by drawing upon best practice 
available, including those aspects of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code we consider to 
be relevant to the CCG and best practice. The 
CCG is required to comply with the NHS Act 
2006 (as amended) and statutory guidance 
from NHS England. The CCG’s Constitution has 
been updated to align with the revised model 
Constitution. The Constitution and Governance 
Handbook describe the CCG’s governance 
arrangements, both of which are published on 
the CCG website.

Discharge of statutory functions

During establishment, the arrangements put 
in place by the CCG and explained within 
the Corporate Governance Framework were 
developed with extensive expert external legal 
input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant 
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legislation. That legal advice also informed 
the matters reserved to the Membership and 
Governing Body, and the scheme of delegation.

In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has 
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on it by the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated 
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the 
statutory functions for which it is responsible, 
including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions.

Responsibility for each duty and power has been 
clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates 
have confirmed that their structures provide the 
necessary capability and capacity to undertake all 
of the CCG’s statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and 
effectiveness

The CCG has an agreed risk management 
strategy, which is published on the CCG’s website 
and staff extranet. The risk management strategy 
has been reviewed to ensure it reflects best 
practice in risk management. The strategy was 
approved by the Governing Body in May 2019.

Implementation of the strategy provides 
assurance to the Audit Committee and the 
Governing Body that operational and strategic 
risks are being managed and where necessary 
escalated to the Governing Body. The strategy 
aims to support:

• Identification and prioritisation of the risks to 
the achievement of the commitments of the 
CCG;

• Evaluation of the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically; and

• Management and reporting of risks.

The strategy sets out the CCG’s definition of risk, 
the roles and responsibilities in relation to risk 
management across the organisation and the 

principles of risk management. Risk management 
and monitoring responsibilities are also included 
in committee Terms of Reference.

Risks are identified from a broad range of sources 
including incidents, complaints, internal audit 
reports and reports by external bodies, identified 
risks are recorded on the CCG risk register. Risks 
that may affect the ability of the CCG to meet 
its strategic commitments are recorded on the 
Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF).

All operational risks are recorded on the 
risk register. Risks are evaluated using a risk 
assessment matrix which analyses the risk 
in terms of consequence and likelihood and 
evaluates it using a 5x5 matrix. The strategy sets 
levels of risk score that determine which risks 
can be accepted, those that are managed at 
operational level on the risk register and those 
that are overseen by committees or escalated to 
the Governing Body. The operational risks are 
managed within directorates with support from 
the Corporate Governance and Risk Team. When 
risks increase in score, red 15 or above, these 
are escalated to the corporate risk register. The 
risks are reviewed and updated on a regular cycle 
with risk owners and the corporate risk register 
is presented and reviewed by the Governing 
Body at each meeting. High amber and red risks 
are also reported bi-monthly to the Executive 
Management Team and the relevant committee 
at each meeting.

The CCG is compliant with the Secretary of State’s 
Directions for counter fraud and the requirement 
for the provision of a local counter fraud specialist 
(LCFS). The activities undertaken by the LCFS 
during the year have been delivered to ensure 
that they are risk-based and in line with the latest 
thought-leadership and emerging methodologies.

The Governing Body Assurance Framework 
(GBAF) sets out how the CCG manages 
the principal risks to delivering its strategic 
commitments. The Governing Body owns 
and determines the content of the GBAF, 
identifying the strategic risks to achieving the 
CCG’s commitments and monitoring progress 
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throughout the year. Each risk is regularly 
reviewed to ensure the controls and assurances 
remain valid and any identified gaps are mitigated 
by timely implementation of clearly defined 
actions.

The CCG risk appetite statement has been 
agreed by the Governing Body and this has 
been implemented as part of the revised risk 
management strategy in 2019-20. This includes 
determining the risk appetite for each of the 
operational and strategic risks and setting a target 
risk level for each risk to be managed to. Actions 
to reduce the risk score are monitored as part of 
the risk management process.

In addition to the operation of the risk 
management strategy, risk management is 
embedded in the CCG in a number of ways, for 
example:

• The CCG operates a city wide incident reporting 
system which facilitates the review of incidents 
to identify any as a potential risk to the CCG;

• The risk manager provides guidance, support 
and training to staff appropriate to their 
authority and duties;

• The Governing Body and CCG employees 
receive training in Equality and Diversity and 
Equality Impact Assessments are completed for 
all strategy, policies and business cases so that 
the full impact on protected groups is identified 
and taken into account;

• Quality and equality impact assessments are 
also completed to assess the possible impact 
of commissioning decisions, QIPP plans and 
business cases and any mitigating actions are 
outlined in the assessment; and

• The CCG has policies in place to encourage 
employees to highlight risks and report 
concerns, for example through the 
Whistleblowing Policy.

The public are not directly involved in managing 
risk, but they are involved in commissioning 
decisions that affect them and therefore their 
views regarding the design of services are 
captured during engagement and consultation.

Capacity to handle risk

Risks identified by the CCG are recorded on risk 
registers and are allocated to senior officers and 
Governing Body members to take responsibility 
for the agreed mitigating actions. The risks are 
reviewed at each committee and Governing Body 
meeting via a standing agenda item. The steering 
groups, project groups and the committees 
provide progress and exception reports to the 
Governing Body which includes risks to delivery 
of projects and strategic commitments. The 
Governing Body is well sighted on risks.

The CCG has a dedicated risk manager who 
continues to increase the profile and awareness 
of risk management in the CCG during 2019-20. 
The risk manager provides guidance, support and 
training to staff appropriate to their authority and 
duties. The updated risk management strategy 
was approved in May 2019 and implemented 
during 2019-20. An Internal Audit of the risk 
management arrangements has provided high 
assurance that the system of risk management 
embedded at the CCG was in line with the Risk 
Management Strategy.

The Audit Committee has responsibility 
for ensuring the CCG has an effective risk 
management system. A deep dive of the 
assurances provided for the strategic risks has 
been introduced at the Audit Committee during 
2019-20. The Executive Management Team and 
the individual committees receive the high amber 
and red rated risks relevant to their remit.

Risk assessment

Risk is assessed in accordance with the risk 
management strategy. Risk assessment is 
undertaken using a risk assessment matrix 
included in the strategy. This ensures a consistent 
approach to risk assessment; the matrix reflects 
the organisation’s agreed risk levels and those 
at which escalation to senior managers and 
directors is required.
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As at 9 March 2020 the key risks faced by the 
CCG were:

• Not meeting legislative responsibilities in 
relation to community deprivation of liberty 
for fully funded CHC cases; due to assessor 
capacity and availability of court of protection 
time;

• Not maintaining a sustainable primary care 
workforce due to difficulties recruiting GPs and 
practice nurses;

• Information security maturity, including, risk 
to cyber security impacting on availability of 
systems and data;

• Capability to manage demand and discharge 
volumes during times of high demand;

• The perception of key stakeholders that the 
CCG Shaping Our Future programme is focused 
only on the CCG and excludes key partners.

All identified risks have details of key controls, 
how assurance will be given, gaps in controls 
and assurance, target risk level, action plans to 
address gaps and the risk owner.

Other sources of assurance

Internal Control Framework

A system of internal control is the set of 
processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. 
It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, 
to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically.

The system of internal control allows risk to 
be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness.

We have assigned both internal and external 
auditors to provide the Governing Body with 
independent assurance of its process of internal 
control and to assure itself of the validity of this 
Governance Statement.

Throughout the year a series of audits continue 
to be undertaken to review the effectiveness 
of governance systems. The finalised reports 
and agreed action plans from these audits are 
submitted to the Audit Committee. All audit 
reports contain action plans of work required 
as a result of the review findings. All actions are 
assigned to a senior manager with responsibility 
to complete within the designated timescales. 
Managers are held to account by the Audit 
Committee for completion of all actions. Five 
Internal Audit reports for the CCG have been 
given a rating of significant assurance, and five 
reports have been rated as high assurance.

The Governing Body Assurance Framework 
and Corporate Risk Register are standing 
agenda items on the Governing Body and 
Audit Committee agendas. This allows the 
CCG Governing Body members to cross-check 
current identified risks with any other significant 
developments that may arise on these agendas to 
ensure any identified problems are appropriately 
recorded on the risk register.

Annual audit of conflicts of interest 
management

The revised statutory guidance on managing 
conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual 
internal audit of conflicts of interest management. 
To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHSEI 
has published a template audit framework.

During the year, an annual audit of conflicts of 
interest has been undertaken. The overall rating 
for the audit was ‘high assurance’ which reflects 
the robust arrangements in place at the CCG. 
Minor recommendations were made to further 
strengthen the arrangements, which have now 
been implemented.

Data quality

The CCG has an in-house business intelligence (BI) 
service and BI is overseen as part of the Business 
Intelligence, Information Governance and 
Information Technology (BIIG and IT) Committee. 
All of the Governing Body committees were 
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reviewed in quarter four of 2019-20 and no 
concerns were raised regarding data quality.

Information governance

The NHS Information Governance Framework 
sets the processes and procedures by which the 
NHS handles information about patients and 
employees, in particular personal identifiable 
information. framework is supported by the data 
security and protection toolkit ,and the annual 
submission process provides assurances to the 
CCG, other organisations and to individuals 
that personal information is dealt with legally, 
securely, efficiently and effectively.

The audit of the data security and protection 
toolkit (DSPT) has provided an opinion of 
significant assurance in relation to the evidence to 
support the CCG’s submissions of its DSPT self-
assessment. This was based on a desk top review. 
The CCG will be submitting a ‘standards met’ 
statement for the toolkit.

The CCG places high importance on ensuring 
there are robust information governance systems 
and processes in place to help protect patient 
and corporate information. The CCG takes its 
information governance (IG) responsibilities 
seriously. The CCG has a suite of approved IG 
policies and has provided the associated staff 
awareness. The CCG continues to use a specialist 
data centre to process any person identifiable 
data.

The CCG has a governing body-level officer 
responsible for information security and the 
associated management processes, and this role 
is known as the senior information risk owner 
(SIRO). The CCG has a governing body-level 
clinician responsible for ensuring that all flows 
of patient information are justified and secure, 
and this role is known as the Caldicott Guardian. 
Data security training is mandatory for all staff, to 
ensure that staff are aware of their information 
governance roles and responsibilities.

There is a BIIG and IT Committee which reports 
to the Audit Committee. These are formal 
meetings with associated minutes and action 

tracking. The CCG has an IG team who provide 
expert advice and support. This includes a data 
protection officer who is appointed to both the 
CCG and the Leeds City Council. Any breaches 
of security are managed within the CCG risk 
management strategy and incident management 
policy and reported using the Datix system.

The CCG has arrangements in place to ensure 
data security. The CCG uses national IT systems 
such as Oracle financials. These are operated 
under nationally stipulated security arrangements. 
All CCG staff have undertaken the required IG 
training to handle data securely.

Business critical models

The CCG has assessed its predictive business 
models along with the associated level of 
criticality. Examples are risk stratification, activity 
and contract plans/forecasts and cash forecasts. 
Each business critical area has the required 
level of professional and management input. 
Data quality is monitored and there are service 
level agreements associated with the external 
provision of models such as risk stratification. 
Some external models such as ONS population 
forecasting are also classed as business critical, 
though not provided internally or via a service 
level agreement. The CCG has experience of 
robustly challenging the quality and accuracy of 
such external models.

Third party assurances

We seek assurance from third party providers 
about some of the services we receive. We have 
regular reviews LTHT and are currently awaiting 
the outcome of their internal audit of payroll. The 
most recent controls assurance report relating to 
the payroll service provided by the trust provided 
assurance that the service is properly controlled, 
managed and resourced.

Control Issues

The CCG did not identify any control issues within 
the Month 9 Governance Statement return and 
no issues have arisen subsequently that require 
reporting in this Governance Statement.
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Review of economy, efficiency & 
effectiveness of the use of resources

The Governing Body has overarching 
responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has 
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically.

The ratings for the quality of leadership indicator 
of the CCG Oversight Framework are published 
on the NHSEI website: www.england.nhs.uk/
commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf. The 
latest data available is for quarter one of 2019-20, 
and the CCG is rated as ‘outstanding’.

The CCG has developed and continues to refine 
systems and processes to effectively manage 
financial risks and to secure a stable financial 
position.

The CCG’s financial plan was developed for 
2019-20, and budgets were set within this plan 
and signed off by the Governing Body at the 
start of the financial year. These budgets were 
subsequently communicated to managers and 
budget holders within the organisation. The 
Executive Director of Finance and their team have 
worked closely with managers to ensure robust 
annual budgets were prepared and delivered.

Finance reports are presented to the Executive 
Management Team and at each Governing Body 
and Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
meeting, with a copy being presented to each 
meeting of the Audit Committee. Alongside the 
financial position, risks and actions to mitigate 
risks are reported and discussed. The CCG is also 
required to provide monthly financial information 
to NHSEI.

The CCG makes full use of internal and audit 
functions to ensure controls are operating 
effectively and to advise on areas for 
improvement. Audit reports, action plans 
and implementation of recommendations are 
discussed in detail at meetings of the Audit 
Committee.

The CCG’s annual accounts are reviewed by the 
Audit Committee prior to formal approval by the 
Governing Body.

The CCG is actively engaged in discussions to 
ensure resources are prioritised in line with 
its strategic direction, including opportunities 
for developing new models of care across the 
spectrum of healthcare providers.

The CCG also recognises the need to achieve 
cost reductions through improved efficiency and 
productivity and has developed a clear process 
to ensure the effective identification, monitoring 
and oversight of schemes which contribute 
towards these goals.

To respond in the most effective way to the 
COVID-19 pandemic which began in early 2020, 
we have temporarily halted our process of 
identifying improved efficiency and productivity 
schemes and the associated monitoring, but will 
resume this process once it is safe and acceptable 
to do so.

Delegation of functions

The CCG has a risk pooling arrangement in 
place with Leeds City Council where governance 
processes have been clearly outlined in a formal 
agreement and control of the resources remains 
with the CCG which makes recommendations in 
partnership with the council to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for ratification.

Functions have been delegated to the West 
Yorkshire and Harrogate Joint Committee of CCGs 
to support the integrated care system and ensure 
joined up and efficient decision making. The 
Joint Committee has produced an annual report 
which is available on the West Yorkshire and 
Harrogate Health and Care Partnership website, 
and highlights of the report are below.

Reducing variation in planned care

The Committee has agreed commissioning 
policies which improve equity in access to 
services, help reduce health inequalities and 
tackle the ‘postcode lottery’:

Musculoskeletal pathway

The Committee agreed a pathway to address 
high demand and variation in MSK services 
across WY&H. The pathway aims to ensure that 

www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf
www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf
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all but the most urgent MSK cases are managed 
in primary care or through referral to an MSK 
service.

Knee, shoulder and hip policies

The Committee agreed WY&H policies covering 
surgical and non-surgical procedures for a range 
of conditions relating to shoulder pain and 
instability, knee pain and hip problems. Evidence-
based clinical thresholds mean that surgical 
procedures are carried out only when they are 
clinically effective, and where alternative non-
surgical options have been ineffective.

Cataract surgery

The Committee agreed a WY&H-wide pathway 
and policy for cataract surgery, including 
proposals to make better use of community 
optometrists. Making better use of community 
optometrists will release specialist capacity 
in hospitals to see higher risk patients with 
potentially sight-threatening conditions.

Flash glucose monitors

The Committee agreed a WY&H commissioning 
policy for flash glucose monitors. These are 
small sensors worn on the skin for monitoring 
the glucose levels of people with diabetes, and 
reduce the need for ‘finger prick’ testing.

NHS England and Improvement Medicines Value 
Programme

The Committee agreed the recommendations 
of the NHS England and NHS Improvement 
Medicines Value Programme. The Committee 
agreed that primary care prescribers should not 
initiate and in many cases should de-prescribe 
items, mainly relating to skin and cardiac 
conditions.

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Healthy Hearts

To support Phase 2 of the WY&H Healthy 
Hearts project, the Committee approved 
simplified guidance for treating people with high 
cholesterol. More information about the project is 
in section 1.2.12

Urgent and emergency care

In December 2018, the Committee approved a 
new approach to Integrated Urgent Care services. 
A progress report showed that the changes had 
increased access to clinical advice for patients and 
had also increased the ability for patients to book 
face to face appointments in primary care.

Counter fraud arrangements

The CCG has contracted with Audit Yorkshire who 
provide an accredited counter fraud specialist 
(LCFS) to undertake counter fraud work. The LCFS 
meets regularly with the Executive Director of 
Finance who is responsible for overseeing and 
providing strategic management and support for 
all anti-fraud, bribery and corruption work within 
the organisation. The LCFS also attends Audit 
Committee meetings and provides a progress 
report on the work undertaken. This includes a 
report on the outcome of the self-assessment 
against the NHS Counter Fraud Authority 
Standards for Commissioners. The last assessment 
was presented in April 2019 with an overall score 
of ‘green’.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion

Following completion of the planned audit 
work for the financial year for the CCG, the 
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent 
and objective opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk 
management, governance and internal control. 
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:

Significant assurance is given that there is a 
generally sound system of internal control, 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, 
and that controls are generally being applied 
consistently. However, some weakness in 
the design and/or inconsistent application of 
controls, put the achievement of particular 
objectives at risk.
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During the year, Internal Audit issued the 
following audit reports:

Area of audit
Level of 
assurance given

Mental Capacity Act Significant

Contract Management Significant

Management of Conflicts of Interest High

Primary Care Commissioning 
& Contracting

Full

Partnership Governance 
Arrangements

Significant

Incident Reporting High

Risk Management High

Budgetary Control and 
Key Financial Systems

High

QIPP Significant

Emergency Planning & Business 
Continuity Planning

Significant

Compliance with Procurement 
Regulations

High

Workforce Development 
& Management

Significant

Data Security & Protection Toolkit Significant

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk 
management and internal control

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the executive 
managers and clinical leads within the CCG who 
have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I 
have drawn on performance information available 
to me. My review is also informed by comments 
made by the external auditors in their annual 
audit letter and other reports.

The CCG Governing Body Assurance Framework 
(GBAF) provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the 
CCG achieving its principle objectives have been 

reviewed.

I have been advised on the implications of the 
result of my review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the Governing 
Body, Primary Care Commissioning Committee, 
Audit Committee and the Quality & Performance 
Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses 
and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place.

We have assigned both internal and external 
auditors to provide the Governing Body with 
independent assurance of its process of internal 
control and to assure itself of the validity of this 
Governance Statement.

Throughout the year a programme of audits has 
been undertaken to review the effectiveness 
of governance systems. The reports from these 
audits are submitted to the Audit Committee. 
All audit reports contain action plans of work 
required as a result of the review findings. All 
actions are assigned to a senior manager with 
responsibility to complete within the designated 
timescales. Managers are held to account by the 
Audit Committee for completion of all actions.

The GBAF and Corporate Risk Register are 
regular agenda items on the Governing Body 
and Audit Committee agendas. This allows the 
CCG Governing Body members to triangulate 
current identified risks with any other significant 
developments that may arise on these agendas to 
ensure any identified problems are appropriately 
recorded on the risk register.

The CCG also seeks assurance from other areas 
about some of the services it receives. Annual 
assurance statements are received from the 
CCG’s payroll provider in respect of their internal 
controls.

Conclusion

No significant internal control issues have been 
identified.

Tim Ryley

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)

17 June 2020
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2.2 Remuneration and staff report

2.2.1 Remuneration report

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Details of our Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee’s membership, number of meetings 
during the year and individual attendance records 
are provided in our Governance Statement in 
section 2.1.3.

Policy on remuneration of senior managers

To determine the level of remuneration, both 
present and future, the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee takes into consideration 
national guidance issued by NHSEI and 
benchmarking data from other CCGs.

In 2019-20 benchmarking data was collated to 
inform pay levels. Our senior managers’ pay has 
not been subject to any performance related pay 
considerations.

All senior managers have been awarded standard 
contracts based on a model developed across 
West Yorkshire with standard terms, durations, 
notice periods and termination payments.

Standard notice periods are currently three 
months.

Remuneration of very senior managers

Two senior managers are paid more than 
£150,000 per annum pro rata. The CCG 
has satisfied itself that this remuneration is 
reasonable via the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee, which has assured itself that the 
remuneration is in line with national guidance 
set out in CCG Governing Body Members: Role 
Outlines, Attributes and Skills. This states that “All 
payments should be:

• evidently in line with the individual‘s current 
earnings;

• commensurate with the average rate for their 
current employment or the specific role; or

• demonstrably required to provide backfill.”
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is 
the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member 
at a particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and 
any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.

CETVs are calculated in accordance with SI 2008 
No.1050 Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer 
Values) Regulations 2008

Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded 
by the employer. It does not include the 
increase in accrued pension due to inflation or 
contributions paid by the employee (including the 
value of any benefits transferred from another 
pension scheme or arrangement).

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of 
office (subject to audit)

The CCG did not make any payments for 
compensation on early retirement or loss of office 
in the financial year

Payments to past directors (subject to audit)

A contractual redundancy payment has been 
approved during 2019-20, totalling £42,808 
relating to a former Director of NHS Leeds North 
CCG and is included in the exit packages table 
below.

Pay Multiples 2019/20 (subject to audit)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the 
relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid member of the Board in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid 
member of the Board in the financial year 2019-
20 was £155k-£160k (£150k-£155k in 2018-19). 
This was 4.17 times the median remuneration of 
the workforce (4.17 times in 2018-19), which was 
£37.8k (£36.6k in 2018-19).

Board Member - Highest paid 
ratio

2019-20 2018-19

Band of highest paid Board 
Members total remuneration 
(£000's)

157.5 152.5

Median total remuneration 
(£000's)

37.8 36.6

Ratio 4.17 4.17

Total remuneration includes salary, 
non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. 
It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent 
transfer value of pensions. For part time staff, 
remuneration is calculated by grossing up the 
part time salary to full time equivalent. The 
remuneration of the highest paid board member 
has been grossed up to full time equivalent.
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Average number of people employed
Permanent 
Employees

Other Total

Total CCG 288 9 297

Of the above: 
Number of whole time 
equivalent people engaged 
on capital projects

- - -

Off payroll engagements

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements 
longer than six months.

Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2020, 
for more than £245 per day and that last longer 
than six months:

2019-20 2018-19

Number of existing engagements 
as of 31 March 2020

4 8

Of which, the number that have existed:

For less than one year 
at the time of reporting

1 3

For between one and two years at the 
time of reporting

- 3

For between two and three years 
at the time of reporting

1 1

For between three and four years 
at the time of reporting

- -

For four or more years 
at the time of reporting

1 1

Table 2: New off-payroll engagements

Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2020, 
for more than £245 per day and that last longer 
than six months:
Number of new engagements, or those 
that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 
2020

6 9

Of which:

No. assessed as caught by IR35 - -

No. assessed as not caught by IR35 6 9

No. engaged directly (via PSC contracted 
to the CCG) and are on CCG payroll

- -

No. of engagement reassessed for 
consistency/assurance purposes during 
the year

- -

No. of engagements that saw a change 
to IR35 status following the consistency 
review

- -

Table 3: Off-payroll board member / 
senior official engagements

Off-payroll engagements of board members, 
and/or, senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 
31 March 2020:

Number of off-payroll engagements of 
board members, and/or senior officers 
with significant financial responsibility, 
during the financial year.

- -

Total no. of individuals on payroll and 
off-payroll that have been deemed 
“board members, and/or, senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility”, 
during the financial year. This figure 
should include both on payroll and off-
payroll engagements.

21 19

Consultancy expenditure

During the year, the CCG incurred expenditure 
totalling £701k (2018-19: £63k).
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2.2.2 Staff report

In October 2018, we published our People and 
Organisational Development Strategy 2018-2021 
which provides a framework for developing our 
organisation and the people who work here. Our 
approach is based on six people ambitions:

1. Creating a high performing organisation - 
looking for opportunities to continuously 
develop and offer stretch to our staff so that 
we can build an organisation that celebrates 
success and achieves our strategic ambitions.

2. Leading the system - effective management 
will remain a key role at the CCG, but we will 
increasingly use our position to shape the 
future model for health and care in Leeds

3. Working collaboratively - e.g. already work 
closely with partners and stakeholders, but 
as the Leeds health and care model matures, 
we will increasingly become engaged in the 
co-production of plans. The CCG will also 
have a role in facilitating and stimulating this 
process and it will impact on some of our key 
approaches and decisions.

4. Thinking citywide - looking beyond the CCG 
and its organisational focus to contributing to 
the wider vision for the city.

5. Working flexibly - using new ways of working 
to offer people greater flexibility, the principle 
of having a place to work, rather than a single 
place of work.

6. Measuring outcomes - focusing on what is 
to be achieved rather than what activity has 
occurred.

The Governing Body was due to review the 
strategy at their November meeting, but, because 
of General Election rules, they received an update 
in January 2020. They reflected on developments 
and changes, confirmed that progress was being 
made against the strategy and agreed that it 
remained valid for the organisation.

Staff consultation and engagement

The CCG took part in the NHS National Staff 
Survey 20019 and will act on the report outcomes 
as part of its wider staff engagement. 80% of 
staff completed the survey so it offers a robust 
and representative view.

 We again carried out an internal communications 
survey, the results of which have been used 
to further improve the way we communicate 
with our staff. This has included two all staff 
events, which have included a mix of briefings 
about local and national issues affecting the 
NHS, motivational speakers, team building and 
networking opportunities and ‘question time’ 
with senior managers. Feedback from the events 
has been very positive.

Building on this positive engagement, we 
decided to fully involve our staff and partners 
in reviewing our operating model. We engaged 
consultants to work with us to develop proposals 
which have been shared and tested through 
extensive consultation including staff drop-ins, 
presentations at the staff conference, team 
meetings and subject development sessions.

This work programme, called Shaping Our Future, 
was due to make recommendations early in 2020-
21. That will include proposals on how we should 
organise our people to support the health and 
care system to deliver the best possible outcomes 
for the citizens of Leeds. The programme will 
restart once the COVID-19 arrangements are 
relaxed or concluded.

With the end of the eMBED contract, the 
North Yorkshire, Humber and Leeds Yorkshire 
Social Partnership Forum ended. Recognising 
the importance of partnership working, we 
established an NHS Leeds CCG Social Partnership 
Forum during 2019-20. This to provide a formal 
negotiation and consultation group for the CCGs 
and trade unions to discuss and debate issues in 
an environment of mutual trust and respect.
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In particular it:

• Engages employers and trade union 
representatives in meaningful discussion on the 
development and implications of future policy

• Provides a forum for the exchange of 
comments and feedback on issues that have a 
direct or indirect effect on the workforce

• Promotes effective and meaningful 
communication between all parties that can 
be subsequently disseminated across the 
membership

A cross-section of colleagues, on behalf of their 
teams, are offered the opportunity to participate 
in consultation on policy development via our 
Workforce and Diversity Group.

In 2019-20, we reviewed and agreed the 
domestic violence policy.

Staff recognition

In 2019, we recognised the achievements of our 
staff at our annual awards ceremony, which we 
held as part of an all staff event. The awards, 
which were judged by an independent panel, 
recognised individuals and teams across several 
categories:

• Making a difference

• Living our values

• Above and beyond

• Working together

• Service innovation and transformation

• Putting patients first

• Team of the year

We also recognise employee long service when 
our staff reach 25 years working in the NHS.

Training and appraisal

We achieved an overall compliance rate of 86% 
for statutory and mandatory training for directly 
employed staff against a target of 90%. This is a 
notable improvement since last year.

A number of staff have undertaken learning and 
development opportunities linked to their role 
via our learning and development application 
process, which was revised as part of the learning 
and development policy review and is directly 
linked to the appraisal process.

We introduced a new appraisal process for 
2019-20 where we ask line managers and their 
direct reports to agree objectives, hold a mid-year 
evaluation of progress and a final end-of-year 
review. Compliance towards this requirement 
was 72% at the end of March 2020, although the 
process is currently on hold due to COVID-19.

We have introduced a significantly enhanced 
coaching and mentoring offer to staff. This 
includes the offer of executive coaching to our 
senior leadership tier and a manager as coach 
session for all managers across the organisation 
to improve our appraisal and development 
conversations. We continue to develop our 
apprenticeship scheme, which includes 
management level opportunities in project 
management skills.

Workplace health, safety and wellbeing

The CCG has trained first aiders to support 
and promote health and wellbeing. We have 
management and self-referral to a counselling 
service and to occupational health. This year, we 
introduced a mental health first aid programme 
to further support staff and trained 11 mental 
health first aiders who are available to support 
any member of staff.

Sickness absence (optional to omit)

We have been unable to obtain final data for our 
sickness absence rates but the provisional data is 
available at digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/
publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates

Line managers are committed to providing 
support to staff through the managing sickness 
policy to provide excellent working conditions, 
balancing the health needs of staff against the 
needs of the organisation.

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
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Equality of opportunity

We are committed to eliminating unlawful 
discrimination and promoting equality of 
opportunity by building a workforce that is broadly 
representative of the population we serve. We 
make sure that equality and diversity is a priority 
when planning and commissioning local healthcare 
and in respect of our workforce.

To ensure that our staff members do not 
experience discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation we ensure equality is integrated 
across all our employment practices and have a 
range of policies including:

• Acceptable standards of behaviour 
(this includes dignity at work)

• Equal opportunities and diversity in employment

• Managing sickness absence

• Recruitment and selection.

Equality impact assessments have been carried 
out on all relevant policies. We value diversity and 
aim to support protected groups and recognise 
that in order to remove the barriers experienced 
by disabled people we need to make reasonable 
adjustments for our disabled employees. We 
do this on a case by case basis and involve 
occupational health services as appropriate. 
Reference to reasonable adjustments is made in all 
relevant polices.

CCG staff members are required to complete 
mandatory equality and diversity training. Senior 
management team members, board members, 
patient assurance group members and staff 
directly involved in commissioning work have 
attended a face to face training session, which 
describes the implications of the Public Sector 
Equality Duty for people commissioning health 
services. All other staff have completed an 
e-learning course. In addition regular briefings and 
one to one guidance and support are provided on 
equality impact assessments and equality analysis 
and in relation to the commissioning of healthcare. 
We will ensure that all records are updated to 
ensure compliance among all staff, Governing 
Body members and the Patient Assurance Group.

We have also introduced and support a BAME 
network (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic) which 
will increasingly influence the CCG’s efforts to be 
an inclusive employer.

Annual workforce report

Number of senior managers by band

Pay band Total

Band 8a 65

Band 8b 30

Band 8c 14

Band 8d 11

Very senior managers 6

Governing body 17

Any other spot salary 17

Staff numbers and costs

Assignment category Total

Permanent 330

Fixed term 61

Statutory office holders 0

Bank 0

Honorary 3

Gender breakdown

Gender
Total 

(Female)
Total 

(Male)

Band 8a 52 13

Band 8b 22 8

Band 8c 9 5

Band 8d 7 4

Very senior managers 4 2

Governing body 8 9

Any other spot salary 7 10

All other employees (including 
apprentice if applicable)

189 45
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Trade union facility time, 2019-20

Table 1: Relevant union officials

Number of employees 
who were relevant union 

officials during the relevant 
period

Full-time equivalent 
employee number

2 320

Table 2: Percentage of time spent on facility 
time

Percentage of time Number of employees

0% 2

1-50%  -

51%-99%  -

100%  -

Table 3: Percentage of pay bill spent on facility 
time

Total cost of facility time £3,654

Total pay bill  £14,234,00

Percentage of the total pay 
bill spent on facility time

0.022%

Table 4: Paid trade union activities

As a percentage of total paid facility 
time hours, how many hours were spent 
by employees who were relevant union 
officials during the relevant period on paid 
trade union activities?

100%

Tim Ryley

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)

17 June 2020

2.3 Parliamentary accountability 
and audit report
NHS Leeds CCG is not required to produce a 
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. 
There are no applicable disclosures with regard 
to remote contingent liabilities, losses and special 
payments, gifts, and fees and charges. An audit 
certificate and report is also included in this 
annual report.
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3. Independent auditor’s report

Independent auditor’s report to the 
members of the governing body of 
NHS Leeds CCG

Report on the audit of the financial 
statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 
NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (“the 
CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2020 which 
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes, 
including the accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its 
income and expenditure for the year then 
ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the accounting policies directed by the 
NHS Commissioning Board with the consent 
of the Secretary of State as being relevant 
to CCGs in England and included in the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2019/20.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs 
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are 
described below. We have fulfilled our ethical 
responsibilities under, and are independent of the 
CCG in accordance with, UK ethical requirements 
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is a 
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The Accountable Officer has prepared the 
financial statements on the going concern basis 
as they have not been informed by the relevant 
national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG 
without the transfer of its services to another 
public sector entity. 

They have also concluded that there are no 
material uncertainties that could have cast 
significant doubt over its ability to continue as a 
going concern for at least a year from the date of 
approval of the financial statements (“the going 
concern period”).

We are required to report to you if we have 
concluded that the use of the going concern 
basis of accounting is inappropriate or there is an 
undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt over the use of that basis for a 
period of at least a year from the date of approval 
of the financial statements. In our evaluation 
of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions we 
considered the inherent risks to the CCG’s 
operations and analysed how these risks might 
affect the CCG’s financial resources, or ability to 
continue its operations over the going concern 
period. We have nothing to report in these 
respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events 
or conditions and as subsequent events may 
result in outcomes that are inconsistent with 
judgements that were reasonable at the time 
they were made, the absence of reference to a 
material uncertainty in this auditor’s report is 
not a guarantee that the CCG will continue in 
operation.

Other information in the Annual Report

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the 
other information presented in the Annual Report 
together with the financial statements. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, accordingly, 
we do not express an audit opinion or, except 
as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our 
financial statements audit work, the information 
therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our audit knowledge.
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Based solely on that work we have not identified 
material misstatements in the other information. 
In our opinion the other information included 
in the Annual Report for the financial year is 
consistent with the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement

We are required to report to you if the Annual 
Governance Statement does not comply with 
guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning 
Board. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Remuneration and Staff Report

In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and 
Staff Report subject to audit have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Department of 
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 
2019-20.

Accountable Officer’s responsibilities

As explained more fully in the statement set 
out on page 67, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements that give a true and fair view. They are 
also responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
assessing the CCGs ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern; and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless they have been 
informed by the relevant national body of the 
intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer 
of its services to another public sector entity.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
does not guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is 
provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities

Report on other legal and regulatory matters

Opinion on regularity

We are required to report on the following 
matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014.

In our opinion, in all material respects, the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them.

Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources Under the Code of Audit Practice 
we are required to report to you if the CCG has 
not made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.

We have nothing to report in this respect.

Respective responsibilities in respect of our 
review of arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources

As explained more fully in the statement set 
out on page 67, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for ensuring that the CCG exercises its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically. 
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to 
be satisfied that the CCG has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources.

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-assurance/auditor-s-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-fi/description-of-the-auditor%e2%80%99s-responsibilities-for
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-assurance/auditor-s-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-fi/description-of-the-auditor%e2%80%99s-responsibilities-for
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We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCGs 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of resources are 
operating effectively.

We have undertaken our review in accordance 
with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to 
the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General (C&AG) in December 2019 
and updated in April 2020 as to whether the 
CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable 
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. We 
planned our work in accordance with the Code of 
Audit Practice and related guidance. Based on our 
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we 
considered necessary.

Statutory reporting matters

We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of 
Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to 
report to you if:

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State 
under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have 
reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer 
of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a 
decision which involves or would involve the 
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
about to take, or has begun to take a course 
of action which, if followed to its conclusion, 
would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency; or

• we issue a report in the public interest 
under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or

• we make a written recommendation to the 
CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom 
we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Members of the 
Governing Body of NHS Leeds

CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Members of the Governing 
Body of the CCG, as a body, those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Members 
of the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Certificate of completion of the audit

We certify that we have completed the audit 
of the accounts of NHS Leeds CCG for the 
year ended 31 March 2020 in accordance 
with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit 
Practice.

Rashpal Khangura 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
1 Sovereign Square, 
Sovereign Street, 
Leeds, 
LS1 4DA

24 June 2020
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2019-20 2018-19

Note £’000 £’000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (1,022) (785)

Other operating income 2 (5,539) (1,806)

Total operating income (6,561) (2,591)

Staff costs 4 17,145 14,874

Purchase of goods and services 5 1,303,368 1,212,349

Depreciation and impairment charges - -

Provision expense 5 1,801 2,471

Other operating expenditure 5 456 626

Total operating expenditure 1,322,770 1,230,320

Net Operating Expenditure 1,316,209 1,227,729

Finance income - -

Finance expense - -

Net Expenditure for the year 1,316,209 1,227,729

Net (gain)/loss on transfer by absorption 7 - 62,080

Total Net Expenditure for the year 1,316,209 1,289,809

Other Comprehensive Expenditure

Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE - -

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of intangibles - -

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of financial assets - -

Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes - -

Impairments and reversals taken to revaluation reserve - -

Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets - -

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets - -

Sub total - -

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020 1,316,209 1,289,809

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020

The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.

4. Annual accounts
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2019-20 2018-19

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment - -

Intangible assets - -

Investment property - -

Trade and other receivables - -

Other financial assets - -

Total non-current assets - -

Current assets

Inventories - -

Trade and other receivables 9 7,882 6,426

Other financial assets - -

Other current assets - -

Cash and cash equivalents 10 315 122

Total current assets 8,197 6,548

Non-current assets held for sale - -

Total current assets 8,197 6,548

Total assets 8,197 6,548

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 (58,903) (58,179)

Other financial liabilities - -

Other liabilities - -

Borrowings - -

Provisions 12 (538) (3,415)

Total current liabilities (59,441) (61,594)

Non-Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities (51,244) (55,046)

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables - -

Other financial liabilities - -

Other liabilities - -

Borrowings - -

Provisions 12 (5,650) (1,386)

Total non-current liabilities (5,650) (1,386)

Assets less Liabilities (56,894) (56,432)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (56,894) (56,432)

Revaluation reserve - -

Other reserves - -

Charitable reserves - -

Total Taxpayers’ Equity (56,894) (56,432)

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2020

The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.

The financial statements on the following pages were approved by the Governing Body on 17 June 2020 and signed on its 
behalf by:

Tim Ryley  

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)
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General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Total 
reserves

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20

Balance at 1 April 2019 (56,432) - - (56,432)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from 
closed NHS bodies

- - - -

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group  
balance at 1 April 2019

(56,432) - - (56,432)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group  
taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (1,316,209) - - (1,316,209)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets - - - -

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial 
Assets (excluding available for sale financial assets)

- - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale - - - -

Impairments and reversals - - - -

Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pensions - - - -

Movements in other reserves - - - -

Transfers between reserves - - - -

Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure

- - - -

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale 
financial assets

- - - -

Transfers by absorption to/(from) other bodies - - - -

Reserves eliminated on dissolution - - - -

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
Expenditure for the Financial  Year

(1,316,209) - - (1,316,209)

Net funding 1,315,747 - - 1,315,747

Balance at 31 March 2020 (56,894) - - (56,894)

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers’ Equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.
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General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Total 
reserves

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19

Balance at 1 April 2018 - - - -

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from 
closed NHS bodies

- - - -

Impact of applying IFRS 9 to opening balances - - - -

Impact of applying IFRS 15 to opening balances - - - -

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 
1 April 2018

- - - -

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ 
equity for 2018-19

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (1,227,729) - - (1,227,729)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets - - - -

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments  
and Financial Assets (excluding available for sale financial assets)

- - - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale - - - -

Impairments and reversals - - - -

Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pensions - - - -

Movements in other reserves - - - -

Transfers between reserves - - - -

Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure

- - - -

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale 
financial assets

- - - -

Transfers by absorption to/(from) other bodies (62,080) - - (62,080)

Reserves eliminated on dissolution - - - -

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
Expenditure for the Financial Year

(1,289,809) - - (1,289,809)

Net funding 1,233,377 - - 1,233,377

Balance at 31 March 2019 (56,432) - - (56,432)

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers’ Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019

The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.
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2019-20 2018-19
Note £’000 £’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (1,316,209) (1,227,729)
Depreciation and amortisation - -
Impairments and reversals - -
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards - -
Movement due to transfer by absorption - 291
Other gains/(losses) on foreign exchange - -
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash - -
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash - -
Interest paid - -
Release of PFI deferred credit - -
Other gains & losses - -
Finance costs - -
Unwinding of discounts - -
(Increase)/decrease in inventories - -
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 (1,456) (1,920)
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets - -
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 724 (5,903)
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities - -
Provisions utilised 12 (414) (465)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 1,801 2,471
Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) from Operating Activities (1,315,554) (1,233,255)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received - -
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment - -
(Payments) for intangible assets - -
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health and Social Care - -
(Payments) for other financial assets - -
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT) - -
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment - -
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets - -
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health and Social Care - -
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets - -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT) - -
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards - -
Loans made in respect of LIFT - -
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT - -
Rental revenue - -
Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) from Investing Activities - -

Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) before Financing (1,315,554) (1,233,255)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net funding received 1,315,747 1,233,377
Grant in aid funding received - -
Other loans received - -
Other loans repaid - -
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial 
Position PFI and LIFT

- -

Capital grants and other capital receipts - -
Capital receipts surrendered - -
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards - -
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities 1,315,747 1,233,377

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 193 122

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 122 -
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign 
currencies

- -

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 315 122

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2020

The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.
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1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of 
clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by 
the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, 
the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 
issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The 
accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting 
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards 
to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate 
to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM 
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual 
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting 
policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the 
particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group 
for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical 
commissioning group are described below. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern 
basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns 
where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 
provision for that service in published documents.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it 
considers whether or not its services will continue to be 
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector 
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going 
concern for the final set of financial statements. If services 
will continue to be provided the financial statements are 
prepared on the going concern basis.

In 2020-21, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
all detailed financial planning was suspended and the 
requirement for CCGs to agree annual contracts with 
providers was removed. Instead, all CCGs are currently 
making regular ‘block’ payments to NHS providers in line 
with guidance. This mechanism is currently confirmed to the 
end of July 2020.

The Government has issued a mandate to NHS England for 
the continued provision of services in England in 2020-21 
and CCG allocations have been set for the remainder of 
2020-21. While these allocations may be subject to minor 
revision as a result of the COVID-19 financial framework, 
the guidance has been clarified to inform CCGs that they 
will be provided with sufficient funding for the year. DHSC 
guidance confirms that it is reasonable to assume funding 
will continue to flow on the same basis for 2021-22.

Based on this position, the CCG believes that it remains 
appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern 
basis.

Notes to the financial statements

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories 
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3  Movement of Assets within the Department of 
Health and Social Care Group

As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under 
common control, business reconfigurations within the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group are outside 
the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions 
transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department 
of Health and Social Care GAM requires the application 
of absorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires 
that entities account for their transactions in the period in 
which they took place, with no restatement of performance 
required when functions transfer within the public sector. 
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department 
of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line 
with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure 
entries.

1.4 Joint arrangements

Arrangements over which the clinical commissioning group 
has joint control with one or more other entities are classified 
as joint arrangements. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint 
arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.

A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint 
control have rights to the assets and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to the arrangement. Where the clinical 
commissioning group is a joint operator it recognises its 
share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own 
accounts.

The clinical commissioning group’s joint operation is the 
pooled budget with Leeds City Council - see 1.4.1.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the 
net assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are recognised 
as an investment and accounted for using the equity method.

The clinical commissioning group has not entered into any 
joint ventures.

1.4.1 Pooled Budgets

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a 
pooled budget arrangement with Leeds City Council in 
accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under 
the arrangements, funds are pooled for Better Care Fund 
activities and the notes to the accounts provide details of the 
income and expenditure.
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The pool is hosted by either the clinical commissioning 
group or Leeds City Council. The clinical commissioning 
group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income 
and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled 
budgets, identified in accordance with the pooled budget 
agreements.

1.5 Operating Segments

Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating 
Segments note and are reported in line with management 
information used within the clinical commissioning group.

1.6 Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical 
expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. 
These are as follows;

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical 
commissioning group will not disclose information 
regarding performance obligations which are part of a 
contract that has an original expected duration of one 
year or less,

• The clinical commissioning group will similarly not disclose 
information where revenue is recognised in line with 
the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the 
Standard where the right to consideration corresponds 
directly with the value of the performance completed to 
date, and

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical 
expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires 
the clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate 
effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial 
application.

The main source of funding for the clinical commissioning 
group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and 
credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the 
period in which it is received.

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when 
(or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring 
promised services to the customer, and is measured at 
the amount of the transaction price allocated to that 
performance obligation.

Where income is received for a specific performance 
obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that 
income is deferred.

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government 
principles.

The value of the benefit received when the clinical 
commissioning group accesses funds from the 
Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised 
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for 
Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly 
to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a 
corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, 
both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.7 Employee Benefits

1.7.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, 
including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, 
are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet 
taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the 
end of the period is recognised in the financial statements 
to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward 
leave into the following period.

1.7.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of 
the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General 
Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of 
the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes 
are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted 
for as though they were defined contribution schemes; the 
cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in 
a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to 
the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health 
the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional 
costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical 
commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, 
regardless of the method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every 
four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.8 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the 
extent that, the goods or services have been received. They 
are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.9 Grants Payable

Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related 
to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific 
period, the clinical commissioning group recognises the 
expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All 
other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases 
are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair 
value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation 
to the lessor. 
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Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the 
clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a 
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and 
building components are separated and individually assessed 
as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial 
institution repayable without penalty on notice of not 
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and that form an integral part of the clinical 
commissioning group’s cash management.

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning 
group has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical 
commissioning group will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a 
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value 
of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as 
follows:

Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM 
Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative 0.50% (2018-19: 
positive 0.29%) in real terms. All general provisions are 
subject to four separate discount rates according to the 
expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of 
Financial Position date:

• A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for 
inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 
5 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19: 1.14%) 
for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up 
to and including 10 years from the Statement of Financial 
Position date.

• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) 
for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years 
and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of 
Financial Position date.

• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) 
for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 
years from the Statement of Financial Position date.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical 
commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan 
for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation 
in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring 
by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main 
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a 
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures 
arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts 
that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and 
not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under 
which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual 
contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all 
clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to 
expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 
remains with clinical commissioning group.

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The clinical commissioning group participates in the 
Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third 
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under 
which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual 
contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual 
membership contributions, and any excesses payable 
in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 
expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the clinical 
commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not 
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will 
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. 

A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a 
payment is remote.
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A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the clinical 
commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where 
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their 
present value.

1.16 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical 
commissioning group becomes party to the financial 
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, 
when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial 
assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have 
expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

• Financial assets at amortised cost;

• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income and;

• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and 
business model characteristics of the financial assets, as 
set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

1.16.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held 
within a business model whose objective is achieved by 
collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows 
are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes 
most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. 
After initial recognition these financial assets are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less 
any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset.

1.16.2  Financial Assets at Fair Value through  
Other Comprehensive Income

Financial assets held at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are those held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and 
where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest.

1.16.3  Financial Assets at Fair Value through  
Profit and Loss

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and 
loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised 
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. 

This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1.16.4 Impairment

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at 
fair value through other comprehensive income (except 
equity instruments designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract 
assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss 
allowance representing the expected credit losses on the 
financial asset.

The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified 
approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and 
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease 
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the 
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition 
(stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month 
expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may 
not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other 
government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank 
of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets 
where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The 
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise 
loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against 
these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of 
last resort against the debts of its arm’s lengths bodies and 
NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not 
recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments 
against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since 
initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the 
reporting date are measured as the difference between 
the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is 
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.17 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of 
financial position when the clinical commissioning group 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods 
or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, 
the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.17.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently 
measured at the higher of:

• The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the 
guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
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• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as 
determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

1.17.2  Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit 
and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and 
characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts 
with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot 
be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, 
with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical 
commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss 
incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.17.3 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from Department of Health and 
Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is 
recognised using the effective interest method.

1.18 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group 
are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output 
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not 
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 
expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase 
cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input 
VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19 Foreign Currencies

The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and 
presentational currency is pounds sterling and amounts are 
presented in thousands of pounds unless expressly stated 
otherwise. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency 
are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. 
Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are 
recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/
deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.20 Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament 
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are 
items that ideally should not arise. 

They are therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. They are 
divided into different categories, which govern the way that 
individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant 
functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, 
including losses which would have been made good through 
insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not 
been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21  Critical Accounting Judgements and  
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s 
accounting policies, management is required to make various 
judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are regularly 
reviewed.

1.21.1  Critical Accounting Judgements in  
Applying Accounting Policies

Where critical judgements are made, apart from those 
involving estimations that management has made in the 
process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements, details 
are provided in the relevant notes to the accounts.

1.21.2 Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Where key estimations have been made by management in 
the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s 
accounting policies, that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements, details 
are provided in the relevant notes to the accounts.

1.22 Gifts

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no 
preconditions and without the expectation of any return. 
Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free 
and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset 
for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at 
below market value.

1.23  Accounting standards that have been issued but 
have not yet been adopted

The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS 
Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. 
These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM 
adoption. IFRS 16 has been issued but will not be effective 
in the public sector until 1 April 2021. The government 
implementation date for IFRS 17 is still subject to HM 
Treasury consideration.

• IFRS 16 Leases - The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as 
adapted and interpreted by the FReM.

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts - Application required for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, 
but not yet adopted by the FReM; early adoption is not 
therefore permitted.

The application of the Standards would not have a material 
impact on the accounts if they were in effect at the reporting 
date.
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2019-20 2018-19

£’000 £’000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)

Education, training and research 14 -

Non-patient care services to other bodies 396 269

Patient transport services - -

Prescription fees and charges - -

Dental fees and charges - -

Income generation - -

Other contract income 597 516

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 15 -

Total income from sale of goods and services 1,022 785

Other operating income

Rental revenue from finance leases - -

Rental revenue from operating leases - -

Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS - -

Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS - -

Receipt of donations (capital/cash) - -

Receipt of government grants for capital acquisitions - -

Continuing health care risk pool contributions - -

Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue 18 2

Other non contract revenue 5,521 1,804

Total other operating income 5,539 1,806

Total operating income 6,561 2,591

2 Operating Income
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3 Income from Sale of Goods and Services (contracts)
3.1 Disaggregation of Income

2019-20

Education, 
training  

and research

Non-patient  
care services to 

other bodies
Other Contract 

income

Recoveries in 
respect of  

employee benefits Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Source of Revenue

NHS - 396 - 15 411

Non NHS 14 - 597 - 611

Total 14 396 597 15 1,022

2019-20

Education, 
training  

and research

Non-patient care 
services to  

other bodies
Other Contract 

income

Non-patient care 
services to  

other bodies

Other 
Contract 

income

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Timing of Revenue

Point in time 14 396 597 15 1,022

Over time - - - - -

Total 14 396 597 15 1,022

2018-19

Education, 
training  

and research

Non-patient care 
services to 

other bodies
Other Contract 

income

Recoveries in 
respect of  

employee benefits Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Source of Revenue

NHS - 269 - - 269

Non NHS - - 516 - 516

Total - 269 516 - 785

2018-19

Education, 
training  

and research

Non-patient care 
services to  

other bodies
Other Contract 

income

Non-patient care 
services to  

other bodies

Other 
Contract 

income

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Timing of Revenue

Point in time - 269 516 - 785

Over time - - - - -

Total - 269 516 - 785
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2019-20
Revenue 

expected from 
NHSE Bodies

Revenue expected 
from Other DHSC 

Group Bodies

Revenue expected 
from Non-DHSC 

Group Bodies Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Not later than 1 year - - 184 184

Later than 1 year, not later than 5 years - - 100 100

Later than 5 Years - - - -

Total - - 284 284

2018-19
Revenue 

expected from 
NHSE Bodies

Revenue expected 
from Other DHSC 

Group Bodies

Revenue expected 
from Non-DHSC 

Group Bodies Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Not later than 1 year - - 405 405

Later than 1 year, not later than 5 years - - 81 81

Later than 5 Years - - - -

Total - - 486 486

3.2 Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations

Contract revenue expected to be recognised in the future periods related to contract performance obligations not yet 
completed at the reporting date.
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2019-20

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Salaries and wages 12,876 422 13,298

Social security costs 1,358 - 1,358

Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 2,317 - 2,317

Other pension costs 7 - 7

Apprenticeship levy 55 - 55

Other post-employment benefits - - -

Other employment benefits - - -

Termination benefits 110 - 110

Gross employee benefits expenditure 16,723 422 17,145

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (15) - (15)

Net employee benefits including capitalised costs 16,708 422 17,130

Less employee costs capitalised - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 16,708 422 17,130

2019-20 2018-19

Permanent 
Employees Other Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Salaries and wages (15) - (15) -
Social security costs - - - -
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme - - - -
Other pension costs - - - -
Other post-employment benefits - - - -
Other employment benefits - - - -
Termination benefits - - - -
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits (15) - (15) -

2018-19

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Salaries and wages 11,344 618 11,962

Social security costs 1,214 - 1,214

Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,457 - 1,457

Other pension costs 3 - 3

Apprenticeship levy 49 - 49

Other post-employment benefits - - -

Other employment benefits - - -

Termination benefits 189 - 189

Gross employee benefits expenditure 14,256 618 14,874

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits - - -

Net employee benefits including capitalised costs 14,256 618 14,874

Less employee costs capitalised - - -

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 14,256 618 14,874

4 Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers
4.1 Employee benefits

4.1.1 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2019-20 2018-19

Permanently 
employed Other Total

Permanently 
employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 328 8 336 288 9 297

Of the above:

Number of whole time equivalent 
people engaged on capital projects

- - - - - -

2019-20

Compulsory redundancies Other agreed departures Total

Number £ Number £ Number £

Less than £10,000 1 4,036 - - 1 4,036

£10,001 to £25,000 1 14,591 - - 1 14,591

£25,001 to £50,000 2 79,285 - - 2 79,285

£50,001 to £100,000 - - - - - -

£100,001 to £150,000 - - - - - -

£150,001 to £200,000 - - - - - -

Over £200,001 - - - - - -

Total 4 97,912 - - 4 97,912

2018-19

Compulsory redundancies Other agreed departures Total

Number £ Number £ Number £

Less than £10,000 1 5,951 - - 1 5,951

£10,001 to £25,000 1 22,822 - - 1 22,822

£25,001 to £50,000 - - - - - -

£50,001 to £100,000 - - - - - -

£100,001 to £150,000 - - - - - -

£150,001 to £200,000 1 160,000 - - 1 160,000

Over £200,001 - - - - - -

Total 3 188,773 - - 3 188,773

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

2019-20 2018-19

Departures where special 
payments have been made

Departures where special 
payments have been made

Number £ Number £

Less than £10,000 - - - -

£10,001 to £25,000 - - - -

£25,001 to £50,000 - - - -

£50,001 to £100,000 - - - -

£100,001 to £150,000 - - - -

£150,001 to £200,000 - - - -

Over £200,001 - - - -

Total - - - -

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. Severance costs have been paid in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions of Employment Handbook and/
or associated employer obligations. Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the 
latest in full, in the year of departure. 

The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.   
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4.4 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions 
of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits 
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the 
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS 
employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social 
Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be 
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify 
their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a 
defined contribution scheme, the cost to the NHS body 
of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting 
period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised 
in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by 
a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with 
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline 
of these follows:

4.4.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by 
the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This 
utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting 
period in conjunction with updated membership and 
financial data for the current reporting period, and is 
accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial 
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as 
at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as 31 March 
2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global 
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial 
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant 
FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by 
HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is 
contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms 
part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and 
are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from 
The Stationery Office.

4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability 
in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking 
into account recent demographic experience), and to 
recommend contribution rates payable by employees and 
employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS 
Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. 
The results of this valuation set the employer contribution 
rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme 
Regulations were amended accordingly. 

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test 
the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap 
set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment 
from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government 
announced a pause to that part of the valuation process 
pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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2019-20 2018-19
£’000 £’000

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,617 1,317
Services from foundation trusts 158,444 146,635
Services from other NHS trusts 678,450 627,304
Provider Sustainability Fund - -
Services from other WGA bodies - -
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 215,429 194,511
Purchase of social care - -
General dental services and personal dental services - -
Prescribing costs 122,785 122,465
Pharmaceutical services - -
General ophthalmic services 67 74
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 119,175 110,878
Supplies and services – clinical 122 119
Supplies and services – general 1,333 3,612
Consultancy services 701 63
Establishment 3,299 2,538
Transport 37 31
Premises 503 1,448
Audit fees 70 69
Other non statutory audit expenditure
• Internal audit services - -
• Other services 20 1
Other professional fees 977 852
Legal fees 160 134
Education, training and conferences 161 296
Funding to group bodies - -
CHC Risk Pool contributions - -
Non cash apprenticeship training grants 18 2
 Total purchase of goods and services 1,303,368 1,212,349

Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation - -
Amortisation - -
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment - -
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets - -
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
• Assets carried at amortised cost - -
• Assets carried at cost - -
• Available for sale financial assets - -
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale - -
Impairments and reversals of investment properties - -
Total depreciation and impairment charges - -

Provision expense
Change in discount rate - -
Provisions 1,801 2,471
Total provision expense 1,801 2,471

Other operating expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members 364 364
Grants to other bodies - -
Clinical negligence - -
Research and development (excluding staff costs) 11 9
Expected credit loss on receivables (5) 7
Expected credit loss on other financial assets (stage 1 and 2 only) - -
Inventories written down - -
Inventories consumed - -
Other expenditure 86 246
Total other operating expenditure 456 626

Total operating expenditure 1,305,625 1,215,446

5 Operating Expenses

Prescribing expenditure detailed above is reflective of a key estimated accrual for the final two months of the year and 
the impact of prior year accrual reversals. Prescribing accruals are based upon forecasted figures provided by the Business 
Services Authority and estimates undertaken by management based on information available at the end of the financial 
year, together with past experience.      
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Measure of compliance 2019-20 2018-19

Number £’000 Number £’000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year  18,157  352,895  17,635  320,899 

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target  17,942  351,827  17,251  317,886 

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.8% 99.7% 97.8% 99.1%

NHS Payables

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year  4,750  868,152  5,177  780,456 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target  4,713  866,022  5,115  780,053 

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 99.2% 99.8% 98.8% 99.9%

6 Better Payment Practice Code

7 Net Gain / (Loss) on Transfers by Absorption

2019-20 2018-19

£’000 £’000

Transfer of property, plant and equipment - -

Transfer of intangibles - -

Transfer of cash and cash equivalents - 291

Transfer of receivables - 4,506

Transfer of payables - (64,082)

Transfer of provisions - (2,795)

Net loss on transfers by absorption - (62,080)

Transfers as part of a reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require 
retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been 
restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, 
with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities 
transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed 
separately from operating costs.           

On 1 April 2018 NHS Leeds North, West, and South & East CCGs ceased to exist and NHS Leeds CCG was established.

The figures shown below for 2018-19 are disclosed after adjusting for balances between the three legacy CCGs.



116

8 Operating Leases

8.1 As lessee

The CCG occupies property leased and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd (NHS PS). The current lease was signed in 
March 2018.

8.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense

8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

2019-20 2018-19
Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments - 156 11 167 - 545 3 548

Contingent rents - - - - - - - -

Sub-lease payments - - - - - - - -

Total - 156 11 167 - 545 3 548

2018-19 2018-19

Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Payable:

No later than one year - 253 6 259 - 253 10 263

Between one and five years - 504 4 508 - 756 2 758

After five years - - - - - - - -

Total - 757 10 767 - 1,009 12 1,021

NHS Leeds CCG has re-assessed arrangements with NHS PS Ltd and Community Health Partnerships Ltd for charges that 
relate to void / vacant space in clinical properties, as no longer falling within the definition of operating leases.
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2019-20 2018-19

Current Current

£’000 £’000

NHS receivables: revenue 1,447 2,188

NHS receivables: capital - -

NHS prepayments 2,405 2,444

NHS accrued income 1,549 640

NHS contract receivables not yet invoiced/non-invoice 71 113

NHS non contract trade receivables (i.e. pass through funding) 40 -

NHS contract assets - -

Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: revenue 370 97

Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: capital - -

Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments 670 496

Non-NHS and other WGA accrued income 1,159 266

Non-NHS and other WGA contract receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice 63 49

Non-NHS and other WGA non contract trade receivables (i.e. pass through funding) - -

Non-NHS contract assets - -

Expected credit loss allowance - receivables - (6)

VAT 96 115

Private finance initiative and other public private partnership arrangement prepayments  
and accrued income

- -

Interest receivables - -

Finance lease receivables - -

Operating lease receivables - -

Other receivables and accruals 12 24

Total trade & other receivables 7,882 6,426

9 Trade and Other Receivables

As at 31 March 2020 there were no non-current trade and other receivables (none as at 31 March 2019).

There are no prepaid pensions contributions (none as at 31 March 2019).

2019-20 2018-19

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC  
Group Bodies

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC  
Group Bodies

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

By up to three months 203 153 1,653 28

By three to six months 33 - 6 -

By more than six months 13 - - -

Total 249 153 1,659 28

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
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10 Cash and Cash Equivalents

11 Trade and Other Payables

2019-20 2018-19

£’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 2019 122 291

Net change in year 192 (169)

Balance at 31 March 2020 315 122

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 315 122

Cash with commercial banks - -

Cash in hand - -

Current investments - -

Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 315 122

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service - -

Bank overdraft: commercial banks - -

Total bank overdrafts - -

Balance at 31 March 2020 315 122

2019-20 2018-19

Current Current

£’000 £’000

Interest payable - -

NHS payables: revenue 10,060 2,252

NHS payables: capital - -

NHS accruals 2,890 3,631

NHS deferred income - -

NHS contract liabilities - -

Non-NHS and other WGA payables: revenue 1,461 4,803

Non-NHS and other WGA payables: capital - -

Non-NHS and other WGA accruals 42,922 45,892

Non-NHS and other WGA deferred income 59 142

Non-NHS contract liabilities - -

Social security costs 228 208

VAT - -

Tax 180 185

Payments received on account 3 -

Other payables and accruals 1,100 1,066

Total trade & other payables 58,903 58,179

As at 31 March 2020 there were no non-current trade and other payables (none as at 31 March 2019).

Other payables include £1,094k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020 (£1,053k at 31 March 2019).
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2019-20 2018-19

Current Non-current Current Non-current

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Legal claims 150 - - -

Continuing care 388 666 481 851

Other - 4,984 2,934 535

Total 538 5,650 3,415 1,386

Total current and non-current 6,188 4,801

12 Provisions

Legal Claims
Continuing 

Care Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 2019 - 1,332 3,469 4,801

Arising during the year 150 681 1,562 2,393

Utilised during the year - (367) (47) (414)

Reversed unused - (592) - (592)

Balance at 31 March 2020 150 1,054 4,984 6,188

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 150 388 - 538

Between one and five years - 666 4,984 5,650

After five years - - - -

Balance at 31 March 2020 150 1,054 4,984 6,188

12.1 Continuing care

The provision for Continuing Care relates to potential cost for continuing care reviews. There is uncertainty regarding the 
outcomes and timings of individual case reviews.

12.2 Other

Other provisions continuing from 2018-19 include:

• HMRC ongoing review of supplies made under the Lead Provider Framework (£1.7m);

• VAT consideration with respect to transactions between Leeds CCG, the former Leeds CCGs and the Leeds GP 
Federations / Confederation (£1.2m); and

• Future dilapidation costs for the leased building the CCG occupies (£0.5m).

Provisions arising in 2019-20 relate to ongoing in year transactions between the Leeds CCG and the Leeds GP 
Federations / Confederations and further provision in respect of taxation considerations of new models of contracting  
in primary care (£1.5m). 

The timing of expected cash-flows in relation to these provisions have been reclassified as non-current given the 
expected time frames for resolution.
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13 Other Financial Commitments
The CCG has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, private finance initiative contracts or other service 
concession arrangements) which expire as follows:

2019-20 2018-19

£'000 £'000

In not more than one year 3,320 6,130

In more than one year but not more than five years - -

In more than five years - -

Total 3,320 6,130

14 Financial Instruments
14.1 Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of 
the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in 
undertaking its activities.

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed 
through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the 
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, 
financial instruments play a much more limited role in 
creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed 
companies, to which the financial reporting standards 
mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change the 
risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking 
its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the 
finance department, within parameters defined formally 
within the clinical commissioning group standing financial 
instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. 

Treasury activity is subject to review by the clinical 
commissioning group and internal auditors.

14.1.1 Currency risk

The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic 
organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets 
and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The 
clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. 
The clinical commissioning group therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

14.1.2 Interest rate risk

The clinical commissioning group is able to borrow from 
government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability 
as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 
25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and 
interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed 
for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group 
therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

14.1.3 Credit risk

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group’s 
revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical 
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The 
maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are 
in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and 
other receivables note.

14.1.4 Liquidity risk

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate 
within revenue and capital resource limits, which are 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The 
clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover 
expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning 
group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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2019-20

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost

Equity Instruments 
designated at 

FVOCI Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Equity investment in group bodies - - -
Equity investment in external bodies - - -
Loans receivable with group bodies - - -
Loans receivable with external bodies - - -
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 2,290 - 2,290
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group 
bodies

2,140 - 2,140

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 282 - 282
Other financial assets - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 315 - 315

Total at 31 March 2020 5,027 - 5,027

14.2 Financial assets

14.3 Financial liabilities 2019-20
Financial Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Loans with group bodies - - -
Loans with external bodies - - -
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 306 - 306
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 41,322 - 41,322
Trade and other payables with external bodies 16,805 - 16,805
Other financial liabilities - - -
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations - - -

Total at 31 March 2020 58,433 - 58,433
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15 Operating Segments
The CCG considers that it has only one operating segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

16 Joint Arrangements
16.1 Interests in joint operations      

The joint operations of the CCG relate solely to Pooled Budget BCF arrangements.

The clinical commissioning group has entered into pooled budget arrangements with Leeds City Council. The Pools are hosted 
by either the CCG or Leeds City Council. Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for 
the Better Care Fund.        

The contributions made by NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group in the financial year are as follows: 

Pooled Budget Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements 2019-20 2018-19

£’000 £’000

Income  24,716  22,389 

Expenditure (24,716) (22,389)

Pooled Budget Fund 2 Leeds City Council Hosted s75 Agreements 2019-20 2018-19

£’000 £’000

Income  23,023  22,312 

Expenditure  (23,023)  (22,312)

Contributions

Leeds  
CCG

Leeds City 
Council Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements  24,716  -    24,716 

Fund 2 Council Hosted s75 Agreements  23,023  9,765  32,788 

Total  47,739  9,765  57,504 

Expenditure

Leeds  
CCG

Leeds City 
Council Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements  24,716  -    24,716 

Fund 2 Council Hosted s75 Agreements  23,023  9,765  32,788 

Total  47,739  9,765  57,504 

Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) £27.4m (2018-19: £22m) and Winter Pressures £3.3m (2018-19: NIL) were whole of Leeds 
direct grants paid directly to the local authority during 2019-20.

These grants were not included in the BCF Section 75 agreement between the local authority and the CCG during 2019-20 
and therefore are not included in the above figures.

A further £7.5m (2018-19: £7.5m), relating to non-elective admissions, also forms part of the BCF but is not included in the 
Section 75 agreement and is therefore also excluded from the above figures.

As part of the development of the Better Care Fund (BCF) in Leeds, a Partnership Agreement with Leeds City Council and 
Leeds CCG was put in place that describes the commissioning arrangements for a range of health and social care services.

The two funds are hosted by either Leeds City Council or Leeds CCG. The BCF Partnership Agreement is based on the national 
template developed by NHS England and Bevan Brittan.

Routine monitoring of the delivery of the BCF is undertaken by the Leeds Plan Delivery Group (LPDG). This group reports into 
Integrated Commissioning Executive (ICE) which is the BCF Partnership Board, with quarterly reporting to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

A summary for 2019-20 is tabled below:      
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17 Related Party Transactions

During the year the following key individuals of the CCG were either related to, or were themselves members of medical 

practices or other organisations with which the CCG had material transactions concerning the provision of medical services 

and the purchase of healthcare. The value of transactions with these organisations are listed below:

Payments to 
Related Party

Receipts 
from Related 

Party

Amounts 
owed to 

Related Party

Amounts  
due from  

Related Party

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Entities related to NHS Leeds CCG governing body members:

Lofthouse Surgery - Dr Ben Browning  1,460  -  57  - 
Burton Croft Surgery - Dr Gordon Sinclair  1,530  -  49  - 
Leeds Jewish Welfare Board - Helen Lewis  171  -  5  - 
Leeds City Council - Dr Ian Cameron & Victoria Eaton  61,607  1,267  1,970  192 
Oakwood Lane Medical Practice - Dr Jason Broch  1,906  -  64  - 
Leeds Student Medical Practice - Dr Julianne Lyons  4,202  -  62  - 
Kirkstall Lane Medical centre - Dr Keith Miller  728  -  22  - 

The DHSC is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions 
with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent. These entities are listed below:

• Airedale NHS Foundation Trust
• Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust
• Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
• Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
• Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
• Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust
• NHS England
• NHS Wakefield CCG
• Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust
• York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
• Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust
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18 Events After the End of the Reporting Period
There are no adjusting events after the reporting period which will have a material effect on the financial statements of NHS 
Leeds CCG.

In March 2020 NHS England and NHS Improvement announced the COVID-19 temporary financial framework which revised 
arrangements for NHS contracting and payment to apply for part of the 2020-21 year. Mechanisms for contracting and 
payment for the remainder of the year are still to be finalised.

The Government has issued a mandate to NHS England for the continued provision of services in England in 2020-21 and 
Clinical Commissioning Group allocations have been set for the remainder of 2020-21. While these allocations may be 
subject to minor revision as a result of the COVID-19 financial framework, the guidance has been clarified to inform Clinical 
Commissioning Groups that they will be provided with sufficient funding for the year. See Note 1.1 for further details.

 2019-20  2018-19

Total Number  
of Cases

Total Value  
of Cases

Total Number  
of Cases

Total Value  
of Cases

Number £’000 Number £’000

Administrative write-offs - - 1 2

Fruitless payments - - - -

Store losses - - - -

Book keeping losses - - - -

Constructive loss - - - -

Cash losses - - - -

Claims abandoned - - - -

Total - - 1 2

19 Losses and Special Payments

The total number of losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

19.1 Losses

19.2 Special payments

The CCG made no special payments in the year.

20 Financial Performance Targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG’s performance against those duties was as follows:

 2019-20  2018-19

Target Performance Target Performance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Expenditure not to exceed income 1,322,876 1,322,770 1,235,405 1,230,320

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified 
in Directions

- - - -

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified 
in Directions

1,316,315 1,316,209 1,232,814 1,227,729

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions

- - - -

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions

- - - -

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions

18,180 13,376 17,562 14,713
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